
 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 
Agenda 

 
Wednesday, 1 November 2017 
7.00 pm,  
Civic Suite 
Catford 
SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact:  John Bardens (02083149976) 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2017 

 
3 - 8 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

9 - 12 

3.   Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

4.   Lewisham Future Programme 

To follow 

 

5.   CQC inspection of Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 
 

13 - 32 

6.   Lewisham hospital update (systems resilience) 

To follow 

 

7.   NHS Walk-in Centre and improved provision and access to primary 
care - public consultation update 

To follow 

 

8.   Consultation on daycare meals 
 

33 - 56 

9.   Adult social care charging framework 
 

57 - 142 

10.   Changes to the Linkline Community Alarm Service 
 

143 - 172 

11.   Public health annual report 
 

173 - 176 

12.   Select Committee work programme 
 

177 - 194 

13.   Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 
Members 

 
 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Wednesday, 1 November 2017.   
 
Barry Quirk, Chief Executive 
Tuesday, 24 October 2017 
 
  

Councillor John Muldoon (Chair)  

Councillor Susan Wise (Vice-Chair)  

Councillor Paul Bell  

Councillor Peter Bernards  

Councillor Colin Elliott  

Councillor Sue Hordijenko  

Councillor Stella Jeffrey  

Councillor Olurotimi Ogunbadewa  

Councillor Jacq Paschoud  

Councillor Joan Reid  

Councillor Alan Hall (ex-Officio)  

Councillor Gareth Siddorn (ex-Officio)  

  

   



MINUTES OF THE HEALTHIER COMMUNITIES 

SELECT COMMITTEE 

Tuesday 12 September 2017, 7.30pm 

Present: Councillors John Muldoon (Chair), Susan Wise (Vice Chair), Paul Bell, Peter 

Bernards, Colin Elliot, Sue Hordijenko, Stella Jeffrey, Olurotimi Ogunbadewa, and 

Jacq Paschoud.  

Apologies: Councillors Peter Bernards and Joan Reid. 

Also Present: Fiona Kirkman (Prevention and Early Intervention Programme 

Manager), Danny Ruta (Director of Public Health), Sarah Wainer (Lewisham CCG) 

and Jacky Bourke-White (Chief Executive, Age UK Lewisham and Southwark), Nigel 

Bowness (Healthwatch), Folake Segun (Director, Healthwatch Lewisham), and John 

Bardens (Scrutiny Manager). 

1. Minutes of the meeting held on 20 July 2017 

Resolved: the minutes of the last meeting were agreed as a true record. 

2. Declarations of interest 

The following non-prejudicial interests were declared: 

 Councillor John Muldoon is a governor of the South London and Maudsley NHS 

Foundation Trust. 

 Councillor Susan Wise is a governor of the King's College Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust. 

3. Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 

There were no M&C responses. 

4. Social prescribing in depth-review – evidence session 

Fiona Kirkman (Prevention and Early Intervention Programme Manager) and Jacky 

Bourke-White (Chief Executive, Age UK Lewisham and Southwark) spoke to the 

report. The following key points were noted: 

4.1 Officers outlined the key elements of the definition of social prescribing 

developed by the Social Prescribing Network: a healthcare professional making 

a referral to a link worker; a link worker then developing a support plan, which 

is a personal prescription for the individual; which will then refer people into a 

range of voluntary and community sector activities. 

4.2 In December 2016, council officers established a project to review social 

prescribing in Lewisham. The group includes representatives from Lewisham 

CCG, the council’s Public Health team, community connections, and libraries.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



4.3 The social prescribing review group has already found that there are various 

models of social prescribing in operation in the borough. Although the review is 

intending to focus on those activities that fit in with the Social Prescribing 

Network definition, in particular where there is a link worker in place.  

4.4 The review is particularly focussing on the mechanism by which social 

prescribing referrals are made, and how this can operate as effectively as 

possible.  

4.5 It is important to think about how best to support those who may be able to 

navigate the system themselves, by making going online easier, for example, 

as well as those who may need support over the phone or face-to-face. 

4.6 The review group is taking into account local and national evidence. While there 

is a wealth of data on various social prescribing activities, there is much less on 

the different referral mechanisms in use. 

4.7 The review will also look into whether there is the necessary infrastructure and 

capacity in the local voluntary and community sector.  

4.8 Social prescribing is part of the wider shift towards prevention, early action and 

enabling people to look after themselves – by finding information or making 

connections in the local community, for example.  

4.9 It is not necessarily a medical model. It is about how you support an individual’s 

wider health and wellbeing. Not just their health and care needs, but other 

issues such as social isolation as well. 

4.10 It is important to consider how social prescribing fits in with the broader model 

of community-based care in the borough. Social prescribing is a key part of the 

four Neighbourhood Care Networks being developed in the borough.  

4.11 The SAIL (Safe and Independent Living) Lewisham checklist is split into three 

main sections: health and wellbeing, living conditions, and safety, security and 

income. SAIL Lewisham has formed partnerships with various organisations in 

the borough to provide referrals within each of these areas. These range from 

the fire brigade and the police to the community falls teams and community 

dieticians. 

4.12 When SAIL receives a checklist, a coordinator contacts the person to go 

through and confirm the different referrals they have received. Having just one 

person helping people to coordinate the various referrals they have received is 

an important part of the scheme. 

4.13 SAIL Lewisham is an example of targeted intervention. The partners and 

referrals on the SAIL checklist all provide services that benefit people over 60.  

Page 4



Many of the referrals are about early intervention and prevention and taking a 

holistic approach. Community dieticians, for example, as older people can often 

have a poor diet and malnourishment. 

4.14 Under the living conditions section of the checklist, SAIL have established a 

partnership with Advice Lewisham to provide help and advice on housing-

related issues such as maintenance and repairs. They help homeowners and 

private renters as well as those in social housing, and can do home visits if 

needed. 

4.15 In Lewisham, a high proportion of SAIL referrals have come from homeowners. 

In Southwark, a much higher proportion referrals come from social housing 

tenants. 

4.16 There are some groups and activities which, although based in Southwark, 

Lewisham residents are able to use. Some providers work across borders and 

boroughs. 

4.17 SAIL has helped with a number of cases involving hoarding. 

4.18 SAIL is not an emergency service. Coordinators can flag up issues they come 

across when speaking to people, but at the moment there is a 10-day target for 

getting in first contact with people. 

4.19 SAIL Lewisham noted that there is unmet need in the community for various 

types of support, with many people having to wait longer for their referrals than 

SAIL would like. SAIL usually aim to refer people on within six weeks. 

4.20 SAIL Lewisham have identified a gap in activities and referrals for people under 

60 as it continues to receive referrals from people in their 40s and 50s. 

4.21 GPs in particular have difficulty finding support for those over 50 but under 60 

– people who are often vulnerable. 

4.22 People do not necessarily need to be referred through SAIL to access all the 

support services in the borough. People are free to make connections and find 

the support they need. SAIL is there to help those who are less likely to be able 

to do this themselves. 

4.23 The over 60s age group was chosen to pilot SAIL in Lewisham because older 

people are more likely to have more than one long-term condition. They are 

also less likely to have internet access or be familiar with what is available, and 

more likely to become socially isolated and need help finding support. 

Page 5



4.24 Officers pointed out that there are a number of other interventions and activities 

in the borough that are available to people under 60, such as Nature’s Gym and 

Weight Watchers.   

4.25 To help maintain its knowledge of the various groups and providers in the 

borough, SAIL works closely with community connections and the community-

development workers in each of the four neighbourhoods. 

4.26 There is also stakeholder group, which a number of providers are part of. This 

group is usually refreshed when new questions are included on the checklist or 

new providers introduced. 

4.27 Officers also noted that local voluntary and community sector groups are also 

cross-referring between themselves if they can see that a service or activity 

would help someone. 

4.28 Social prescribing features in NHS England’s General Practice Forward View. 

It’s been widely reported that around 20% of GP consultations are for non-

clinical reasons, and that people need support in other ways. 

The Committee made a number of comments. The following points were noted: 

4.29 The committee queried how SAIL establishes and maintains relationships with 

the various providers and agencies in the borough, and how it keeps its list of 

partners up to date. 

4.30 The committee noted that the Rotherham social prescribing scheme (discussed 

in the agenda pack) was targeted at people with long-term conditions, and that 

this tended to include people in their 40s and 50s.  

4.31 The committee asked SAIL how far away they were from extending their 

services to these people in their 40s and 50s with long-term conditions. 

4.32 The committee noted that in other parts of the country some people have had 

new boilers installed as part of social prescribing, given the strong correlation 

between poverty, fuel poverty and poor health.   

Resolved: the Committee noted the report. 

5. Healthwatch annual report 

Folake Segun (Director, Healthwatch Lewisham) introduced the report. The following 

key points were noted: 

5.1 Last year, Healthwatch Lewisham spoke to 3,200 residents face to face, 

compiled 1,400 patient stories, and ran a series of “engagement hubs” in 

Page 6



different locations to encourage people to come and share their stories and 

experiences. 

5.2 The dates and locations of the engagement hubs were advertised in advance 

and more than 600 residents attended, gathering powerful stories about GP, 

pharmacy and dentist experiences. 

5.3 Hubs were previously held mostly in clinical locations. They are now held in a 

wider range of places, such as job centres, for example. Hubs are not 

necessarily about collecting information about that venue. 

5.4 Engagement with children and young people also continues – speaking with 

more than 400 people last year. This included having conversations about 

sexual health and the support available if a young person is in a crisis. 

5.5 Healthwatch also published their See Hear Now report, which looked at access 

to health and wellbeing services for those with sensory impairments and 

learning disabilities. 

5.6 The report identified a number of themes which run across all communities, 

such as GP access. But it also identified a need for support to attend 

appointments and a strong feeling that more disabling awareness training is 

needed for those on the front line of these services, specifically on engaging 

with people with these particular disabilities. 

5.7 Last year was the first year that Healthwatch provided NHS complaints 

advocacy services, working with more than 100 people to make complaints. 

5.8 Access to services remained a priority for Healthwatch last year. This included 

how people engage with pharmacies. Healthwatch visited 10 pharmacies 

across the borough and were invited to present their findings at a pharmacy 

training day to help new pharmacists engage better with people who use their 

services. Their findings were cited by NHS England 

5.9 Healthwatch continues to build a social media presence with more than 1,000 

follows and 8,000 impressions. 

5.10 Healthwatch worked with this committee on its in-depth review of health and 

social care integration. 

5.11 Healthwatch continues to have seats on 18 boards in the borough. 

5.12 The work of Healthwatch is supported by around 21 Lewisham volunteers, who 

gave 129 days of their time last year. 

5.13 Healthwatch recently published a report on their investigation of patient 

experience of hospital discharge at Lewisham Hospital. 

Page 7



5.14 The investigation found that there was generally good dialogue between staff 

and patients and that the team in the discharge lounge were particularly warm 

and welcoming. 

5.15 The investigation also found, however, that there were some internal 

communications problems between nurses, consultants and doctors.  

5.16 The investigation found that there were some gaps in communication with 

families and carers when it came to discharge planning – checking that people 

had essentials at home for when they arrived, for example. 

5.17 The report was received by the Trust and an action plan has been put together 

as a result. The discharge team have also put training in place on how to involve 

families in the discharge process.   

Resolved: the Committee noted the report. 

6. Select Committee work programme 

John Bardens (Scrutiny Manager) introduced the work programme.  

Resolved: the Committee noted and agreed the work programme. 

7. Referrals 

There were no referrals. 

The meeting ended at 21.00pm 

Chair:  

 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Date: 

 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Page 8



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title Declaration of interests 

Contributor Chief Executive Item 2 

Class Part 1 (open) 1 November 2017 

 
Declaration of interests 
 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda. 
 
1. Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member 
Code of Conduct: 
 
(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2) Other registerable interests 
(3) Non-registerable interests 

 
2. Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or 
gain 

 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 

by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the 
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a 
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial 
benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they 

are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the 
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, 
services or works. 

 
(d) Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 
(e) Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f) Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 

Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest.   

 
(g)  Beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
 

(a) that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land 
in the borough;  

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



(b) and either 
 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

 
3.  Other registerable interests 

 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 

were appointed or nominated by the Council 
(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 

purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any political party 

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25 

 
4. Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely 
to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more 
than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is 
not required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

  
5.  Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation 

 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 

present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any 
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw 
from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest 
which has not already been entered in the Register of Members’ 
Interests, or participation where such an interest exists, is liable to 
prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the 
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before 
the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in 

Page 10



consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below 
applies. 

 
(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 

disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a 
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think 
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the 
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to 
influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a 

member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect 
those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to the 
declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable 
interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s 

personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the 
advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
6. Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not 
be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and 
advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

 
7. Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. 
These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 

relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 
(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 

or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless 
the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which 
you are a governor;  

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e) Ceremonial honours for members 
(f) Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title CQC inspection of Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 5 

Class Part 1 (open) 1 November 2017 

 
1. Purpose 
 

Attached is a presentation on the recent CQC inspection of the Lewisham and 
Greenwich NHS Trust.  
 

 
3. Recommendations 
 

The Committee is asked to consider and note the report. 
 
For further information, please contact John Bardens, Scrutiny Manager, on 
02083149976. 

 
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



One Trust – serving our local communities www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 
CQC report and response to CQC findings

Healthier Communities Select Committee 1 November 2017

P
age 15



One Trust – serving our local communities www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk

CQC Inspection

CQC Comprehensive Inspection March 2017

• The inspection covered:

• University Hospital Lewisham

• Queen Elizabeth Hospital

• Community services – Lewisham

• This inspection was carried out to determine the level of progress 
made since the trusts last comprehensive inspection of February 
2014 – the trust was rated as requires improvement at that 
inspection. 

2

P
age 16



Ratings: Lewisham and Greenwich 
NHS Trust

3

2017

2014

P
age 17



Ratings: University Hospital 
Lewisham 

4

P
age 18



Ratings: Queen Elizabeth Hospital

5

P
age 19



Ratings: Community services -
Lewisham

6

P
age 20



Trust level findings

7

• Lack of learning from incidents to drive organisation wide improvements

• Recruitment of staff remains a challenge

• Infection control practices varied across the organisation

• Effectiveness of morbidity and mortality meetings varied

• Hotspots of concerns in terms of staff competency (MAU and CCU) however there were 
also areas which attracted highly competent and passionate staff

• Varied approach to cross-site working with some excellent examples of where this 
works well (Midwifery for example)

• Varied clinical outcomes reported within national audit programmes

• Good examples of compassionate care being provided to patients. However, we also 
identified a number of examples where staff interactions with patients and the level of 
care provided fell below the expected standard

• Patient flow remains a challenge for the organisation and wider health economy

• Application of the trust complaints policy was not always consistent

• Understanding of organisational risk was not always clear and risk management 
processes required improvement

P
age 21



Actions the trust MUST take to 
improve

8

P
age 22



Areas of Good Practice

9

• 10% reduction in admission of 
patients with dysphagia 
following successful research 
programme led by speech and 
language team

• Robust programme for 
ensuring electronic care 
records were accessible for 
patients treated in prison –
records could be shared 
with relevant health 
professionals, reducing the 
risk of patients developing 
problems associated with 
interruptions to 
antiretroviral therapies.

• Improved participation and 
good uptake of research 
programmes associated with 
sexual health

• Critical care research 
programme leading to 
improvements in care

• Community services for 
children, young people 
and families – holistic 
care which was family 
centred. Including 
Kaleidoscope and 
Maternal Early 
Childhood Sustained 
Home Visiting 
Programme (MECSH) 
as examples

P
age 23



One Trust – serving our local communities www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk

Trust response

• Welcome praise for those of our services which are performing well and received an 

‘Outstanding’ rating

• The report being a fair reflection of the need to increase the pace of the work and 

actions since the CQC June 2016 inspection

• Recognition of our key priority areas;

� To improve the ED flow and capacity with increased pace (Safe)

� The quality and safety of patients within ED (Safe)

� Medicines management within clinical areas (Safe)

� Governance and key risk issues within clinical areas (Safe & Well-led)

� End of Life Care across the organisation (Effective & Well-led)

� Staffing and Medical Engagement (Well-led)

• Immediate actions were taken by the Trust in response to initial CQC feedback on the 

above, followed by further actions agreed at a risk summit held with all partners

2

P
age 24



One Trust – serving our local communities www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk

LGB Integrated System Improvement 

Programme

• Agreed LGB Governance structure for the improvement plan

• Programme of work agreed across system with Executive Sponsors for work streams

4

LBG Integrated System Improvement Programme  

 PROGRAMME STEERING GROUP  

 Executive Sponsor - Martin Wilkinson Executive Sponsor - Tim Higginson 

 
Demand 

Management 

Ambulatory Care 

Pathways  
(Task & Finish)  

ED Flow  

Improvement 

Frail           

 Elders 

In- Patient Flow   

and Safety  

Safe & Timely 

Discharge  

OD, Workforce & 

Leadership 

Quality & Safety, 

Every Time  

Workstream 

Sponsor 

Nikita        

Kanani 

Nikita        

Kanani 

Lee           

 McPhail 

Joanne                   

Murfitt 

Elizabeth                

Aitken 

Tom                       

Brown  

Janet  

Lynch  

Selina                   

Trueman 

Programme 

Manager 
Paul LARRISEY Meredith DEANE Buz DODD Michael KAISER Caroline WILLIS TBA Isaac MOYO 

SME 
CCG Leads  

LAS   

Charles BRUCE  

James EWER 

 John MIELL 

PLUS:  TN and ECIP  

Tim PETTERSON  

Liz JAMES  

Tom BROWN  

Krishna SUBBARAYAN  

 Divisional Teams – TBC  

Alison BROWN 

Debbie MARSH 

Buz DODD 

Paul LARRISEY  

NHSI 

Keith HOWARD  

Belinda REGAN  

Jo PECK 

 

Workstream 

Scope  

Effective GP Streaming 

at ED Front Door 

GP Access to Specialist 

Opinion 

Time to First 

Assessment 

Whole System Pathway 

Redesign 

Clinical Engagement    

& Leadership 

Early Discharge 

Planning; setting of EDDs on 

admission  

Recruitment & 

Retention 

Trust 

Governance 

GP Extended Access 
Paediatric Flow and 

Assessment 
RAT 

New Acute Medical 

Model 
MDT working 

Redesign of the 

Discharge Team 
(Stage 1) 

Developing Clinical 

Leaders 

Risk 

Management 

Medical and Nursing 

Support to Care Homes 

Surgical Flow and 

Assessment (link with 

CEPOD case management) 

Speciality response      

to ED 

Frailty System Clinical 

Model 
M&M 

Medically Optimised 

List + daily escalation 

(merge RfD, Assess. & D2A) 

Developing Clinical 

Structures to support 

new models of care 

Quality 

Standards 

LAS access to 

community support 

Gynae. Flow and 

Assessment (link with 

CEPOD case management) 

Mental Health flow   
(incl. Core 24 & CAMHs) 

Capacity and Demand ITU Flow 
>35% ward discharges 

depart ward by midday 

Clinical 

Strategy 

Documentation             

of Care 

Management of High 

Intensity Users 

Ambulatory Care 

Pathway redesign  

Reprofiling the 

Workforce 
Care Outside Hospital NEWS 7-day discharge profile 

QI Methodology        

and Approach 

Medicines  

Management 

Optimised flow 

through the UCCs 
 

Ensuring Patient 

Comfort 

Access to Community 

Beds (Including Eltham 

Beds) 

Hospital@Night 
Discharge to Assess 

Linked with ‘Home First’ 

initiative  

Information 

Management 

Estates and 

Environmental 

Improvement 

  
Internal Surge and 

Escalation 

Improved community  

support for EoL 
Critical Care Outreach DTOC 

(Zero Social Care/3% target) 
Staff Engagement Patient Experience 

  
Systems to monitor 

flow 
 7 Day Working 

Patient Choice 
policy implemented supported 

by multi-agency escalation SOP 
  

    
Twice daily ward/board 

rounds 

Red2Green/Ward 

process improvement 
  

     
Improved 7 day access 

to diagnostics 

Trusted 

Assessor/Assessment  
  

Spread 
Across all CCGs /Link to 

SEL work 

QEH in development; 

UHL in delivery  

Primarily QEH with 

improvement  reflected 

in UHL plan 

Primarily QEH;  

UHL to scope gaps 

QEH focus – spread 

plan needed 

QEH focus – spread 

plan needed 

Corporate/  

System-wide  
Corporate 

Updated July 2017 

P
age 25



One Trust – serving our local communities www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk

Timely treatment of patients in ED
Safe; Responsive;

ED Flow Improvement focusing on:

• ED flow – time to first 

assessment, Rapid Assess + Treat 

(RAT), specialty response, mental 

health (adults and CAMHs)

• New acute medical model (inc ED 

in reach)

• Ambulatory Care Pathways –

medical/surgical/gynaecology, 

scoping 7 day services

• Systems to monitor flow (e.g. 

‘Red to Green’)

• Re-profiling the workforce – ED, 

acute medicine, ambulatory, 

frailty and specialist medicine

• Frailty clinical model and Eltham 

Community Hospital (ECH) Frailty 

Hub

• ED/Urgent Care Centre (UCC) 

interface – UCC estates redesign

5

P
age 26



One Trust – serving our local communities www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk

Patient Safety and Quality

Safe; Well-led;

6

P
age 27



One Trust – serving our local communities www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk

End of Life Care 
Effective; Well-led;

• Medical lead: Dr C’Ar

• NED lead: Val Davison – Chair

• Full review of existing work plan 

to speed up impact and ensure 

learning identified from CQC 

review fully integrated

• Ongoing work with key partner 

organisations to develop 

sustainable service models 

7

P
age 28



One Trust – serving our local communities www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk

Medicines management
Safe; Well-Led;

8

P
age 29



One Trust – serving our local communities www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk

Clinical Leadership

• Medical Engagement Scale completed and output 

reviewed; action plan to be developed during discussion 

and action planning through October

• Successfully appointed a Clinical Director to every service

• Senior medical leadership programme developed and 

launches October with FMLM

• Development programme for new consultants 

commenced September 

Recruitment and Retention

• Continued Trust priority

• Progress with recruitment (535 new starters since 

inspection) including 

• 22 Consultants

• Successful overseas campaign resulting in 81 band 5 nurses 

joining from Philippines (from Q4)

• Retention strategy and work plan with seven work-streams 

in place to reduce turnover

Clinical Engagement and Workforce
Well-led;

9

P
age 30



One Trust – serving our local communities www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk

Governance and Risk
Safe; Well-led;

External review of governance

• Immediate external review of 

governance and implementation of 

recommendations

New process for review, reporting and 

monitoring of risks

• Review of all divisional and corporate 

risk registers and new reporting 

oversight framework

Governance and leadership in divisions 

reviewed

• New appointments for governance in 

divisions  with standards of practice 

and accountability  raised with all 

clinical staff

Critical Care

• Clinical Director appointed, leading 

the Critical Care Improvement 

Programme

Theatres

• Medicines Management and 

Infection Control practices audited 

weekly

• Review of Governance and risk across the Trust

10

P
age 31



One Trust – serving our local communities www.lewishamandgreenwich.nhs.uk

Summary

11

• We agree with the current assessment and have undertaken significant 

amount of work

• We recognise that we are on a journey where there is still much to do 

• We will build on what we have achieved over the last few months with the       

continued support of our partners

• We will review and refresh the improvement plan to ensure actions taken are     

sustainable

• Committed to achieving ‘Good’ at our next inspection

P
age 32



1 
 

           HEALTHIER COMMUNITIES SELECT COMMITTEE 

Report Title Outcome of consultation on the proposal to remove the 

subsidy for meals at day centres  

Key Decision No Item No 8 

Ward(s) Borough Wide 

Contributors Executive Director for Community Services 

Class Part 1 Date: 1st November 2017 

  

1. SUMMARY 
  
1.1. This report sets out the outcomes of the consultation relating to the proposal to 

remove the subsidy for meals at 3 day centres, Cedar Court, Cinnamon Court and 
the Ladywell Centre. This was proposed at Mayor and Cabinet on the 11 February 
2015 as part of the Council’s savings programme under ‘decision regarding charging 
for meals’ (A14) and ‘widening the scope for charging for social care’ (Com 41) as a 
saving for 2016/17. The specific proposals regarding day centre meals would deliver 
a saving to the Council of £62K. Mayor and Cabinet that the impact of these 
proposals be consulted on and reported back. There was a delay on beginning the 
consultation because of the risk of confusion with the other wider day centre 
consultations and changes taking place at that time.  

 
1.2. The contract for the delivery of meals to day centres was part of a bigger contract for 

the delivery of ‘meals on wheels’. This was a shared contract with Lambeth and 
Southwark held by Appetito. That contract expired on 7th August 2016. The 
agreement to continue a subsidy was extended by the Executive Director for 
Community Services due the wider considerations at the time, and alternative 
interim meals arrangements were out in place. Housing and Care 21 extended their 
internal contracted meals service to Cinnamon Court and Cedar Court; Appetito 
continued to deliver meals to the Ladywell Centre. The current arrangement ends on 
the 31st December 2017. 

 
1.3. The consultation on the removal of the subsidy for meals at day centres took place 

between the 5th September and 14th October 2017. This report sets out the 
consultation process and the responses received by the Council. The consultation 
proposed the continuation of a hot meals service at the centres on a full cost 
recovery of about £6 a meal or whether service users would prefer a ‘bring your 
own’ option. 

 
1.4. The majority of service users (78% of the returned questionnaires) expressed a 

preference to continue a hot meals option, though were concerned about the 
increase in cost. This preference was also reflected in the meetings with service 
users. The key recommendation of this consultation is therefore that hot meals 
services should continue at the three centres but at full cost recovery.        

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

2.1. The Healthier Communities Select Committee are requested to note, and are invited 
to comment, on the responses and the process of the consultation which has taken 
place on the proposal to remove the subsidy for meals at day centres as considered 
at Mayor & Cabinet in February 2015. 

 

2.2. The Healthier Communities Select Committee are also requested to note, and 
invited to comment, on the recommendations which are being made to Mayor and 
Cabinet in on 15 November 2017 in response to the consultation as follows: 

 

MAIN RECOMMENDATIONS TO MAYOR AND CABINET 

2.3. That the Council removes the subsidy currently paid for the meals service at three 
day centres Cinnamon Court, Cedar Court & the Ladywell Day Centre and that full 
cost recovery for meals for those meals apply. 

 

2.4. That, should this recommendation be agreed, and given that the current subsidy is 
due to end on the 31st December 2017, and in recognition of the concern expressed 
about the increased cost generally, and in recognition of the pressure on income 
associated with this time of year, that the subsidy be extended for a further month to 
the 31st January 2018 at a cost of £5,195.  

 
2.5. That the Council agree that the delivery of a meals offer become part of its directly 

managed day service provision at the Ladywell Centre. 
 

2.6. That the Council agree a £9.8K capital allocation for the purchase of new kitchen 
equipment.  

 

3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1. The function of Adult Social Care is to ensure that people eligible for support receive 

services appropriate to their needs within the framework of statutory duties and 
agreed policies. This is determined through the completion of an assessment in 
accordance with the Care Act 2014, followed by the application of the appropriate 
eligibility criteria and support decisions.  

 
3.2. The Care Act 2014 is the single most substantial piece of legislation relating to adult 

social care to be implemented since 1948. It has taken previous legislation, common 
law decisions and other good practice guidance and consolidated them. The Care 
Act places a wide emphasis on prevention, the provision of advice and information, 
changes to eligibility, funding reform and market shaping and commissioning.  

 
3.3. The Care Act requires the Council to engage with providers and local communities 

when redesigning services and planning for the future, as well as ensure that active 
engagement and consultation with local people is built into the development and 
review of their strategies for market shaping and commissioning.  

 
3.4. The final report of the Local Government Association’s Adult Social Care Efficiency 

(ASCE) Programme published in July 2014, sets out a number of initiatives that 
Councils across the country have put in place to deliver services that will meet the 
requirements of the Care Act in the current financial climate. It sets out advice on 
how to agree a new contract with citizens and communities, managing demand, 

Page 34



3 
 

transforming services, improving commissioning and developing more integrated 
services.  

 
3.5. The contents of this report are consistent with the Council’s policy framework. It 

supports the following goals outlined in Lewisham’s Sustainable Community 
Strategy 2008-2020:  

 
Healthy, active and enjoyable – where people can actively participate in 
maintaining and improving their health and well-being.  
Ambitious and achieving: where people are inspired and supported to fulfil their 
potential.  
Empowered and responsible: where people can be actively involved in their local 
area and contribute to tolerant, caring and supportive local communities.  

 
3.6. The proposed recommendations in the report also meet with the Council’s following 

corporate priority:  
 

Caring for Adults and Older People: working with health services to support older 
people and adults in need of care. 

 
3.7. This consultation is governed by the Council’s revised (2017 Best Value Guidance, 

which states that “to achieve the right balance – and before deciding how to fulfil 
their Best Value Duty – authorities are under a Duty to Consult representatives of a 
wide range of local persons including representatives of council tax payers, those 
who use or are likely to use services provided by the authority, and those appearing 
to the authority to have an interest in any area within which the authority carries out 
functions. This should apply at all stages of the commissioning cycle, including when 
considering the decommissioning of services.” 

 

4. BACKGROUND 
 
4.1. Councils throughout the UK are currently under severe financial pressure.  By the 

year 2019/20, savings worth a further £45 million need to be made across Lewisham 
Council. With this in mind, the Council has been thinking about the best ways to 
make savings and reduce costs, whilst continuing to deliver a quality service and 
protect those who are most vulnerable.  

 
4.2. As one part of this work, the Council has been looking to close the gap between 

what service users pay for a meal and the actual cost of providing that meal. This 
was proposed as one of a number of savings at Mayor and Cabinet on the 11 
February 2015. The proposal was part of the Council’s wider savings programme 
under to ‘decision regarding charging for meals’ (A14) and ‘widening the scope for 
charging for social care’ (Com 41). There has been no increase to the cost of meals 
for a number of years. 

 
4.3. The Council held a ‘cost and volume’ contract for the provision of a hot meal service 

7 days a week, 52 weeks a year with Appetito.  This was a partnership contract with 
Southwark and Lambeth Councils and ended on 7th August 2016. For all three 
Councils, numbers of clients assessed as requiring a hot meals service had been 
steadily declining over the life of the contract. It was envisaged that there would be 
further reductions in numbers as Lewisham and other Councils moved to asset 
based assessments as required by the Care Act (2014). The cost of meals was 
escalating as take up decreased, therefore the contract was increasingly not cost 
effective and would not be re-procured.  

Page 35



4 
 

 
4.4. Three day centres in the borough, the Ladywell Centre managed directly by the 

Council and Cinnamon Court and Cedar Court Day Centres managed by Housing 
and Care 21 were in receipt of subsidised meals as part of the Appetito contract. 
Other day centres/ services not linked with the Appetito contract had addressed the 
issue of meals provision without subsidy several years before, or indeed had never 
had a subsidy. The inclusion of these specific three centres in the Appetito contract 
had protected them from earlier consideration of removal of the meals subsidy and 
alternatives being put in place. The ending of the contract presented a different 
requirement from a straightforward individual asset based assessment process, as 
individuals were away from home. 

 
4.5. A further factor in how consideration of the subsidy at day centres progressed was 

that at the end of the contract, the Council’s directly managed services had just 
reached the end of a significant consultation and reorganisation and there were 
concerns that competing changes and consultations might cause unnecessary 
stress and confusion to the people attending the day centres. Consequently, in July 
2016, the Executive Director for Community Services agreed to continue the subsidy 
for lunchtime meals at day centres as follows:  

 

 a variation to the Appetito contract and continuation of the subsidy to 31st 
December 2017 for service users at the Ladywell Centre 

 the continuation of a meals subsidy to 31st December 2017 for service users 
at Cinnamon Court and Cedar Court to be paid to Housing and Care 21s 
commissioned meals provider  

 
4.6. Other variables including an unexpected election and a period of purdah further 

delayed proceeding with the required formal consultation which began in September 
2017. One hundred and twenty one individuals receive hot meals across the three 
day centres and are therefore directly affected by this consultation: 67 in total across 
Cinnamon Court and Cedar Court and 54 at Ladywell. The majority are older adults, 
some of whom, particularly at Ladywell, are also diagnosed with dementia. There is 
also a small number of adults with physical disabilities and a small number of adults 
with a learning disability.  

 

5. THE CONSULTATION PROPOSAL 
 
5.1. The Council consulted on the following proposal: 
 

Lunchtime meals are currently available at the day centre you attend. These meals 
are subsidised by the Council, which means that you do not pay the full cost of the 
meal. The actual cost of the meal to the Council is higher than the amount you pay 
for it. 
 
At the moment you are asked to pay £3.50 towards your meal. The additional amount 
that the Council pays towards your meal varies between £2.50 and £4.32 a meal – 
this is the Council subsidy. 
 
We are proposing that the current subsidies for lunchtime meals at Cinnamon Court, 
Cedar Court and the Ladywell Centre be removed. Going forwards, we are 
considering the following two options: 

 

 Continue to provide hot meals at lunchtime. However, you would be asked to 
pay the full cost of this meal at a flat rate of approximately £6 per meal OR 

Page 36



5 
 

 Provide a ‘bring your own’ option where you can bring food and drink from 
home to the day centre  

 

As part of the consultation people were also asked to comment on the impact of the 
proposals and how this might be mitigated against. 
 
Process and Activity of Consultation 

 
5.2. The consultation took place over a 5 week period from 5 September 2017 to 14 

October 2017. 
 
5.3. The consultation pack was sent to the 121 directly affected service users with a 

covering letter.  Freepost envelopes were provided to enable return of completed 
feedback sheets. The consultation pack was made available in different languages, 
if requested.  
 

5.4. The consultation was posted on Lewisham Council’s website so that the form could 
be completed on line. 

 
5.5. A link to the consultation website was sent by email to local voluntary and 

community organisations likely to have an interest in the proposals including Age 
UK, Pensioners Forum, Carers Lewisham, Mind Care, Seniors, & Voluntary Action 
Lewisham. 

 

5.6. Six meetings (two at each centre) were held so that people and their families had an 
opportunity to talk directly to officers. 

 
Consultation Outcomes 

5.7. Full detail of the consultation responses from the meetings and from the 
questionnaires can be found in appendices 1 and 2.  

 

5.8. Of the one hundred and twenty one questionnaires sent directly to service users, 
twenty one questionnaires (19%) were returned. One questionnaire was completed 
on line. A total of 58 service users and 25 staff attended the 6 meetings held at the 
three affected day centres. No submission was received from the third sector 
organisations contacted.  

 

5.9. Officers recognise that this proposal was difficult for people to engage with, and 
recognise that many of the service users strongly held a preference for no change. 
Officers would like to thank everyone for giving up their time to attend the meetings 
and to complete the questionnaires and for their contributions to this consultation 
process. 
 

5.10. The following tables summarise the main comments made both at meetings and in 
written submissions as part of the consultation process. They do not contain every 
comment and officers recognise that the format carries a risk of masking the impact 
of the points being made. However, officers believe that the content is a true 
reflection of the key points raised and the sentiments with which they were 
expressed. 

 

Page 37



6 
 

General comments about the savings and  the process 

Comment Officer Response 

The Council is targeting the most 

vulnerable and lowest income members 

of the community and this is causing 

anxiety and distress 

 

Officers understand that all adults eligible for and in 
receipt of services are likely to be affected by the 
government’s reduction in its spending on council 
services generally, and adult social care services in 
particular. 

 It already costs more to care for 

someone with a disability  

Officers recognise that some people with a disability 
may have additional daily living costs.   

Relatives manage money for some 

individuals and should be asked for 

feedback  

Relatives had an opportunity to respond to the 
consultation either through the Council website, 
though attending the meetings, or by completing a 
paper questionnaire 

Family carers may have to provide both a 
packed lunch and also a more substantial 
meal in the evening. This would have a 
big impact on people who care for their 
relative at home. 

Officers understand the valuable role that families 
play in supporting people to maintain their 
independence at home but also recognise that there 
may be an impact for some people depending on the 
outcome of the consultation.  

 

Continue to provide hot meals at lunchtime at £6 per meal 

Comment Officer Response 

Would be willing to pay more if meals 

were more varied and better quality 

 

Officers note that some people are dissatisfied with 
the quality of meals currently and would expect there 
to be closer discussion with service users if a hot 
meals option was retained 

Would pay the increase  

 

Officer note that 18 of the 22 questionnaires 
received (78%) suggest that people would prefer a 
hot meals service at an increased cost in preference 
to no hot meals service 

We can’t afford the increase People attending other day services pay for the full 
cost of their meal. Also, the Council has not 
increased the client contribution to meals for several 
years. 

An increase would have an impact on 
ability to pay other bills 

Officers note that the increase would affect people’s 
overall disposable income 

A cooked meal is the only reason some 
people attend the centre 

Officers understand the importance of a hot meal 
offer as part of the wider day services offer. 

No meals being available at the centre 
would put additional pressure on the 
family carer 

Officers understand that having a hot meal offer as 
part of the wider day service offer assists family 
carers  

If no meals were available then there may 
need to be a reassessment/ review of the 
current care package and how it is used 

Officers note that some people may wish to 
reconsider how their care package/ personal budget 
is allocated 

It is similar to what I pay at another centre. Officers note that some service users pay differential 
costs relating to a subsidy/ the absence of a subsidy 
at other day service locations. 

 

Page 38



7 
 

Provide a ‘bring your own’ option where you can bring food and drink from home to the 
day centre 

Comment Officer Response 

Some service users are not able to cook 

a meal & take a packed lunch because 

their physical and/or mental disability 

does not allow this and they do not have 

a carer to do this for them 

Officers note that this is a particular difficulty for 
service users living alone, and that the continuation 
of a hot meals offer at the centre would be helpful 

Would take a packed lunch/ already take 
a packed lunch 

Officers note that some people are already bringing 
their own lunch, or would be happy to bring their own 
lunch in future 

A packed lunch would not be suitable  for 
people who need ‘soft’ food or who have 
difficulty chewing or swallowing 

Officers understand that a soft or pureed meals offer 
is a requirement for some people’s health conditions 
and that a hot meals option would be the better offer 

The Council could partner with a 
supermarket offering a £3 meal deal 

Officers do not believe that the Council could do this 
without incurring additional cost in either staff time or 
delivery costs which would increase the cost of 
sandwiches. 

Concern that food brought in by service 
users would not be nutritious 

Officers recognise staff concerns about the 
nutritional quality of food that might be brought in by 
service users and that therefore a hot meals offer 
would be the better option. 

 

Whether the changes would stop you from attending the day centre 

Comment Officer Response 

Clients present at the meetings and in 
the questionnaires generally said that 
the proposals would not prevent them 
attending the centre 

The officers note that it is the majority positon of 
people attending the meetings and also of people 
responding to the consultation questionnaires that 
they would continue to attend the centres 

 

What the Council might be able to do in mitigation 

Comment Officer Response 

Stop the change and continue to provide 
hot meals 

The decision to not proceed with the reduction to the 
subsidy will be considered by Mayor and Cabinet on 
the 15th November.  

Restrict menu choices Officers do not believe that this is a possibility due to 
the varied needs of the service users attending the 
centres, and because some service users are 
already concerned about the choice and quality of 
meals available. 

 

Page 39



8 
 

Other cost effective meals options the Council should consider 

Comment Officer Response 

Cut top bosses pay Public sector pay has been restrained for a number 
of years. Some Council officers have already moved 
to part time working 

Provide hot meals only 3 days a week 
rather than 5 

Officers do not believe that this is a possible option 
as different service users attend the centres on 
different days.  

Buy from Iceland and provide microwave 
ovens 

A cook from frozen option might be an option for 
people who could manage a microwave oven. Cook 
from frozen prepared at the centre would require 
staff time to prepare. 

 

5.11. Overall, the outcomes of the consultation suggested that there was a mix of 
preferences to the proposals, but that the majority of the respondents showed 
preference to pay the full cost of a hot meal, with 4 people (18 people = 17%) 
expressing a preference to bring their own lunch. The majority (75%) of people who 
responded to the questionnaires said that the proposed changes would not prevent 
them from continuing to attend the day centre. Respondents expressed a preference 
for a hot meals offer to continue to be available, though some would also like the 
flexibility of bringing a sandwich or a microwave meal to heat on site. 

 
6. RESPONSE TO THE CONSULTATION  
 
6.1. This section considers areas of specific concern by each proposal and sets out 

officers’ responses and assurances about what actions will be put in place so as to 
meet or minimise those concerns. 

 
Continue to provide hot meals at lunchtime at a flat rate of approximately £6. 

 
6.2. People have highlighted a preference for the continued provision of a hot meals offer 

at the Centres. However, they are concerned about the increased cost. Response – 
Officers will work with Housing and Care 21 to ensure that they deliver a high quality 
hot meals option at Cinnamon Court and Cedar Court. Officers have also been in 
discussion with the Council’s direct service provider at the Ladywell Centre who 
have expressed an interest in incorporating a meals provision into their wider service 
offer when the contract with Appetito ends. Officers will include this as a 
recommendation to Mayor and Cabinet. Officers will ensure that the provision of 
soft/ pureed meals and ethnic appropriate meals options are available as required at 
the three centres. The rate of £6 was included in the consultation as the estimated 
actual cost of meals delivery including staff and food. The Council will keep the cost 
of meals under review and ensure that they reflect the actual cost of the provision. 

 
Provide a ‘bring your own’ food and drink option  

6.3. Officers are mindful that some people already take their own lunch to the centres 
and that some others would like to consider this option in preference to a hot meals 
option. Response - Officers will work with Housing and Care 21 and the Council’s 
directly managed service to ensure that there is space available for people to keep 
their food safely. Officers will also work with both providers to risk assess the 
presence and usability of micro wave ovens or similar for people who would prefer to 
bring their own meal in to heat independently. Officers will also explore options with 

Page 40



9 
 

both providers for sandwiches to be available for sale in each of the three day 
centres. 
 
General comments 
 

6.4. Officers note the comments about affordability and the increase in cost. Response – 
The current subsidy is due to end on the 31st December. This will allow only a short 
period of notice for service users and their families. It also means that the increased 
cost will start from the 2nd January 2018. Many people already experience financial 
difficulty in the first month of January due to Christmas spending. Officers will 
therefore propose that the subsidy is extended to 31st January 2018 to allow service 
users and their families a longer lead in time. 

 
7. IMPLICATIONS OF THE PROPOSALS 

 
7.1. The Council’s direct provider of day service at Ladywell have expressed an interest 

in delivering a hot meals service at the centre following the termination of the 
Appetito contract. They advise that this would give them control over the quality and 
choice of food, encourage longer term development of the centre as a wider 
community offer, and support opportunities for further partnership working with third 
sector providers, including the possibilities for future supported employment 
opportunities. Officers have assessed the cost of this as being cost neutral to the 
Council with a cost of meal being in the region of £5.60 (Appendix 3) and therefore 
within the consultation guide price. 

 
7.2. As stated above, the reduction of meals numbers has resulted in the cost of 

individual meals purchased from Appetitos increasing. If Appetito’s were to continue 
to provide meals at the Ladywell Centre, this would represent an increasing financial 
risk to the Council if the subsidy were not removed or to service users if it were. 
Officers therefore recommend that the contract extension with Appetito is formally 
ended. The formal ending of the Appetito’s contract will result in one of their 
employees being put at risk. Appetito has written to advise that in the circumstances 
that the contract stops completely they would require the Council to underwrite the 
cost of that member of staff’s redundancy or give an additional 3 month notice. 

 

7.3. If Mayor and Cabinet agree the development of a directly managed hot meals offer 
at Ladywell as part of their wider direct provision offer, then that member of staff is 
likely to be eligible for TUPE transfer to the Council. Informal due diligence 
discussions do not suggest that this would present a financial risk to the Council. 
Any matters arising from implementation of the proposals will be addressed through 
the Council’s Code of Practice Relating to Employment. 

 
7.4. Housing & Care 21 accepted responsibility for meals delivery at Cinnamon and 

Cedar Courts when the original Appetito contract ended in August 2016. They 
subsequently extended their contract with their own contracted meals provider. 
Housing & Care 21 have stated as part of contract monitoring that they will support 
the Council to maintain delivery of a hot meals service and/ or a packed lunch offer 
as may be required by the Council as an outcome of this consultation. 

 

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

Page 41



10 
 

8.1. This report recommends that the Council discontinue the payment of a subsidy for 
hot meals in three day centres, Cinnamon Court, Cedar Court and the Ladywell 
Centre. This recommendation would generate £62K in savings.  

 

 
Annual Cost less 
Client Charge 

Cedar Court   

89 lunches @ £2.50 weekly subsidy  £11,570.00 

Cinnamon Court  

70 lunches @ £2.50 weekly subsidy £9,100.00 

Ladywell Centre  

459 lunches monthly (various subsidies) £41,239.08 

TOTAL ANNUAL SUBSIDY £61,909.08 

 
8.2. The report further outlines a proposal that the responsibility for delivering hot meals 

become part of the Council’s directly managed service offer at the Ladywell Centre. 
To achieve this, the service would require the purchase of some new equipment at a 
cost of £9.6K. Financial modelling shows that a meals offer could be delivered cost 
neutral to the Council at a full cost recovery of £5.60 a meal, including depreciation 
on the equipment (Appendix 3).  

 
8.3. Should this (recommendation 2.5) be agreed, TUPE would be likely to apply to the 

member of staff employed by Appetito.  
 
 
 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1. The Council has a responsibility to provide care and support services for those with 

assessed eligible need pursuant to the Care Act 2014. The Council may also charge 
for these services, in accordance with any charging policy or decision as may be 
applicable at any time, subject to statutory guidance. 

 
9.2. The Council also has a legal duty to set and pursue a balanced budget in any 

financial year, and address any issues relating to budget pressures or overspending 
in a robust manner in order to fulfil its fiduciary duties in the administration of public 
funds. 

 
9.3. When service changes are called for, the Council has a duty to consult those 

affected, interested parties, and any other interested bodies, providing sufficient 
information in an accessible manner so as to allow for informed, timely response, 
and taking into account in its decision making the outcome of such consultation.  

 
9.4. In the event that Mayor and Cabinet agree recommendation 2.5, to extend the 

directly managed service to include a hot meals offer, then TUPE is likely to apply to 
a member of staff currently employed by Appetito. In that eventuality the Council will 
undertake consultation and due diligence processes in line with the Council’s TUPE 
transfer guidance and statutory requirements.  

 
9.5. The Equalities Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the 

equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 

Page 42



11 
 

maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. In summary the 
Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regards to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited under the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
9.6. The duty continues to be a “has regard” duty, and the weight to be attached to it is a 

matter for the Mayor to decide, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and 
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.  

 
9.7. The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has issued “Technical 

Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty” and statutory guidance the “Equality 
Act 2010: Services and Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. 
The Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty 
and attention is drawn to chapter 11 which deals in particular with the equality duty. 
The Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the 
duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. 
The guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to 
it, as failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The 
Statutory Code and the Technical Guidance can be found at: 

 
www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal_and_policy/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-

technical-guidance/ 

9.8. The EHRC has previously issued five guides for public authorities in England giving 
advice on the duty: 

 The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 

 Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision making 

 Engagement and the equality duty 

 Equality objectives and the equality duty 

 Equality information and the equality duty 
 

9.9. The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including 
the general equality duty, the specific duty and who they apply to. It covers what 
public authorities should do to meet the duty, including steps that are legally 
required, as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more 
detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information 
and resources are available at: 

 
www.equalityhumanrights.com//advice_and_guidance/public_sector-equality-

duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty 

 

10. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 

Page 43

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal_and_policy/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal_and_policy/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice_and_guidance/public_sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice_and_guidance/public_sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty


12 
 

10.1. An Equalities Analysis Assessment (EAA) has been completed (Appendix 4). This 
identifies that the groups directly affected by these proposals are predominantly 
older adults, who are likely to have additional disabilities or health conditions and 
who are predominantly women. This reflects the social care reason why service 
users are attending the day services and reflect the relative gender mix of the 
population. 

 
10.2. The breakdown of ethnicity and what is known about religion and beliefs from the 

meals purchased evidences that there is a need for culturally appropriate (halal and 
Afro-Caribbean) meals to continue to be available so that these groups were not 
disadvantaged.  

 

10.3. Analysis of individual service users’ marital status prompted further consideration of 
whether they live alone in case this presented a different equalities issue which 
could be considered as mitigation regarding the proposals. No one lives alone who 
uses the Ladywell Centre and therefore there are people in the immediate 
environment who can support them. Approximately half of the service users at the 
Cinnamon Court Day Centre and approximately one third of the service users at 
Cedar Court Day Centre live alone: however, of that number a significant proportion 
live in the Extra Care provision where the Day Centres are sited and so again there 
is a support structure available. 

 
10.4. There are no specific equalities considerations relating to the other protected 

characteristics of marriage and civil partnerships, pregnancy and maternity, sexual 
orientation or gender reassignment. 

 
10.5. There is a structural equalities issue raised by the Council subsiding meals to one 

group of people and not to others. The provision of a meals subsidy in this 
circumstance is itself inequitable.  

 
11. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1. There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report 
 
12. CRIME REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 

 
12.1. There are no specific crime reduction implications arising from this report 
 
13. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 

 
13.1. This report contains the outcome of a consultation on the Council reducing its 

subsidy for the provision of hot meals at Cinnamon Court, Cedar Court and the 
Ladywell Centre. The consultation focussed on two options: paying the full cost of a 
hot meal at approximately £6 a meal provided at the Centre; or bringing a packed 
lunch to the centre.  

 
13.2. An analysis of the comments provided to the 6 consultation meetings and of the 

completed consultation questionnaires suggest that retaining the facility for a hot 
meals service on a full cost recovery model was the preferred option. It was noted 
though that some service users might want to consider bringing their own packed 
lunch.  

Page 44



13 
 

 
13.3. The cost of maintaining a reducing meals offer at Ladywell in a further contract with 

Appetitos is thought to present a financial risk to either the council in higher subsidy 
or to service users on a full cost recovery model. This report therefore recommends 
that the directly managed day service provider based at the Ladywell Centre extend 
their offer to include a hot meals service.  

 
13.4. Council officers will continue to work with both Housing and Care 21 and the 

Council’s own day service provider at Ladywell to implement the change in hot 
meals delivery and will closely monitor the impact of this change on service users 
individually and the general welfare of service users. Any service user where there is 
a risk associated with these changes will be identified through discussion between 
providers and those officers responsible for quality assurance in the first instance to 
identify remedial action that could be taken with the service. Individual service users 
will be referred for review/ reassessment if required.  

 
13.5. These recommendations will be considered by Mayor and Cabinet at its 15th 

November 2017 meeting. If agreed at Mayor and Cabinet, there will be a standstill 
period till Business Scrutiny Panel on 28th November 2017. 

 
13.6. Implementation completion deadlines will vary as follows: 31st December 2017 for 

Housing and Care 21 at Cinnamon Court and Cedar Court; and 28th February 2018 
(though possibly earlier) for Ladywell.  

 
  

Page 45



14 
 

Appendix 1 
Detailed Analysis of the Consultation process outcomes 

 

The consultation period ran from 5th September – 14th October 2017.  Throughout this 
consultation period, numerous steps were taken to involve and inform those likely to be 
affected by the changes to the arrangements, including service users, carers, families and 
organisations representing adult & older people. 
 
Below is a list of the methods used to provide information about the proposals and the 
opportunities in which people were given to have their say: 

 Letters to service users 

 Website information 

 Facilitated meetings at all day centres (listed below) 

List of 
Consultations 

   

Date Location Number of Users Carers/Staff 

13th Sept 
26th Sept 

Ladywell           4 
          1                      

           8 
           3  

15th September 
28th Sept 

Cinnamon 
Court 

        10 
        11  

           3 
           3 

15th  Sept 
28th Sept 

Cedar Court         20 
        12 

           4  
           4 

 

All meetings were informed of the reason for the consultation. Participants were informed 
that at this stage it is only a proposal and views need to be heard and feedback to Mayor 
and Cabinet before a decision is made.  The Mayor and Cabinet meeting is on 15th 
November and the decision will be communicated to the Centres. 
 
1 Ladywell Centre 
 
A number of comments were made at the Ladywell Day Centre 

 Vulnerable, lower paid, disabled people were being targeted 

 People will not be able to afford a meal 

 Meals are disgusting as they do not have jacket potato or salad 

 Carer said it was only cooked food for the day and often the only reason why 

they come to the day centre 

 Co-ordinator worried about the food that is taken in by users 

 Husband attends day centre three times weekly, has pureed meals but would 

not be able to afford the increase 

 One mentioned that he can’t eat hard food and the food had to be processed 

 Increase would have an impact as other bills have to be paid 

 Find it difficult to prepare meals 

 Soft diet required and important to health 

 Would need assessment if price went up 

 Husband not well, coming to the day centre gives husband a break 

 It gives respite 

 Enjoy coming to the day centre and would find it very difficult 

Page 46



15 
 

 All dementia clients have meals at the day centre and relies on the day centre 

for their only hot meal of the day 

 One user depends on relatives financially as son gives set amount of money 

 No meal at the day centre would mean added pressure on the carer 

 One said she enjoyed the meals especially the curry 

 Another depends on relatives and if money is not left then packed lunch 

would be brought 

A relative of a service user attended and said that her sister attends the Ladywell Day 
Centre four times a week.  However her sister attended Leemore Day Centre where meals 
had already stopped. As a result her sister is now used to having packed lunch and 
continues to have packed lunches at the Ladywell Day Centre. She then left the meeting. 
This user requires a puréed diet which the Family prepare for her in the mornings. 
 
Staff mentioned that some of the packed lunches taken in by users are lacking in nutrients.  
It was also mentioned that it would also impact on health and well -being.  A member of staff 
said that she can clearly recall someone who stopped eating (lunches provided) as meal 
prices increased. A member of staff said that (as far as she recalls) the level of client’s 
contribution has not increased for over 6 years. 
 
Specific Reduction in Subsidy Questions 
 

Would the proposed changes described in this consultation stop you from 

attending the day centres in the future? 

 Most clients who attended the consultation said that they would still attend the 

day centre. It was also mentioned that for many service users it was the only 

cooked meal of the day especially for those with dementia and often the only 

reason they attended the day centre. 

 Response ‘the proposal is that hot meals would still be available but it would 

be more expensive’ 

 Others mentioned the proposal was targeting the low paid, disabled and 

vulnerable. 

 A few individuals mentioned that they would not be able to afford it, already 

paying for transport & care package 

 Others mentioned that no meals at day centre would mean added pressure 

on the carer 

 One individual mentioned that because of her epilepsy she was unable to 

cook at home and the meals were very important 

 A few mentioned that they would bring a packed lunch. 

 Carers would have to stay longer at additional cost to prepare meals for 

clients, if no meal at the day centre, an assessment would be required 

 Some complaint about the menu that they are currently receiving. 

 Response ‘it is likely that the new arrangement would give individuals more 

say regarding the menu.  The initial price would not be more than £6’. 

It was also said by one of the carers that if service users did not receive a balanced diet their 

health will suffer and this will have a knock on effect on users. 

Page 47



16 
 

Given that you would be impacted by these proposed changes, is there 

anything that the Council could do to reduce any concerns you might have? 

 It was difficult to communicate this question as they were all concerned about 

the increase than other reductions that could be found. 

 What was requested by a relative was the exact price, timeline and prices to 

be guaranteed for a long period. 

 Some users spoke about the fact that attending the day centre gives the carer 

a respite break. Another mentioned how wonderful the day centre is.  

Do you have any other cost effective ideas for day centre meals that the 

Council should consider?  

 Individuals did not mention any other cost effective ideas.  As above they 

were most engrossed in talking about how they would be affected and the 

issues that they are currently experiencing. 

 Ladywell user group includes very intensive complex needs. As a result a 

number of service users have 1:1 carers.  Some meals are also pureed or a 

soft diet.  

 A relative mentioned that it should be means tested as it is already costing a 

lot to care for someone with a disability, as they are already paying for 

incontinence pads etc. She also mentioned that she was unable to give 

advice without the necessary figures. 

 
2 Housing & Care 21 
 
Cinnamon & Cedar Courts users were asked similar questions, however the user groups 
appeared more able to answer questions and the disabilities were not as severe as those at 
the Ladywell Day Centre. 
 

Would the proposed changes described in this consultation stop you from 

attending the day centres in the future? 

Cinnamon Court Feedback 

 one service user said that she attends only one day per week and already 

pays £5 for lunch at the Calabash Centre and it would be reasonable 

 Willing to pay more if the meals were better, could also take a sandwich 

 Another user who attends 2 days per week said she would probably pay the 

increase but would also consider packed lunches 

 Another two users said that relatives would have to decide 

 Another user who attends 3 days per week said that she would pay the extra 

to keep the hot meals 

 Most people felt that they wouldn’t have a problem paying the extra cost 

 One said that she would not be able to afford it 

 If packed lunch was the only option, it would mean more work for the Carer.  

 Another client who attends 5 days said he will not move.  The day centre 

manager thinks he will not have a problem paying the extra cost. 

 

Page 48



17 
 

Cedar Court Feedback 

Some service users mentioned that they would still attend the day centre 

 One mentioned that she will bring own lunch, willing to pay if meals are better 

 One service user who attends daily mentioned that it would be too expensive. 

 Two  service users would have to talk to family members 

 Another two service users mentioned that they are quite happy to pay more 

 Another two said that they would take a pack lunch 

 Soft diet required  

 One user said that she would consider paying for 2 meals but would also 

consider a packed lunch 

The staff expressed health & safety concerns if they were to heat meals and due to staffing 
issues would find it quite challenging to assist everyone with meals. It appeared as if the 
majority of clients would still attend the day centre even if the cost was increased.  The staff 
were asked on the importance of hot meals to clients and was informed that in addition to 
the nutritional value the meals provided an important social gathering for the clients. 
 

Given that you would be impacted by these proposed changes, is there 

anything that the Council could do to reduce any concerns you might have? 

 One service user mentioned that keeping people local could assist as she lived 

next to one of the Centres and now transferred to another centre where she has 

to be transported to. 

Do you have any other cost effective ideas for day centre meals that the 

Council should consider?  

 This question was difficult to respond to by users.  Limited discussions were had 

at the events about this question.  The first question evoked the discussions but 

little was said on questions 2 and 3. 

  

Page 49



18 
 

Appendix 2 
Analysis of Questionnaires received 

 
There were a total of 121 questionnaires that were sent to service users of the Ladywell, 
Cinnamon & Cedar Courts. The questionnaire was also available on line. The following table 
breaks down responses received. 
 

Questionnaire Responses % of 
questionnaires 
returned 

 % of  all 
service 
users 

  Base = 23 Base = 121 

Number of responses 
 

23    19%                               

Service Users/representative 
A service user 
A friend or family member of a 
service user 
An advocate for a service user 
other 

 
13 

7 
 

2 
1 

 
                    57% 
                    30% 

 
                      9% 
                      4% 

 
11% 

5% 
 

2% 
1% 

 

    

    

    
Options 

 Paying the full cost 

 Bring your own lunch 

 Cannot afford it 

 

 
18 

4 
1 

 
 
 
 

 
 78% 
17% 

4% 

 
15% 

3% 
1% 

 
 
 
 

    
Would change stop you from 
attending?  
 
No 
 
yes 
 
Possibly 
 
No response 

 
 
                                                    

17                              
                                                 

3 
                                                 

2  
                                                 

1 

 
 
 

74% 
 

13% 
 

9% 
 

4% 

   
 
                                     

14% 
                                       

2% 
                                       

2% 
                                       

1% 

What could Council do to reduce 
concerns? 

Continue to provide hot meals 
stop the proposed change 
restrict menu choices 
provide a decent meal 

  

Any other cost effective ideas Cut top bosses pay 
Sandwiches, do hot meals 
only 3 days, provide more 
microwave ovens, buy from 
Iceland, ask for advice & input, 
Salvation Army, ask parents to 
Volunteer 

  

    
Age 
0  – 64 
65 – 84 
85+ 

 
     4 
   13 
     5 

 
17% 
57% 
22% 

 
3% 

11% 
4% 

Page 50



19 
 

No response  
 

1 
 
 
 

 

4% 1% 

    
Gender 
Male 
Female 
Not say 
 

     
      7 
    16 

 

 
30% 
70% 

       
6% 

13% 

 
Ethnicity 
White                                                             
Asian/Asian British 
Black/African/Caribbean/Black 
British 
Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups 
Not say 

 
      

     15 
       1 
       7 

 
 

65% 
4% 

30% 

 
 

      12% 
         1% 

         6% 

 

  

Page 51



20 
 

 

Appendix 3 
Financial Modelling 

In-house Ladywell Day Centre Hot Meals Provision 

 
 
Labour and meals costs 
 
180 meals sold a week. Basic cost of pre-cooked 2 course meal = £3.50 (17/18 
prices) 
 
Substantive cook @ 20 hours a week (4 hours x 5 days) @ SCP 18 inc on costs 
£15,529 (£27,953 / 36 hours x 20 hours). Substantive staff cost for meal = £15,529  
 
Holiday Cover (agency) costs @ £17.65 an hour for 20 hours x 4 weeks = £ 1,412  
 
Total Labour cost = £16,941 
 
Cost per meal for labour = £16,941/ 50 working weeks/ 180 meals a week = £1.88 a 
meal. 
 
Depreciation cost of equipment = £9,800/ 5 years/ 50 working weeks/ 180 meals a 
week = 22p 
 
Total cost of meal = £3.50 + £1.88 + £0.22 = £5.60 a meal 
 
Other costs such as services and management overheads are minimal and 
contained within the existing running costs of the centre. 
 
 
Set up Capital Costs 
 

Equipment Unit Cost (Net) Overall Cost (Net) 

5 x Industrial Microwaves                          £200                       £1,000 

2 x Dishwasher                          £1,100                         £2,200 

2 x Heated Trolleys                          £1,800                       £3,600  

Kitchen Clearance                          £3,000                       £3,000  

                       Total Cost                      £ 9,800 
 

  

Page 52



21 
 

Appendix 4 
Equalities Analysis Assessment 

 

1.0 Introduction 

 
1.1 Lewisham Council has worked to increase choice, rights and inclusion for people with 

social care needs in line with government policy and legislation.  This has been 
achieved through a range of approaches including the introduction of personal 
budgets and redesign of services.  

  
1.2 Lewisham currently provides subsidised meals at Cinnamon and Cedar Courts 

(Housing & Care 21) and Ladywell Day Centres and the proposal is to remove the 
payment of subsidies paid for meals or bring a packed lunch to the day centre. 

 
1.3 The people who will be affected are users of the Ladywell Day Centre, Cinnamon- 

and Cedar- Courts Day Centres. 
 
1.4 This Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken to identify the impact of the 

reduction of the meals subsidy from the protected characteristics group. 
 
1.5 Full regard has been had to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 and proper 

regard has been had to the nature and extent of the duties owed by it. 
 
1.6 The EIA determines the likely implications of the changes and assesses whether or 

not the changes will disadvantage some groups or individuals more than others. The 
EIA addressed the following questions: 

 
Could the proposed changes affect some groups differently? 
Would the proposed changes disproportionately affect some groups more than 
others?  
Would the proposed changes promote equal opportunities? 
 

1.7 Affected service users were consulted between 5th September 2017 – 14th October 
2017 and relatives were able to express their views on the proposals. 

 
1.8 Other agencies who may have an interest in the changes, and members of the 

general public were able to comment should they so wish through the Council’s on 
line portal 

 

2.0 Assessment of Impact 

 
2.1  The tables below summarise the likely impact of the proposals to stop the subsidy to 

the cooked meals service on the specific service users at Cinnamon Court, Cedar 
Court and Ladywell day centre reflecting the protected characteristics of the people 
attending, highlighting where there may be specific implications and how any 
potential adverse impact may be mitigated against. 

 
Age 

 
The proposal to remove the meals subsidy have a greater impact on older people as 
they are the significant user group.   

Page 53



22 
 

 

Age Cinnamon % Cedar % Ladywell % 

0 - 64 -  6 13% 17 31% 

65 - 84 16 80% 19 40% 25 46% 

85  4 20% 22 46% 12 22% 

Total 20  47  54  

 

Gender 
Women make up the majority of users at the day centres and this reflects the 
demographics of an older population, due to life expectancy disparity from the age of 
80+ 

  

Gender Cinnamon % Cedar %  Ladywell % 

Men 2 10% 12 25%  24 44% 

Women 18 90% 35 75%  30 56% 

Total 20  47   54  

 

Disability  
The proposal impacts on people with a disability or health condition at all centres 
because access to the service is based on people having significant assessed needs.  
 

Disability  

Cinnamon All have a form of disability & uses a walking aid 

Cedar All have a medical condition e.g. arthritis ,registered 
blind, dementia 

Ladywell All have a medical condition, some more severe than 
others 

 

Ethnicity 
A number of culturally appropriate meals are provided at day centres and any meals 
offer will need to continue to meet the cultural preferences and needs of these 
populations 
 

Ethnicity Cinnamon % Cedar % Ladywell %  

White or White 
British 

8 40% 30 67% 22 41% 
 

 

Black or Black 
British 

11 55% 12 27% 21 39% 
 

 

Asian or Asian 
British 

1 5% 3 7% 3 5% 

 

 

Other Ethnic Group 0 0 0 0 5 9%  

Not Known 0 0 0 0 3 5%  

 
Religion and Belief 
The majority of service users declare themselves as having christian beliefs. There 
are a small number of services users from different faiths and this triangulates with 
the kinds of meals purchased currently (e.g. Halal). Any meals offer will need to 
continue to meet the cultural preferences and needs of these populations 
 

Page 54



23 
 

 

Religion/belief Cinnamon 
Court 

% Cedar 
Court 

% Ladywell % 

Christian 10 50% 28 62.22% 25 46.3% 

Islam 1 5% 1 2.22% 2 3.7% 

Hindu 1 5% 0 0 1 1.85% 

None 4 20% 3 6.67% 3 5.56% 

Unknown 4 20% 13 28.89% 23 42.59% 

 
  
Marriage and Civil Partnership 
There is no discrimination as a result of these proposals in relation to marital and civil 
partnership rights. It is noted, however, that a significant number of the service users 
are single, widowed or divorced and of that number, a significant number of people 
using the Cinnamon Court and Cedar Court services live alone. Therefore the day 
service provider and the Council should have regard to and monitor the impact of 
these proposals on those people, ensuring that their health and wellbeing is well 
supported, particularly those with no visiting relatives or other social networks. 
 

Marital Status Cinnamon 
Court 

% Cedar 
Court 

% Ladywell % 

Divorced 2 10.00% 8 19.05% 2 4.08% 

Widowed 6 30.00% 11 26.19% 12 24.49% 

Single 4 20.00% 10 23.81% 14 28.57% 

Married 8 40.00% 13 30.95% 21 42.86% 

Live Alone 11 55.00% 14 33.00% 0 0 

 

Pregnancy and Maternity 
There is no specific information on this protected characteristic discrimination as a 
result of these proposals in relation to pregnant service users or maternity conditions. 
 
Sexual Orientation 
There is no specific information on this protected characteristic discrimination as a 
result of these proposals in relation to sexual orientation 
 
Gender Reassignment 
There is no specific information on this protected characteristic discrimination as a 
result of these proposals in relation to gender reassignment 
 

3.0 Conclusion 

3.1 Some service users reflect some protected characteristics which will require 
mitigation through a culturally or belief specific meals option continuing to be 
available. Furthermore, there are a large number of single people using the hot meals 
service currently many of whom live alone, thought the most vulnerable group at 
Ladywell do not, and some of the people living alone using the Cedar Court and 
Cinnamon Court day services also use the Extra Care service to which they are 
attached and so there are generally support systems to check and ensure that people 
continue to eat well however that food is prepared and served. 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 
 
1. Summary and purpose of report.    

 
1.1 This report sets out plans to consulting on the Adult Social Care 

Charging and Financial Assessment Framework and seeks the views 
of the Healthier Communities Select Committee on the proposed 
consultation. 

    
 
2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 Members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee are invited 

to: 
 

 comment on the draft consultation plan  

 comment on the draft charging and financial assessment framework 
 

 
3. Policy Context 
 
3.1 In allocating resources to adult social care services, the Council seeks 

to ensure that those with the needs receive the community care 
services they need to maximise their independence and to enable them 
to live in their own homes in their local communities wherever possible.    

 
3.2 This supports the Sustainable Community Strategy priority of Healthy, 

active and enjoyable - where people can actively participate in 
maintaining and improving their health and well-being. 

 
3.3 It also supports the Council’s corporate priorities of: caring for adults 

and older people, working with health services to support older people 
and adults in need of care and; Inspiring efficiency, effectiveness and 
equity : ensuring efficiency and equity in the delivery of excellent 
services to meet the needs of the community. 

 
4. Charging and Financial Assessment Framework 
 
4.1 The Care Act 2014 provides a single legal framework for charging for 

care and support. Section 14 and section 17 of the Act enable local 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 

 

Report Title 
 

Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment Framework 
(consultation)  

Contributors 
 

Executive Director for Community Services  Item No. 9 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date: 1 November 2017 

Page 57

Agenda Item 9



2 

 

authorities to decide how they will charge for care and support services 
that are arranged and funded by them. The Council is required under 
the Care Act, to set out its approach to charging and financial 
assessment.   

 
4.2 In relation to charging and financial assessment, the Council adheres 

to the following national principles: 
 

a. ensure that people are not charged more than it is reasonably 

practicable for them to pay for care and support;  

b. be comprehensive - to reduce variation in the way people are 

assessed and charged;  

c. be clear and transparent - so people know what they will be 

charged;  

d. promote wellbeing, social inclusion, and support the vision of 

personalisation, independence, choice and control;  

e. support carers to look after their own health and wellbeing and to 

care effectively and safely;  

f. be client-focused - reflecting the variety of care and caring journeys 

and the variety of options available to meet their needs;  

g. apply the charging rules consistently - so those with similar needs 

or services are treated the same and minimise anomalies between 

different care settings;  

h. encourage and enable those who wish to stay in or take up 

employment, education or training, or plan for the future costs of 

meeting their needs to do so; and  

i. be sustainable for the Council in the long-term.  

 

4.3 The Draft Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment 

Framework (at Appendix A) proposes no changes to existing policy and 

practice. It is a consolidation of current policy in relation to charging 

and financial assessment into one comprehensive framework 

document.  

 

4.4 The creation of the framework stems from a desire to bring together all 

relevant policy information into one place to make it easier for people to 

find, and understand, how charges for adult social care are assessed in 

Lewisham. The framework will be routinely reviewed and updated when 

necessary eg: when Department of Health Guidance is issued in 

relation to capital limits, or if and when the Council makes a change to 

a relevant charging policy. 

 
5. Consultation  
 
5.1 Although no changes to policy are currently proposed to adult social 

care charging and financial assessment, there is a desire to ensure that 
the framework includes all of the relevant policy information to help 

Page 58



3 

 

people understand how charging and financial assessment is managed 
in Lewisham. 

 
5.2 To that end, it will be useful to get feedback on the structure of the 

framework, what is included, the level of detail, what additional policy 
information people think should be included. The framework is not 
intended to replace the various channels of information, currently 
available on the Lewisham website in a range of fact sheets, but is 
intended to be the overarching framework document that contains all of 
the relevant policy information. 
 

5.3 The following organisations will be approached directly and invited to 
respond to the consultation. 

 Health watch 

 Voluntary Action Lewisham 

 Carers Lewisham 

 Lewisham Disability Coalition 

 Age UK Lewisham and Southwark 

 Ageing Well in Lewisham 

 Lewisham Mencap 

 Centre for Independent Living Lewisham (CILL) 

 Speaking Up 

 Lewisham Talking Newspaper 

 Lewisham Pensioner’s Forum 

 Positive Ageing Council 

 Seniors (Lewisham Elders Resource Centre) 

 Deptford Action Group for the Elderly 

 Lewisham Ethnic Minority Partnership (LEMP) 

 170 Community Project's Advice Service 

 Age Exchange 

 Community Connections 
 
5.4 Officers would welcome the committee’s view on any additions to the 

list of stakeholder organisations to be approached directly. 
 
5.5 The Cabinet Office guidance on consultation states that timeframes for 

consultation should be proportionate and realistic to allow stakeholders 
sufficient time to provide a considered response. The guidance adds 
that the amount of time required will depend on the nature and impact 
of the proposal and might typically vary between two and 12 weeks.  

 
5.6 In drawing up both the process and the outline documents, officers 

have been mindful of statutory consultation requirements and of good 
practice guidance. Where appropriate, officers have followed the format 
and processes for consulting on adult social care proposals that were 
previously successfully employed.  

 
5.7 It is proposed that the consultation will be open from Friday the 3rd of 

November until Tuesday the 1st of January. This schedule provides 
opportunities for users, carers and stakeholders to express their views 

Page 59



4 

 

on the framework document and for these views to be summarised 
within the final outcome report.  

 
5.8 Once the consultation period is completed a report on the findings of 

the consultation, and the resultant final draft of the Adult Social Care 
Charging and Financial Assessment Framework, will be presented to 
this Committee in January before being presented to the Mayor for 
decision.  

 
6. Consultation Pack 
 
6.1 The information that will be included within a consultation questionnaire 

is attached at Annex B.  This will be online within the Councils 
consultation portal and will be highlighted to local stakeholders and 
advocacy organisations, alongside the full charging and financial 
assessment framework document. It will also be available in hard copy 
on request.  
 

6.2 The pack includes a brief summary of the framework and a brief 
questionnaire which individuals or organisations can complete, and 
advice on where to get support or advocacy in responding to the 
consultation.  Information will also be made available in an appropriate 
alternative format on request. 

 
 
7. Financial Implications 
 
7.1 There are no proposed changes within the charging and financial 

assessment process, therefore there are no direct financial implications 
from this report. 

 
7.2 The consultation process will seek to ensure value for money in the 

arrangements and consultation methods adopted.   All costs relating to 
the consultation will be met from the Adult Social Care and Joint 
Commissioning budgets within Community Services. The funding set 
aside includes provision to respond to individual demands, for example 
for advocacy and translation.  

 
8. Legal implications 

 
8.1 As set out above, the Care Act enables the Local Authority to charge 

for services provided, in accordance with Regulations and Guidance.  
In setting any charging framework, Local Authorities are required to 
consult both current and future potential service users, together with 
stakeholders, providing sufficient and accessible information to enable 
the proposals to be understood and a timely and reasonable response 
to be made to be considered as part of the decision- making process. 

 
 
 
9. Equalities Implications 

Page 60



5 

 

 
9.1 Where necessary, support will be provided to ensure access to the 

consultation. Information will also be made available in an appropriate 
alternative format on request. 

 
 
10. Conclusion 
 
10.1 The consultation plans seek to follow statutory guidance and good 

practice.    
 
10.2 Comments from Committee Members are invited on the plans for 

consultation.  
 
 
For further information on this report please contact Robert Mellors, Group 
Finance Manager Community Services on 02083146628 
 
 
 
Appendix A – Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework 
 
Appendix B – Consultation Pack 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

Lewisham Council  

 

 

 

Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment 

Framework 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT November 2017 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 63



 

2 | P a g e  
 

Contents 

Contents .................................................................................................................................................. 2 

1 Introduction and principles ............................................................................................................. 3 

2 Guiding principles ........................................................................................................................... 3 

3 Legal Basis for Charging .................................................................................................................. 4 

4 Charging .......................................................................................................................................... 5 

5 Financial Assessment ...................................................................................................................... 6 

6 Management of Charges ................................................................................................................. 9 

7 How the Contribution is calculated .............................................................................................. 10 

8 Charging and Financial Assessment of Non-Residential Services ................................................. 13 

9 Charging and Financial Assessment of Residential Services ......................................................... 15 

10 Deprivation of Assets ................................................................................................................ 28 

11 Charging for Support to Carers ................................................................................................. 29 

12 Pension Reforms ....................................................................................................................... 29 

13 Methods of Payment and Debt Recovery ................................................................................. 30 

14 Review of Financial Assessment ............................................................................................... 31 

15 Complaints ................................................................................................................................ 32 

16 Use of Financial Information and Privacy ................................................................................. 32 

17 Equality Impact ......................................................................................................................... 33 

18 Reviewing the Contributions Guidance .................................................................................... 33 

19 Phasing of changes .................................................................................................................... 33 

Appendix [A]: Choice of Accommodation and Additional Payments ................................................... 33 

Appendix [B]: Treatment of Capital ...................................................................................................... 41 

Appendix [C]: Treatment of Income ..................................................................................................... 57 

Appendix [D]: Household Related Expenditure (HRE) .......................................................................... 61 

Appendix [E]: Disability Related Expenditure (DRE) ............................................................................. 62 

Appendix [F]: Deferred payments ......................................................................................................... 64 

Appendix [G]: Ways to Pay ................................................................................................................... 66 

 

 
 
 
  

Page 64



 

3 | P a g e  
 

1 Introduction and principles 

 

1.1 Social care and support services are not generally free of charge - people have always 

had to pay a contribution towards the cost of their care if they can afford to do so.  The 

Care Act 2014 provides a single legal framework for charging for care and support. 

Section 14 and section 17 of the Act enables local authorities to decide how they will 

charge for care and support services that are arranged and funded by them. Income 

received from care charges helps the council to meet its statutory funding 

commitments and set a balanced budget.  It also helps to protect, develop and extend 

care and support services to ensure that high quality services are available to meet 

the needs of adults in the local authority’s area. 

 

1.2 Lewisham Council’s ‘Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment 

Framework’ has been designed to comply with The Care Act 2014 and relevant 

regulations and statutory guidance.  This framework will be reviewed regularly, and 

any changes agreed by the Council will be reflected in an updated document. The main 

aim is to produce a consistent and fair framework for charging and financial 

assessment for all service users who receive care and support services, following an 

assessment of their individual needs, and their individual financial circumstances.  
 

1.3 For the purposes of this policy, an adult is a client aged 18 and above. Section 14 of 

the Care Act 2014 gives the Council the power to charge adults for care and support. 

This applies where adults are being provided with care and support to meet needs 

identified under section 18, section 19 or section 20 of the Care act 2014. 

 

1.4 Lewisham Council will refer to Care and Support Regulations (Statutory Instruments) 

and Care and Support Statutory Guidance and Appendices issued under The Care Act 

2014, in all regards for specific guidance relating to charging and financial assessment, 

and as such, these statutory regulations form the basis of this policy.  
 
1.5 Further, more detailed information on financial assessment calculations, including the 

current capital limits are available on the Council’s internet site 
(www.lewisham.gov.uk), and on request and are also included within the appendices 
of this document. 

 
 

2 Guiding principles  

 
2.1 The Council believes it is important that people pay the contribution to their care costs 

that they are responsible for.  The Council adheres to the following National principles: 
 

a. ensure that people are not charged more than it is reasonably practicable for 
them to pay for care and support;  

b. be comprehensive - to reduce variation in the way people are assessed and 
charged;  

c. be clear and transparent - so people know what they will be charged;  
d. promote wellbeing, social inclusion, and support the vision of personalisation, 

independence, choice and control;  
e. support carers to look after their own health and wellbeing and to care effectively 

and safely;  

Page 65



 

4 | P a g e  
 

f. be client-focused - reflecting the variety of care and caring journeys and the 
variety of options available to meet their needs;  

g. apply the charging rules consistently - so those with similar needs or services are 
treated the same and minimise anomalies between different care settings;  

h. encourage and enable those who wish to stay in or take up employment, 
education or training, or plan for the future costs of meeting their needs to do so; 
and  

i. be sustainable for the Council in the long-term.  
 

2.2 The Council will seek to maximise income from those able to contribute to the cost 
services to maximise the budget available to fund the care of those who are less well 
off financially. 
 

2.3 Where the Council arranges care and support to meet your needs, it will charge you, 
except where the Council is required to arrange care and support free of charge.  

 
2.4 Alongside this, the Council will endeavour to ensure there is sufficient information and 

advice available in a suitable format for your needs, in line with the Equality Act 2010 
(in particular for those with a sensory impairment, with learning disabilities or for whom 
English is not their first language), to ensure that you or your representative are able 
to understand any contributions you are asked to make.  

 
2.5 Section 4 (1) of the Care Act 2014 requires the Council to establish and maintain a 

service for providing people in the area with information and advice in relation to care 
and/or support for adults and carers. In Lewisham this service is provided via the 
Council Website (www.lewisham.gov.uk) Carers Lewisham, Lewisham advice Finder 
and the  Social Care Advice and Information Team (SCAIT). The Council will also make 
you or your representative aware of the availability of independent financial information 
and advice, when required.  

 
 

3 Legal Basis for Charging  

 
3.1 The Care Act 2014 provides a legal framework for charging for care and support. The 

detail of how to charge varies depending on whether someone is receiving care in a 
care home or in their own home or in another setting.  
 

3.2 The Act, together with the supporting regulations and statutory guidance, sets out a 

framework model for charging people whose eligible needs are met within a care 

home setting and in settings other than care homes.  These form the basis of the 

Council’s charging policy, except where the Council exercises its discretionary 

powers.  The Council will also refer in its financial assessment determinations to best 

practice guidance produced by the National Association of Financial Assessment 

Officers. 

3.3 Section 14 of the Care Act 2014 gives the Council the power to charge adults where 
they are being provided with care and support to meet their needs. These needs are 
sometimes referred to as ‘identified needs’ or ‘eligible needs’.  
 

3.4 The Council must follow the regulations and guidance issued under the Care Act 2014. 
For example, in developing policies on charging and financial assessment, Councils 
must take note of the following documents:  
 

 ‘The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 

Page 66

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/


 

5 | P a g e  
 

2014’, which set out:  
o the power to charge for certain types of care and support;  
o the duty under section 17 of the Care Act to carry out a financial 

assessment if a council’s policy is to charge for care and support;  
o rules on the treatment and calculation of income and capital within a 

financial assessment (including notional income and notional capital 
where a person has deliberately deprived themselves of an asset);  

o rules on minimum allowances to be given within a financial assessment; 
o the power to charge costs of putting arrangements into place in specific 

situations  
 

 The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources)( Amendment)  
Regulations 2017’ which amend paragraph 17 of the 2014  Care and Support 
(Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations. 

 ‘The Care and Support and Aftercare (Choice of Accommodation) Regulations 
2014’ which set out the rules on the provision of an individual’s preferred 
accommodation.  

 ‘The Care and Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014’ which set out the 
rules on when a council must, or is permitted to, enter into a Deferred Payment 
Agreement with an individual, for deferring part of their ongoing care and support 
costs. The Regulations also set out a council’s power to charge interest and 
administration costs of running the Deferred Payment Scheme.  

 The Care and Support (Preventing Needs of Care and Support) Regulations 
2014 which relates to the Council’s general duty to provide services which will 
prevent, delay or reduce the care and/or support needs of adults within their area. 
The charging and assessment regulations do not apply to these services.  

 ‘Care and Support statutory guidance issued by the Department of Health 
provides advice to councils on all aspects of the Care Act 2014, including 
‘Charging and Financial Assessment’ (Chapter 8 and Chapter 9) and associated 
Annexes.  

 
3.5 The Care Act 2014 also introduced a cap on care costs which limits how much people 

will pay toward their care and support needs over their lifetime. The cap is due to be 
introduced in 2020 and this framework will be updated and amended accordingly.  

 
 

4 Charging 

 
4.1 This framework and guidance applies to the following:  
 

a. Residential / Nursing / short term respite care  
b. Supported accommodation 
c. Shared Lives  
d. Home and domiciliary care services (including extra care)  
e. Day care, day care activities and day opportunities excluding transport, if 

provided 
f. Any care packages through Personal Budgets or Direct Payments 
g. Telecare/assistive technology provided following a care assessment 
h. One-off services: e.g., intensive house cleaning  
i. Telephone line rental and TV licences. However, this would be charged at cost 

unless exceptional hardship could be demonstrated  
 
4.2 The following services are charged at a standard flat rate and are not subject to a 

financial assessment:  

Page 67



 

6 | P a g e  
 

 
a. Funerals provided under the duty set out under the Section 46 Public Health 

(Control of Disease) Act 1984 as this will be charged in accordance with the 
relevant protocol.  

b. Day services or additional Adult Social Care services provided to those also 
accommodated by the Council in residential placements. 

c. Reasonable costs incurred by the Council for providing protection of property.  
d. The costs incurred by the Council or any of its officers in connection with an 

application to the Court of Protection for deputyship or any expenses incurred in 
the exercise of its functions, save as where these are recoverable from an 
alternative source. 

e. Telecare/ assistive technology purchased by individuals who have not been 
assessed as requiring the service but who wish to purchase it via the Council at 
full cost.  

 

4.3 As set out in Section 14 of The Care Act 2014, there are a number of circumstances 

in which people will not be asked to contribute towards their care or support cost. 

These include:  

 

a. Assessments of need and care planning 

b. Any service or part of service which the National Health Service (NHS) is under 

a duty to provide, including Continuing Healthcare and the NHS contribution to 

Registered Nursing Care.  

c. Intermediate Care - including enablement - which offers a short period of 

intensive therapies and support from health and social care professionals to 

help people promote or regain their independence. Up to six weeks of non-

chargeable support is available here, with charges beginning from the seventh 

week if support is still required.  

d. Community equipment and minor adaptations - small items of equipment or 

gadgets or small modifications designed to help you stay active and carry out 

everyday tasks without help from others.  

e. Care and support provided to people with Creutzfeldt-Jacob Disease.  

f. After-care services and support provided under section 117 of the Mental 

Health Act 1983.   

g. Carer services provided directly to carers to meet carers identified needs. 

h. ‘Preventative’ services provided directly by the Council to prevent or delay care 

needs becoming more serious (for example training to self-manage a health 

condition, or stress-management training for carers).   

 

4.4 Examples (not an exhaustive list) of exempt support are stated below: 

 

a. Provision of information, advice, and guidance about the availability of service  

b. Provision of assessment, including assessment of care needs  

 
 

5 Financial Assessment  

 
5.1 The Council has a duty under Section 17 of the Care Act to carry out a financial 

assessment (if an assessment of need has been carried out) and exercises its 
discretion to charge for services. The Council will positively seek to complete a 

Page 68



 

7 | P a g e  
 

financial assessment for you as soon as possible unless: 
 

 You are exempt as described under Section 4 of this document  

 You choose not to be financially assessed. (NB if you choose not to be 
financially assessed you will be required to pay the full costs of support 
provided). 
 

5.2 There are different routes where you may come into contact with Adult Social Services, 
and a financial assessment will be undertaken at the earliest possible opportunity. At 
the point of your enquiry regarding either the eligibility of access to services or during 
the initial discussion with social workers of the same, high level information regarding 
finances and representation will be requested so that you can be assessed and 
advised of the potential contribution you may need to make. 
 

5.3 If you come to us via the enablement service initially: a financial assessment will be 
requested by the social worker/care manager as soon as an ongoing package of care 
is deemed appropriate  

 
5.4 If you come into contact with us in any other way: as soon as the social worker/care 

manager identifies a need for a package of care they will request a financial 
assessment 

 
5.5 Annual Review: at either the start of the new financial year or the annual review date, 

a new financial assessment will be sent to you. The onus is upon you to either validate 
the information provided, or to provide correct financial information. The Council may 
interpret a failure to return a fully completed and signed financial assessment as a 
refusal to provide information which will result in you being required to pay the full costs 
of services provided. Where  possible, social work staff or direct payments team staff 
will contact you to identify any difficulties you are having responding to the request for 
up to date financial information. 
 

5.6 The financial assessment team will gather financial data wherever possible from data 
held by the Department for Work and Pensions, Housing Benefits and/or Council tax 
departments. They will also take notice of any financial information you shared during 
the initial care need discussion with social work staff. 

 
5.7 Where further evidence and/or information is required to complete an assessment, a 

financial assessment officer will liaise directly with you or your named representative 
as appropriate. 

 
5.8 The financial assessment team will undertake a full benefits check and signpost you 

or your representative, in writing, to apply for benefits you might be entitled to claim. 
 
5.9 During the care needs assessment process, the practitioner or support worker may 

also advise that you may have to pay a contribution towards the costs of your care and 
support, subject to a financial assessment. 

 
5.10 If you opt for a direct payment instead of a commissioned service, any payments 

towards care and support costs may be made net of your contributions.  
 
5.11 Any assessed contribution you have to make will not exceed the full cost of care and 

support, or reduce your income to below the minimum income guarantee (MIG) which 
currently is equivalent to Income Support plus a buffer of 25%. 

 

Page 69



 

8 | P a g e  
 

5.12 If you choose to have social care support commissioned by Lewisham Council, this 
will result in an invoice being issued. You will receive one itemised invoice for all 
support received. For example if  you receive homecare and daycare you will receive 
one invoice for both services. 
 

5.13 Following the financial assessment, you will be informed if you are considered as able 

to self-fund your care costs, or of the weekly amount you must contribute based on 

your financial circumstances. You will not be charged more than the amount 

determined by the financial assessment, or the actual cost of your services if you can 

self-fund your care and support costs. Contributions are normally payable from the 

date care commences.  

 

5.14 If you only receive income support (i.e. you do not also get Attendance Allowance or 

Disability Living Allowance or Personal Independence Payment) you will be financially 

assessed but will usually pay nothing, but you must inform the Council immediately if 

your financial circumstances change so a reassessment can be undertaken. If your 

financial circumstances change, and leads to you being able to pay towards your care 

costs, you will be liable for the relevant weekly charge from the date of the change, 

regardless of when the Council was informed of the change.  
 
 

‘Light-touch’ Financial Assessments  
 
5.15 The Care Act 2014 introduces the concept of “light touch” financial assessments in the 

situations set out in statutory guidance. The guidance states that in some 
circumstances a local authority may choose to treat a person as if a financial 
assessment had been carried out. In order to do so, the local authority must be 
satisfied on the basis of evidence provided by you that you can afford, and will continue 
to be able to afford, any charges due. This allows Councils where possible, to 
undertake financial assessments by accessing Department for Work and Pensions 
information or through telephone discussion rather than visiting to verify financial 
information or by implementing low flat rate charges   

 
5.16 The main circumstances in which the Council will consider carrying out a light-touch 

financial assessment are:  
 

 If you have significant financial resources, and do not wish to undergo a full 
financial assessment for personal reasons, but wish nonetheless to access the 
Councils support in meeting your needs. In these situations the Council may 
accept other evidence in lieu of carrying out the financial assessment and consider 
the  to have significant financial resources that would result in the person paying 
full cost for their care and support.  
 

 Where the Council charges a small or nominal amount for a particular service 
which you would clearly both be able to meet and would have the relevant 
minimum income left, and carrying out a financial assessment would be 
disproportionate.  

 

 If you are in receipt of benefits which demonstrate that you would not be able to 
contribute towards your care and support costs. This might include income from 
Jobseeker’s Allowance.  

 

Page 70



 

9 | P a g e  
 

5.17 Ways the Council may be satisfied that you are able to afford any charges due might 
include evidence that you have:  

 

 property clearly worth more than the upper capital limit when in a care home, 
where you are the sole owner or it is clear what your share is;  
 

 savings clearly worth more than the upper capital limit when in a care home; or, 
 

 sufficient income and tariff income from savings available to pay the charge due.  
 

5.18 DWP information further supported by Housing Benefit and Council tax systems 
collection will form the initial basis of undertaking light-touch financial assessments  

 
5.19 Where it has not been possible to undertake a light touch assessment through the 

DWP, Housing Benefits or Council Tax system, or information exists which suggests 
a full assessment is necessary, the financial assessment team will contact you/your 
representative to verify contribution. The Council can decide to carry at its discretion 
to carry out a full financial assessment.  

 
5.20 Where the Council is going to meet your care and support needs, and it proposes to 

undertake a light-touch financial assessment, the Council will take steps to assure itself 
that you are willing, and will continue to be willing, to pay all charges due. The Council 
has the responsibility for ensuring that you are not charged more than it is reasonable 
for you to pay. If you do not agree to the charges that you have been assessed as 
being able to afford, a full financial assessment may be needed.  

 
5.21 When deciding whether or not to undertake a light-touch financial assessment, the 

Council will consider both the level of the charge it proposes to make, as well as the 
evidence or other certification you are able to provide. The Council will also inform you 
when a light-touch assessment has taken place and make clear that you have the right 
to request a full financial assessment should you so wish, as well the option of seeking 
independent financial information and advice.  

 

5.22 If you have capital in excess of the higher capital limit, you can request a ‘light-touch’ 

financial assessment. In carrying out financial assessments the Council will ensure 

that you retain at least the ‘Minimum Income Guarantee.’ This retained income level is 

designed to promote independence and social inclusion and is intended to cover basic 

needs such as purchasing food, and housing costs. Direct housing costs will only be 

considered where you are liable for such costs, i.e. you hold the tenancy agreement 

or are party to the mortgage. The ‘Minimum Income Guarantee’ ensures that you retain 

income to the equivalent of Income Support or the Guaranteed Credit element of 

Pension Credit, plus a minimum buffer of 25%.  
 
 

6 Management of Charges  

 
6.1 Under the Care Act the Council has the power to charge from the moment it starts to 

meet your care and support needs. The Council will notify you of the outcome of their 
financial assessment, in writing, within 5 working days of receipt of a fully completed 
pre-service referral being received from adult social care staff. Once the financial 
assessment team receive appropriate confirmation from adult social care staff that the 
care package has been agreed and implemented: the financial assessment will be 

Page 71



 

10 | P a g e  
 

backdated to the day the care and support started.  

 

6.2 It is the responsibility of you or your representative to advise the Council of any change 
in your financial circumstances as this may prompt a review of your contribution. 

 

6.3 Any increase in contributions due to an award, benefit increase, increase in other 
income or amount of capital held will take effect from the date of change in 
circumstances.  

 

6.4 In the event of a reduction of income or benefit received, any amendment to the 
assessed contribution will take effect from the date of the change in circumstances, 
provided the council is advised in writing with appropriate supporting evidence of the 
change within two weeks of the change occurring. 

 

6.5 Billing for your assessed contribution will be at 4 weekly intervals  

 

6.6 If you have a suspension in your non-residential services (for example because of a 

hospital stay) you may be entitled to receive a reduction to your assessed charge 

depending on the suspension duration. This may not be the case if you are in receipt 

of a Direct Payment and are purchasing services whilst in hospital. 

6.7 Any deviation from the timings above, whatever the reason, shall not invalidate the 
contribution due but will be taken into account if there is a dispute and/or arrears on 
the account.  

 
6.8 If you do not disclose financial information at the point of request; it will result in you 

being charged the full cost of your care and support. If at a later date the financial 
information is provided, any revision to the assessed charge may only be effective from 
the date of disclosure and may not be backdated, at the discretion of the council. 

 
6.9 Failure to inform the Council of additional income received eg additional benefits or 

inheritance that would result in an increase in the charges made, will lead to a 
backdated charge to the point of when the additional income was received.  

 
6.10 You have the right to choose not to provide your financial details to the Council. In such 

cases, the Council is unable to undertake a financial assessment, and you will be 
charged for the full cost of support you receive.  

 
 

7 How the Contribution is calculated  

 
7.1 When the Council assesses your ability to pay a contribution towards the cost of your 

support, it ensures that you maintain a portion of their income that is at least the level 
of basic living allowance (the Minimum Income Guarantee as outlined at 5.22) if you 
are receiving a non-residential service or Personal Expenses Allowance (PEA) if you 
are in a care home. 

 
7.2 The maximum contribution you can be asked to make per week to your care and 

support costs is calculated using financial information received from you and other 
information available to the Council. The calculation will take account of all relevant 
income and capital. Your assessed weekly charge will usually be the lower of your 
maximum contribution and the cost of the service.  

Page 72



 

11 | P a g e  
 

 
7.3 The income that will be taken into account includes: 

 all the benefits you receive  (except those listed in paragraph 7.12 below),  

 state pension, 

 occupational pensions, 

 any other income 
 

7.4 Full details of the treatment of income for financial assessment purposes is outlined 

at Appendix C. 

 

7.5 The lower Capital savings limit is currently £14,250. Capital below this limit will be 

disregarded in the financial assessment if you live in your own home or in a care 

home. The upper capital limit is £23,250. The council will apply this upper limit to your 

assessment if you are living in a care home. The capital limits will be revised in line 

with Department of Health advice. Full details of the treatment of capital for financial 

assessment purposes is set out in Appendix B. 

 
7.6 Savings between the lower threshold (£14,250) and the upper threshold (£23,250) will 

attract a surcharge of £1 per week for each £250 (or part of £250) to calculate your 
notional income from the savings. For example, if you have savings of £17,250 the 
notional income from that would be £12 per week, this is calculated as follows: 

 £17,250 minus £14,250 (= £3,000) divided by £250 (= £12)  
 This is known as tariff income. 
 
7.7 Capital includes but is not restricted to any savings in bank or building society 

accounts; National Savings bank accounts; PEP, ISA or TESSA accounts; SAYE 
(Save as You Earn) schemes; cash; Premium Bonds or National Savings Certificates; 
stocks, shares, trust funds and investments in property, building and land (rental 
income will be included); or where someone else is holding any of these on your behalf. 

 
7.8 If there are joint savings with a spouse or partner, 50% of the total amount will be taken 

into account unless you or your representative can prove that the holding percentages 
are different. 

 
7.9 When calculating your maximum contribution for non-residential care, the value of your 

main residence occupied by you will be ignored. However, if the property is 
subsequently sold, the proceeds of sale will be subject to financial assessment. If you 
own a second property, 100% of the beneficial value will be taken into account. The 
maximum contribution you will have to make will be the full cost of care.  

 
7.10 When calculating the maximum contribution for residential care, your beneficial interest 

in all property will be taken into consideration for the purposes of a financial 
assessment. However, the main dwelling will be disregarded only if one or more of the 
following are resident in that property and has been continuously occupied by them 
since before you went into residential care:  

 

 your current or , former partner or civil partner except where you are estranged  

 a lone parent who is your estranged or divorced partner and who is caring for 
a child/children under 18 

 your children under 18 years of age 

 an immediate relative aged 60 or over  

 a relative who is incapacitated  

Page 73



 

12 | P a g e  
 

 
7.11 You will be assessed in your own right, and the income of your carer, parent, partner, 

or spouse will not be taken into account  
 
7.12 There are some forms of income which are partly or wholly disregarded and do not 

form part of the financial assessment. These include but are not limited to:  
 

 The mobility component of Disability Living Allowance;  

 War pension or £10 of war widow’s pension;  

 Survivors Guaranteed Income Payments (GIPs) made under the Armed Forces 
Compensation Scheme (AFCS)  

 Child benefit and child tax credit  

 The part of Attendance Allowance (AA), Disability Living Allowance (care 
component) (DLA), Constant Attendance Allowance (CAA) and Exceptional 
Severe Disability Allowance (ESDA) that covers care at night where the council 
purchases no element of night care. 

 Working tax credit  

 Savings credit disregard  

 ex gratia payments made to former Far Eastern prisoners of war 

 Payments made under the Vaccine Damage Payment  

 Compensation from personal injuries awards are disregarded for assessment 
purposes for a period of 52 weeks, with the exception of any part of the award 
provided to meet care costs. There are specific circumstances under which 
these compensation payments are fully disregarded for assessment purposes 
and it will not always be possible to ask recipients of these awards to make a 
contribution. Where you are in receipt of compensation for personal injuries, 
your contribution will be considered on a ‘case by case’ basis. But if you are 
unwilling to disclose the terms of any compensation payment then they will be 
assessed at full cost  

 
7.13 If you receive care in your own home, all costs incurred directly for your housing costs, 

mortgage, rent or Council Tax (net of related benefits) will be deducted from the 
relevant income, before calculating the maximum contribution you need to make to 
your care. If you are in residential care with a property which has been taken into 
account for assessment purposes, you will be expected to pay for the mortgage, 
insurance, maintenance and upkeep of the property from your personal allowance. 
Anyone living in the property will be expected to contribute their share. Further 
consideration will be given to assessments where you are in residential care but you 
were previously the sole or main breadwinner.  

 
7.14 Disability Related Expenses (DRE) – this will be considered when there are extra 

costs to meet your specific need due to a condition or disability where you have little 
or no choice other than to incur the expenditure, in order to maintain independence or 
quality of life. Examples of types of expenditure which can be considered are included 
in Appendix B: Disability-Related Expenditure, however it is to be noted that this list is 
not exhaustive. The Council will disregard these costs from any income where it is 
satisfied that the cost has been incurred by you as a direct result of your disability, and 
it is not reasonable for a lower cost alternative item or service to be used. Receipts 
and other evidence of expenditure may be requested. We will only consider 
expenditure where the service/item has been incurred by a recognised/qualified 
provider. DRE will be assessed on a case by case basis. 

 
7.15 In addition to the above, if your expenditure related to night care exceeds the level of 

the night care element of Attendance Allowance, Disability Living Allowance, Personal 

Page 74



 

13 | P a g e  
 

Independence Payment, Constant Attendance Allowance or Exceptional Severe 
Disability Allowance, any such excess amount would be taken into full consideration 
upon application and appropriate evidence of that expense. Full details are set out in 
Appendix E. 
 

7.16 Non-disability related expenses – the calculation of your maximum contribution will 
take into account such expenses as referred to in the Care Act 2014 Statutory 
Guidance. Some expenses − for example, household content insurances, water rates, 
etc. − are deemed to be afforded by you from your prescribed protected income. The 
Council will seek to allow additional costs, together with other essential expenses, such 
as service charges and ground rent that owner occupiers incur if you are not receiving 
related benefits to cover those costs. Essential expenses may include home 
maintenance (where this is not provided by a third party e.g. landlord or council and 
required for your health and safety (e.g. electrical, heating system repairs, home 
accessibility) and payments under court order (e.g. child maintenance)  

 
7.17 Dependants: The calculation of your maximum contribution will take into account the 

financial implications if you have dependent children up to 18 years of age or for whom 
you provide maintenance payments. In exceptional circumstances, regarding 
dependant adults ( e.g. those in full time education, post 18 and who remain resident 
at the your home or  reside temporarily elsewhere during term-term),  you will be 
required to evidence all financial support provided, as well as evidence that the 
dependant relative has utilised all alternative funding support.  

 
7.18 Your assessable income is worked out by adding together all identified weekly 

income and then subtracting;  

 any appropriate housing costs;  

 any income that must be disregarded in accordance with the Care Act 
2014 Statutory Guidance;  

 any disability-related expenditure; and  

 the minimum income guarantee (MIG)  

 
7.19 The result of that calculation is your assessable income. The maximum that you 

could be asked to contribute each week will be the lower of the assessable income 
and the full cost of the support being received. A breakdown of how the contribution 
has been calculated will be provided to you. 

  
 

8 Charging and Financial Assessment of Non-Residential Services  

 

8.1 If you require care and support in your own home or other community settings you 

must initially satisfy an eligibility assessment.  

 

8.2 The Council will charge for care and support delivered in your home and other 

community settings. Only where you have an eligible need will a financial assessment 

be required.  
 

8.3 Almost all non-residential community based services fall within the scope of this policy 

and include:  

 Home Care  

 Supported Living/Housing  

Page 75



 

14 | P a g e  
 

 Extra Care  

 Sitting Services  

 Shared Lives Service  

 Day Care services/activities, both building based and in the community  

 Respite  

 Enablement service after first 6 weeks  

 Housing related support services, housework etc.  

 Shopping services  

 Direct Payments  

 Outreach  

 Joint funded services – service users will be required to contribute towards the 

total cost of the services provided by the Council  
 

8.4 Meals in day centres are outside of the scope of the financial assessment since such 

meals are considered a substitute for ordinary living costs. 
 

8.5 If you receive care and support that is likely to be ongoing you will have your costs 

administered through a personal budget. A personal budget is the total amount of 

money we assess will be needed to meet your eligible care and support needs. A 

personal budget includes the amount you can contribute towards the cost and the 

amount of funding support that the local authority will provide. Personal budgets may 

also contain funding towards care and support costs from the NHS.  

 

8.6 If you have an eligible on-going care and support need, the Council will calculate how 

much your personal budget might be, using its Resource Allocation System (RAS). 

This ‘guide’ amount is known as the ‘indicative budget’. Once the indicative budget is 

calculated, the care and support planning and authorisation process, taking into 

account your views and your agreed social care outcomes, will determine the final 

personal budget required.   
 
8.7 You might choose varied forms of care and support to meet your specific desired 

outcomes, as defined in your care and support plan.  

8.8 If you are not self-funding your care and support costs you will have the option to take 

a personal budget as Council commissioned services, as a direct payment, or a 

combination of both. If you take your personal budget as a direct payment you may 

purchase alternative types of care to meet your assessed care and support needs as 

defined in Sections 31 to 33 of The Care Act 2014.  
 

8.9 The Council publishes guidance that sets out the criteria for care and support being 

managed through Direct Payments. This information is available on the Council 

website at www.lewisham.gov.uk , or on request in a leaflet format.  
 

8.10 If you receive your care and support costs through direct payments you will usually 

receive payments every four weeks in advance. These payments will reflect the agreed 

weekly budget, less your financially assessed contribution.  At the Council’s discretion 

some Direct Payments will be paid including the financially assessed contribution, and 

invoices will be raised for the contribution.  

Page 76

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/


 

15 | P a g e  
 

 

8.11 Direct Payments will not be made to anyone self-funding their care and support costs 

unless this is agreed as an ‘exceptional circumstance’ case by Council officers. The 

reason for this is that in such a case the Council would be paying the Direct Payment 

amount, and then invoicing you to recover this same amount, which is administratively 

burdensome.   
 

8.12 As a minimum, your assessed contribution will be reviewed on an annual basis and 

you will be advised when this is taking place; this date is typically in line with the 

increase in state benefits and is at the beginning of April each year. Changes to 

circumstances may also lead to a new financial assessment being undertaken. If 

requested by you, your contribution can be reviewed, and if you feel it necessary you 

can request a further review of the financial assessment decision. Such a request 

would need to be supported with evidence showing why you believe an error or 

omission has occurred within the financial assessment calculation.  
 
8.13 The review procedure is fair and equitable. You will be given an explanation for any 

decisions made, and a chance to provide further information if relevant to the 
financial assessment. 

 
 

9 Charging and Financial Assessment of Residential Services  

 

Permanent admission to a care home  

9.1 If you have care and support needs identified that can only be met in a care home, you 

will need to pay towards your accommodation fees in the care home.  

 If your capital assets (such as savings and investments) are above the upper 

capital limit, you will need to pay the full cost of your care home fees – usually 

directly to the care home. 

  

 If your capital assets are below the upper capital limit, we will carry out a 

financial assessment with you to work out how much you can afford to pay 

towards your care home fees. This is called an ‘Assessed Weekly Charge’.  
 

 If you own a property, or a part of a property, or have a beneficial interest in a 

property, there are rules around whether this is counted within your capital 

assets or disregarded. See Appendix B Treatment of Capital for further details. 
 

 If your care home placement is partially funded through NHS Funded Nursing 

Care, you will not need to pay towards the costs of your nursing care, but the 

care costs will be taken into account in the financial assessment. 

Exceptions to being charged  

9.2 You will not be charged :  

 If your care home placement is an ‘After-care’ support service provided under 

section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983, you will not need to have a financial 

Page 77



 

16 | P a g e  
 

assessment as you will be exempt from charges.  

  

 If your care home placement is fully paid for by the NHS through Continuing 

Healthcare, you will not need a financial assessment as that care and support 

is provided free by the NHS. 

 
9.3 Enablement services are provided free of charge for up to the first six weeks. Any 

services following enablement that are arranged by the council are chargeable in line 
with this charging policy document, and any enablement service still being received 
beyond six weeks will be chargeable from the beginning of the seventh week.  
 

If you are responsible for the full cost of care home fees   

9.4 If your identified needs indicate that you need to live permanently in a care home and 

your savings/investments (excluding your former home) are well above the Upper 

Capital Limit, we will arrange advice and support to help you choose a suitable care 

home that will meet your needs.  

9.5 Some important things to consider when choosing a suitable care home are:  

 find out from the care home what would happen if your savings/investments fell 

to the upper capital limit – for example – would that care home accept local 

authority payment rates or would they ask you to nominate someone to pay a 

Third Party Top Up? (This is an additional payment to make up any shortfall, 

paid by someone other than you). If you don’t have anyone willing and able to 

pay a Third Party Top Up, and it is possible that your savings/investments may 

reduce over time to the upper capital limit, you should choose a care home that 

will accept local authority rates.  

 

 You would be responsible for paying the full care home fees directly to the 

provider of the care home accommodation. If you are eligible for an NHS 

contribution towards Registered Nursing Care (in a nursing home), your care 

home will reduce the level of your fees by the amount of funding they receive 

from the NHS.  
 

 While you are responsible for paying the full costs of your care home fees 

(excluding any fees that the NHS covers), you are likely to be entitled to receive 

Attendance Allowance (if you are aged 65 or over) or Disability Living 

Allowance (Care Component) or Personal Independence Payment (Daily 

Living Component). These benefit payments will help go towards meeting your 

care home fees. More information on these benefits can be found on the 

www.gov.uk website.  
 

 It is important to seek independent financial information and advice so that you 

can make informed decisions about how to manage your financial resources. 

We can help you to access independent financial information and advice.  
 

 If, over time, your savings/investments reduce to approach the Upper Capital 

Page 78



 

17 | P a g e  
 

Limit, you should contact the local authority where you live to request a care 

assessment and ask for help with your care home costs. The local authority will 

also review your care and support needs at that time to make sure that the care 

home still meets your identified needs.  

 
Working out your Assessed Weekly Charge for your care home  

9.6 If your capital resources are below the Upper Capital Limit, and you don’t own any 

property or capital, we will carry out a full financial assessment of your income and 

capital assets to work out your ‘assessed weekly charge’ for your care home 

accommodation. We use national rules to do this called ‘Care and Support 

(Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014’ which are issued under section 17 of 

the Care Act 2014.  

9.7 If you have chosen to move to a care home that is more expensive than the care homes 

that we have identified to meet your needs, you will need to identify a person who is 

willing and able to make top-up payments – to make up the shortfall. This is called a 

Third Party Top-Up.  

 
How we work out your Assessed Weekly Charge  

 

9.8 The calculation of your Assessed Weekly Charge for your care home is shown as 

below, and may include the following where applicable: 

Regarded weekly Income  

+ ‘tariff income’ on savings/investments  

- Personal Expenses Allowance  

- Savings Disregard (where this applies)  

- Allowable expenses (where these apply)  

= Assessed Weekly Charge  

Regarded Weekly Income: is the amount of income you receive that is included in 

your financial assessment. Your income is converted to a weekly figure in the financial 

assessment. We use the national rules set out in The Care and Support (Charging and 

Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 and The Care and Support Statutory 

Guidance: Annex C: Treatment of Income when working out how much of your income 

should be regarded in your financial assessment for permanent care home 

accommodation.  

Tariff Income on savings / investments: is a weekly amount calculated from capital 

assets (such as savings and investments) that are not disregarded. The weekly 

amount is added to your regarded income in your financial assessment. The way in 

which ‘tariff income is calculated is shown in Appendix B – Capital Limits Schedule We 

use the national rules set out in The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of 

Resources) Regulations 2014 and The Care and Support Statutory Guidance: Annex 

Page 79



 

18 | P a g e  
 

B: Treatment of Capital when working out how much of your capital (such as savings 

and investments), should be regarded in your financial assessment for permanent care 

home accommodation.  

Personal Expenses Allowance: Your financial assessment will always make sure 

you are left with an amount for you to use for your day-to-day personal expenses in 

the care home. There is a standard amount for this Personal Expenses Allowance set 

out in The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 

2014 which is reviewed each year by the Government.  

Savings Disregard: If you are aged 65 or over, and you are in permanent residential 

accommodation and have more than a basic pension income, or savings, you may be 

given an additional allowance called a ‘Savings Disregard’ allowance. This is 

calculated using the national rules set out in The Care and Support (Charging and 

Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014.  

Other specified allowances   

 The rules allow councils discretion to increase the Personal Expenses 

Allowance where it would not be appropriate to leave a person with only the 

standard Personal Expenses Allowance. For example – a person with a 

dependent child.  

 

 In certain situations, allowances for continuing home commitments (for 

example, where committed costs on previous accommodation need to be paid 

for a period of time).  
 

 If you enter into a Deferred Payment Agreement with us, your Personal 

Expenses Allowance will be replaced by a ‘disposable income allowance’.  

9.9 The Care Act 2014 requires that financial assessments are completed for service users 

as individuals. Where capital is held and income is received on a joint basis, then it is 

assumed that each party is entitled to 50% of that capital/income. A couple is defined 

(for the purposes of this charging policy) as two people living together as spouses or 

partners.  

 

Changes to benefits when you move to a care home 

9.10 Often a permanent move to a care home will mean a change in some benefit payments 

to you. It is best to contact the office that pays you the benefit as soon as possible-to 

tell them that you have moved to a care home, and the date. 

9.11 When we complete a financial assessment with you, we will tell you if there are any 

changes to benefit entitlements and give you information about how to not if your 

change of address. Where new claims have been made, we will tell you how the award 

of a new welfare benefit might affect your assessment outcome. 

 

If you own your property 

Page 80



 

19 | P a g e  
 

9.12 If you own your home, or have a beneficial interest in your home, from which you have 

left to move to a care home, you will need to check whether your property capital will 

be disregarded. 

9.13 The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 

and The Care and Support Statutory Guidance set out the circumstances in which 

property capital is always disregarded. 

9.14 For example:  

 If your spouse or partner still lives in the property–your property capital would 

be disregarded (ignored) in the financial assessment for as long as your 

spouse/partner continues to live there. 

 

 If you have a relative aged over 60, or a disabled relative who still lives in the 

property, the property would also be disregarded for as long as that relative, or 

relatives, were living there. 

9.15 The Regulations state who counts as a ‘relative’ and the Statutory Guidance gives 

more information about these disregards.  

9.16 The Regulations also give councils discretion to disregard property in other situations. 

See ‘Discretionary Disregard of Property’ below. 

9.17 In any case, your property capital is disregarded for up to the first 12 weeks of moving 

permanently to a care home.  

9.18 You are still required to pay your assessed weekly charge during those 12 weeks, but 

your assessed weekly charge is based on your financial situation (excluding your 

property capital). See ’12-week Property Disregard’ below.  

9.19 It is important that you seek independent financial information and advice so that you 

have good information when considering options for your future funding.  

9.20 If your property is not disregarded under the Regulations you may wish to apply for a 

Deferred Payment Agreement with the Council. 

9.21 If you own a property or other valuable asset, over which security can be taken, you 

may be eligible to defer some care costs against the value of the property/asset. This 

is known as a Deferred Payment Agreement. The Council will make deferred payment 

agreements available under its Deferred Payment Agreement Scheme providing the 

eligibility criteria have been met.  

9.22 Details of deferred payment eligibility and agreements can be found within the 

Council’s ‘deferred payments for people in permanent residential care’ fact sheet, 

which is available on the Council’s website, and in leaflet format on request. The 

Council charges set up costs, an annual monitoring and administration fee, termination 

costs, and interest on all deferred payment loans agreed from April 2015 onwards. 

9.23 Any properties you own other than your main or only home, either in the UK or abroad, 
will be included within the financial assessment as a capital asset. The only exception 

Page 81



 

20 | P a g e  
 

to this rule is where you are taking steps to occupy these premises as your permanent 
home where this is feasible to do so. In this case, subject to evidence of the same, the 
asset value will be disregarded for a maximum of 26 weeks.  

 

12-Week Property Disregard  

9.24 The purpose of the 12-week property disregard is to provide breathing space to allow 

a long-term decision about the property to be made.  

9.25 The 12-week property disregard applies if:  

 you move into a care home for the first time, and, as a result of the ownership 

of your own home, are responsible for the full cost of the care home fees; or 

you moved into a care home on a temporary basis initially but have now 

become a permanent resident in the care home; or  

 

 you are already living in a care home, and your property was previously 

disregarded in your financial assessment under a ‘statutory disregard’ (where 

national Regulations state it is disregarded) or under a ‘discretionary disregard’ 

(where the Council agreed to disregard it), but, due to a change of 

circumstances those disregards are no longer relevant and the value of the 

property means you would be responsible for the full cost of your care home 

fees. A change of circumstances could be, for example, a partner or relative 

living in the property goes into a care home themselves, or moves house, or 

dies.  

9.26 The 12-week property disregard only applies to your sole or main residence prior to 

moving to a care home. It does not apply to any other property or land you own.  

9.27 If you have savings and investments above the upper capital limit at the start of your 

placement in a care home, and you own a property, you have the opportunity to make 

decisions about what to do with your property during the period you are able to fund 

yourself - unless this is less than 12 weeks. In this event you will be entitled to the 

remaining period of the 12-week property disregard from the start of your placement.  

 

Your financial contribution during the Property Disregard period  

9.28 We will carry out a financial assessment with you to work out your Assessed Weekly 

Charge for your care home during the period of the property disregard.  

9.29 This financial assessment will be based on your financial situation excluding the value 

of your main property. This will take account of your income and any savings or assets 

above the lower capital limit and leave you with a personal expenses allowance.  

9.30 The Assessed Weekly Charge is due for payment at the time we raise an invoice to 

you.  

If you receive Attendance Allowance or Disability Living Allowance (Care 
Component) or Personal Independence Payment (Daily Living Component):  

Page 82



 

21 | P a g e  
 

If you receive one of these benefits listed above, these benefits continue to be paid to 
you by the Department of Work and Pensions for only the first four weeks after being 
in a care environment. A care environment includes hospital and care homes. After 
those first four weeks, these benefits are not payable to you while a council provides 
funding towards your care home costs. At the end of your property disregard period, 
you become responsible for the full cost of your care home placement, and your 
entitlement to have Attendance Allowance or Disability Living Allowance (Care 
Component) or Personal Independence Payment (Daily Living Component) restarts.  

Discretionary Disregard of Property  

9.31 The Care Act 2014 sets out a number of situations where the property you lived in and 
own, or have a beneficial interest in, must be disregarded. However there may be other 
circumstances where we consider it appropriate to disregard your interest in the 
property, even though we are not required by the national Regulations to do this. This 
is a discretionary disregard.  

9.32 We have to balance the use of this discretion with the need to ensure that residents 
with assets are not maintained at public expense. 

9.33 If you ask us to consider a discretionary disregard because your property is being 
occupied by a third party, we will consider:  

 the reason for the occupation of the property by the third party  

 the timing of the move into the property by the third party  

 any other relevant issue or circumstance 

 

How do I ask the Council to consider a request for a Discretionary Property 

Disregard?  

9.34 You can ask the financial assessment team.  

9.35 We will gather relevant information from you about your property and details of who 

lives there now. We will gather any other information relevant to your request and will 

talk to you about any other information that is needed from you.  

9.36 Once all relevant information has been gathered a decision will be made and notified 

to you in writing.  

9.37 All the facts of the case will be considered, and a decision made on the merits of the 

case, whether to agree to a disregard of the property. In cases of difficulty the Head of 

Service will seek advice from the Council’s legal advisers. We will keep you updated 

of the progress of your request.  

9.38 If your request for a discretionary property disregard is turned down, we will tell you 

the reasons. The financial assessments team will put these reasons in writing to you 

and will tell you how to request a review of the decision if you disagree with the 

outcome.  

 

Accommodation located outside of Lewisham  

9.39 We understand that being close to family support is a key factor in people’s selection 

Page 83



 

22 | P a g e  
 

of preferred accommodation. The location of preferred accommodation is not limited 

to the boundaries of Lewisham; accommodation anywhere within the United Kingdom 

(England, Wales, Scotland or Northern Ireland) are permitted, provided it still meets 

the other criteria - such as for suitability, availability and cost. Chapter 21 of the Care 

Act Statutory Guidance provides more information about cross-border placements 

(Care and Support Statutory Guidance Chapter 21 – Cross-border placements: 

www.gov.uk/guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance. Although we aim to 

ensure that people have a choice of accommodation to meet their assessed care and 

support needs in the local area, we will sometimes place people in other areas if there 

is not enough suitable accommodation within the Lewisham locality to meet a person’s 

assessed needs (if they need very specialist support, for example) or if their needs 

would be best met in a different area.  

9.40 We may refer to our own usual costs when making placements in another council area. 

However, because costs vary from area to area, we will negotiate with the provider to 

determine a reasonable cost to meet the assessed needs as outlined in the person’s 

care plan. If accommodation in another council area is more expensive than 

someone’s Personal Budget for their assessed needs, and that is identified as the most 

suitable accommodation to meet a person’s needs, we will meet this additional cost.  

9.41 We will ensure that satisfactory arrangements are made before a person moves to 

accommodation in another council area, including planning for regular reviews. We will 

be responsible for any changes to the person’s accommodation such as moving to a 

different provider, unless there is an emergency situation, where we should be involved 

as soon as possible  

Residence when moving to accommodation outside Lewisham  

9.42 If you move to accommodation outside of Lewisham while we are responsible for 

funding your care (either through choice, or because of the availability of suitable 

accommodation) to meet your care and support needs, you still remain a Lewisham 

resident. We will keep the same responsibility for you that we have for someone living 

in the Lewisham area. Only if you later choose to move by private arrangement may 

you become ‘ordinarily resident’ in your new area. If this happens, your new council 

becomes responsible for any future care and support assessment and/or funding. If 

you fund your own care and support and choose to move to a different area for 

accommodation to meet your needs (for example, to be closer to your family) you will 

usually become ‘ordinarily resident’ in the new area. If you become eligible for support 

from adult social care services in the future, the council in your new area would be 

expected to fulfil this responsibility.  

 

The Cost of Accommodation   

9.43 We use your assessment and support planning to identify your personal budget – the 

amount of money that we would expect to pay for care and support to meet your 

assessed needs. 

 For care home accommodation, we identify the expected cost of your 

Page 84

http://www.gov.uk/guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance


 

23 | P a g e  
 

accommodation based on the amount that we would normally pay to meet your 

assessed needs in a residential or nursing home, reflecting the local market 

conditions.  

 

 For supported accommodation and Extra Care Housing, the housing costs are 

normally separate to your care and support package. You would own or rent 

your accommodation and pay for this independently (claiming Housing Benefit 

and using this to pay the landlord of a shared house if you had a tenancy 

agreement, for example). We will work with you to make sure you have suitable 

accommodation for your care and support needs to be met.  
 

 

9.44 When establishing how much we would expect to pay for your care and support, we 

will take account of your individual circumstances such as medical, cultural or dietary 

needs, to ensure that your needs can be properly met. 

 

Choosing more expensive accommodation: 

Care homes  

9.45 If your preferred care home is more expensive than your Personal Budget for your 

assessed needs, you will be advised of the higher cost of your choice. You will be 

given the opportunity to make an alternative choice that fits within your Personal 

Budget, or to put an arrangement in place to meet the additional cost.  

9.46 If your preferred accommodation meets all other requirements, we will support you to 

move to that accommodation that costs more than your Personal Budget says we 

would expect to pay for your assessed needs, provided that:  

 you can arrange for a third party to pay the additional amount - known as the 

Third-Party Top-Up (TPTU), or;  

 you can pay the additional amount from your own resources - a ‘First-Party 

Top-Up’.  

9.47 The rules about the situations where you can pay the additional amount yourself are 

shown below.  

 

Third-Party Top-Ups (TPTU)  

9.48 For a Third-Party Top-Up to be put in place, a third-party – such as a family member(s), 

friend, employer, organisation or charity – must be willing and able to pay the 

difference between the Personal Budget and the actual cost of the accommodation (or 

the associated accommodation costs for supported accommodation).  

9.49 To avoid the risk of you needing to move to different accommodation, we will usually 

discourage a Third-Party Top-Up unless the nominated Third Party can demonstrate 

that they are willing and able to pay the additional costs for at least a period of two 

Page 85



 

24 | P a g e  
 

years (or up to the duration of the service user’s likely time living in the accommodation 

if it is a short-term arrangement).   

9.50 This additional cost (known as a ‘top-up) must be sustainable and the Council has the 

right to refuse you using their assets for this purpose, if the costs cannot be met over 

a sustained length of time. This is to try to safeguard you from needing to move to 

another care home in the future should you no longer be able to pay the agreed top-

up amount. If the Council does not agree to provide funding towards a more expensive 

care home due to concerns over the affordability of the top-up required, you or your 

representative can seek legal advice, or advice from an independent advocate, and 

request a review of the decision as set out in section 14.     

9.51 Where the Third Party is an organisation, we will require a letter from a legal 

representative of the organisation confirming that the organisation has the means and 

capacity to sustain payments for the period required to accompany a signed Third-

Party Top-Up Agreement.  

9.52 Where the Third Party is one or more individuals, we will undertake a financial 

assessment of the individual(s) requiring documentary evidence of financial resources 

identified to meet the top-up payments, such as bank statement and details of financial 

commitments. This is to ensure that they have the means and capacity to sustain the 

payments for the period required. Completion of this assessment along with a signed 

Third-Party Top-Up Agreement and completed Direct Debit mandate is usually needed 

before we will agree to someone moving to the more expensive preferred 

accommodation.  

9.53 We will review all Third Party Top-Up Agreements at least annually, and sooner where 

there is a change to someone’s situation. The Third Party/ies have a responsibility to 

report any changes which may affect their ability to sustain their ability to contribute as 

per the Third-Party Top-Up Agreement within one calendar month of the date of that 

change to the Financial Assessment Team. 

First-Party Top-Ups (sometimes known as Resident Top-Ups) In specific 

circumstances it is possible for you to pay a ‘top up’ for your preferred accommodation 

from your own resources. These circumstances are shown below:  

1. A person entering care home accommodation whose property capital is disregarded 

for up to the first 12 weeks of the placement and who has either sufficient savings to 

pay the top-up during those 12 weeks, or disregarded income sufficient to pay the top 

up during those 12 weeks.  

2. A person entering care home accommodation whose property capital is disregarded 

for up to the first 12 weeks of the placement and who immediately enters into a 

Deferred Payment Agreement.  

9.54 You would still be responsible for paying an assessed contribution from your capital 

and income during those 12 weeks. The First Party Top-Up payment will be in addition 

to your assessed charge shown by your financial assessment. You would need to sign 

a Top-Up Agreement. With our permission, payment of a First Party Top-Up can be 

deferred providing that a Deferred Payment Agreement is agreed between you and 

Page 86



 

25 | P a g e  
 

the Council before your funding starts - that is, you intend to apply for a Deferred 

Payment Agreement (to start after the 12-week property disregard period), and you 

consent to a first legal charge on your property under a Deferred Payment Agreement 

from the start of your property-disregard period.  

9.55 We may consider the use of a First Party Top-Up in circumstances other than those 

set out above; for example, in the exceptional case that a Deferred Payment 

Agreement is accepted for a person in rented supported accommodation such as Extra 

Care Housing. People who would like to apply for a First Party Top-Up in a situation 

other than those set out above should contact our Financial Assessments Team to 

explain the exceptional circumstances in their situation for consideration. We may 

need to seek specialist legal advice on a case by case basis and the costs of this legal 

advice will be recharged to the individual. 

 

Paying for accommodation  

9.56 We will pay the total cost of the accommodation (or associated accommodation costs 

for supported accommodation) to the care provider, and then recover any top-up 

directly from the person/organisation who has agreed to pay this. To mitigate against 

adverse safeguarding issues (such as the accrual of arrears with a provider) we will 

usually only enter into Top-Up arrangements where the top-up is paid to us, and not to 

the provider directly.  

9.57 From time to time we will review our rates for accommodation. As a result the amount 

that we would expect to pay to meet someone’s assessed needs may remain the 

same, increase or decrease. This may impact on the amount that an individual or 

organisation is asked to pay as the top-up. Similarly, if the accommodation increases 

in price (for example, an annual uplift to reflect inflation, or a restructuring of fees 

because of a new provider), we will have no liability for the increased charges and will 

expect the individual or organisation paying the top-up to pay the additional costs 

above the amount the Council would expect to pay to meet that person’s needs.  

9.58 When a person/organisation takes on a Top-Up, they assume the contractual 

responsibility for the duration of the person’s residence in the accommodation to pay 

the difference in fees between the amount we would usually expect to pay to meet your 

assessed needs and the actual cost of your accommodation. We will advise the 

person/organisation in writing that fees are not fixed or guaranteed to remain at the 

same level, and that the contribution of the resident or third party may rise faster than 

the Council’s. We will also advise that we have no liability for debts accrued by a 

person/organisation due to non-payment or a shortfall in payment. We will notify 

people/organisations of the likely consequences if they fail to maintain payments. 

These may include legal action to recover the accrued arrears and/or you having to 

move to other accommodation (unless after an assessment of need, it is shown that 

your assessed needs can only be met in the current accommodation). The Council has 

the right, subject to notice, to terminate the contract should the top-up payments cease 

to be adequate.  

Page 87



 

26 | P a g e  
 

 

People who pay the full cost of their care and support  

9.59 If someone paying the full cost of their care and support has made their own private 

arrangement for services, the provider may take any action needed to obtain 

outstanding payments including legal action against the person or third-party who 

signed the contract and agreed to make payments but has failed to do so. The provider 

can also cancel the contract and give notice requiring the person to leave their 

accommodation.  

9.60 If you pay the full cost of your care and support we will encourage you to consider what 

will happen if, over time, your savings/investments reduce and you become eligible for 

financial support with your care and support costs from the Council. If you have existing 

accommodation that is more expensive than we would usually expect to pay, this may 

result in you having to move to other accommodation, unless arrangements can be 

secured by way of another alternative such as a Third-Party Top-Up. In this instance, 

we will support you to find an alternative placement of your choice, provided this meets 

the Council’s criteria around suitability, availability, conditions, cost and quality. If a 

reassessment shows that your needs can only be met in the current accommodation, 

we will endeavour, by way of negotiation, to make up the reasonable cost difference 

between your assessed contribution and the accommodation’s fees.  

 

Existing residents  

9.61 If you currently live in accommodation that is more expensive than we would usually 

expect to pay to meet your assessed needs, a review of your situation may result in 

you having to move to other accommodation, unless arrangements such as a Third-

Party Top-Up can be put in place to meet the additional cost. If a reassessment shows 

that your needs can only be met in the current accommodation, we will endeavour, by 

way of negotiation, to make up the reasonable cost difference between your assessed 

contribution and the accommodations’ fees. 

9.62 If you are eligible to receive local authority funding support, but decide to reside in 

another local authority area, Lewisham Council will have regard to the cost of care in 

that area when setting the personal budget and match the local authority usual rate for 

such care relevant to the area where the service user decides to live 

 

New residents  

 

9.63 The Council will undertake a financial assessment and benefits check if you are 

entering residential care on a permanent basis. This is normally done before you start 

to receive care wherever possible. Contributions are payable from the date care 

commences. The Council publishes a fact sheet containing details on residential care 

charging, which is available on the Council’s website, and in leaflet format on request.  
 

 
Self-funders/Those paying the full cost of their services  

Page 88



 

27 | P a g e  
 

 

9.64 A self-funder is a service user whose savings/capital exceed the higher capital 

threshold limit for residential care, or whose income is deemed to be sufficient to pay 

the weekly cost of their care in full, for example, from private pensions, investment 

funds, and property rental income.   
 

9.65 Residential care service users in this position will need to make their own 

arrangements with the care home regarding their permanent residency and payment 

of the care fees. If you are unable to do so and there is no one else who is willing and 

able to act for you, in exceptional circumstances the Council may make 

arrangements with the care home on your behalf. The Council can however offer a 

range of information and guidance to assist people who are self-funding to find the 

right care for themselves.  
 
9.66 If your capital falls to the higher capital limit or below it, a care assessment or care 

review will be completed to determine eligibility for Council funding, and a financial 
assessment will be completed to determine your financial circumstances.  

 

Short Term, Respite and Temporary Stays in Care Homes 

9.67 The Council will charge for care and support delivered in a care home on a temporary 
basis (unless it is provided under CHC s.117 or is part of a 6 week enablement 
package).  

 
9.68 The financial assessment for temporary stays will completely disregard your main or 

only home where you intend to return to that home. This decision will be reviewed, and 
continuation of the property disregard will depend on the extended length of stay in a 
care home after 52 weeks has elapsed, and the individual circumstances affecting this.  

 
9.69 The Council will ensure that where your spouse or partner resides in the same 

residence as you, that your spouse/partner will have an income of at least the basic 
level of income support or pension credit, to which they would be entitled to in their 
own right.  

 
9.70 The Council will ensure that where housing benefit is paid, this is disregarded so it can 

continue to meet the housing costs, as intended.  
 
9.71 The Council will ensure that payments made by you to keep and maintain your home, 

such as rent, water rates, insurance premiums are disregarded when financially 
assessing available income. Similarly, expenses that you would normally incur and 
would continue to pay may also be considered for a disregard from the available 
income for the purposes of the financial assessment. Contributions are usually payable 
from the date care commences. A new financial assessment will be required in each 
financial year where you require respite accommodation in a care home.  

 
9.72 Following an assessment of your eligible care and support needs, a decision may be 

taken that you would benefit from a temporary stay in a care home. A temporary 
resident is defined as a person whose need to stay in a care home is intended to last 
for a limited period of time, and where there is a plan to return home. The service user’s 
stay should be unlikely to exceed 52 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, unlikely 
to substantially exceed 52 weeks.  

 

Page 89



 

28 | P a g e  
 

9.73 If you have a temporary stay in a care home that becomes permanent you will be 
assessed for a permanent stay at the date permanency is confirmed and the care plan 
is amended.  

 
9.74 The Council will financially assess everyone who has a temporary stay in a care home, 

and will charge from the date of admission.  
 

9.75 If your savings and investments are above the upper capital limit: you will need 

to pay the full cost of your accommodation. We will give you advice and support to 

arrange this with a care home provider of your choice.  

9.76 If  your total savings and investments are below the upper capital limit we will 

carry out a full financial assessment with you to work out how much (if anything) you 

can afford to pay for your care and support. Your financial assessment will show your 

‘Assessed Maximum Weekly Contribution’. 

 

10 Deprivation of Assets  

 
10.1 People with care and support needs are free to spend their income and assets as they 

see fit, including making gifts to friends and family. This is important for promoting their 
wellbeing and enabling them to live fulfilling and independent lives. However, it is also 
important that people pay their fair contribution towards their care and support costs.  

 
10.2 There are some cases where a person may have tried to deliberately avoid paying for 

care and support costs through depriving themselves of assets – either capital or 
income. Where the Council believes they have evidence to support this we may either 
charge the person as if they still possessed the asset or, if the asset has been 
transferred to someone else, seek to recover the lost income from charges from that 
person. However, the Council cannot recover more than the person gained from the 
transfer.  

 
10.3 If this is the case it is up to you to prove that you no longer have a resource. Failure to 

do so will result in the council treating you as if you still possess the actual capital. 
Examples of acceptable evidence of the disposal of capital would include: a trust deed, 
deed of gift, receipts for expenditure, proof that debts had been repaid.  

 

10.4 Even if you prove that you no longer have the asset, the Council may still deem you to 
have the asset for the purposes of assessment. The timing of the disposal will be taken 
into account when considering the purpose of the disposal.  

 

10.5 Where, for the purpose of avoiding or reducing the contribution, capital which would 
not have been disregarded has been used to acquire personal possessions, the 
current market value of those possessions should be taken into account as an actual 
resource. Their market value should not be disregarded.  

 
10.6 If in depriving yourself of an actual resource, you converted that resource into another 

actual resource of lesser value, you will be treated as notionally possessing the 
difference between the value of the new resource and the one which it replaced e.g., 
if the value of personal possessions acquired is less than the sum spent on them the 
difference should be treated as a notional resource.  

 

Page 90



 

29 | P a g e  
 

10.7 If the Council decides that you have disposed of capital in order to avoid paying a 
contribution or to reduce the contribution payable, the Council will decide whether to 
treat you as having the capital (notional capital) and assess the contribution payable 
accordingly; and then whether to:  

 recover the assessed contribution from you in full; or  

 recover an amount equal to the amount disposed of from the recipient of the 
disposed asset or its value; or  

 recover the assessed contribution by instalment; or  

 defer payment until a later date; or  

 take appropriate action as agreed by either guidance or management  

 

10.8 The Council will determine whether to conduct an investigation into whether 

deprivation of income or assets has occurred. Where an investigation is conducted, 

this will be conducted under guidance contained within the Regulation of Investigatory 

Powers Act 2000. Following the investigation, if the Council decides that you have 

deliberately deprived yourself of an asset or income in order to reduce a charge for 

care and support, the Council will charge you as though you still own the asset or 

income.  
 

10.9 Deprivation of income and/or assets is the disposal of income and capital (for example, 

property and investments) in order to avoid or reduce care charges. Disposal can take 

the form of transfer of ownership or conversion into a disregarded form. In all cases, it 

is up to the service user to prove to the Council that you no longer possess an income 

or an asset, and the reason for this. The Council will determine whether to conduct an 

investigation into whether deprivation of income or assets has occurred. Where an 

investigation is conducted, this will be conducted under guidance contained within the 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.  
 
 

11 Charging for Support to Carers  

 
11.1 Where a carer has eligible support needs of their own, the Council has a duty, or in 

some cases a power, to arrange support to meet their needs. When the Council is 
meeting this need by providing a service directly to a carer, it has the power to 
charge the carer.  

 
11.2 The Care Act 2014 provides councils with the power to charge for support for carers, 

where they have an eligible support need in their own right.  
 

11.3 The Council values carers within its local community as partners in care and 
recognises the significant contribution they make. Carers help to maintain the health 
and wellbeing of the person they care for, support this person’s independence and 
enable them to stay in their own homes for longer. Currently the Council does not 
charge carers for any care and support provided directly to the carer.  

 
 

12 Pension Reforms  

 
12.1 The Council will follow the guidance set out on the treatment of income and capital in 

Appendices [B and C] and treat a person’s assets accordingly. Where a person has 
chosen to withdraw funds from their pension pot and manage it directly, for example 

Page 91



 

30 | P a g e  
 

combining it with other assets rather than through a pension’s product, this may be 
treated as capital under the rules laid out in Appendix B. 

 
 

13 Methods of Payment and Debt Recovery  

 

13.1 The following methods of payment are available:  

 
 Direct Debit 

 Bank Transfer 

 By Phone 

 Debit or Credit card 

 Post office 

 PayPoint 

 

13.2 The Council’s preferred method of payment is direct debit. Full details of how to make 

payments are at Appendix F. 

 
13.3 If you fail and/or neglect and/or refuse to pay your assessed contribution, the Council 

will take steps to recover any amounts owing, including legal action. If necessary, 
further consideration of care needs may also take place.  

   

13.4 The Care Act 2014 consolidates the Council’s powers to recover money owed for 

arrangement and provision of care and support for a service user. These powers can 

be exercised where a service user refuses to pay the amount they have been assessed 

as being able to pay, or have been asked to pay (where the cost of care and support 

is less than their assessed contribution).  
 

13.5 The powers granted to the Council for the recovery of debt also extends to the service 

user or their representative, where they have misrepresented or have failed to disclose 

(whether fraudulently or otherwise), information relevant to the financial assessment 

of what they can afford to pay.  
 

 

13.6 The initial stage of debt recovery will involve discussing the debt with you or your 

representative. Social workers will be advised of the debt, and may become involved 

if appropriate to your on-going care/well-being. In all cases the desired outcome is to 

prevent a debt escalating and for you to enter into affordable repayments of the debt, 

as well as being able to pay ongoing costs due as they arise.  

 
13.7 Where a person has accrued a debt, the Council may use its powers under the Care 

Act to recover that debt. In deciding how to proceed, the Council may consider the 
individual circumstances before deciding a course of action. 
 

13.8 Ultimately, the Council may institute County Court proceedings to recover the debt. 
However, the Council will approach the recovery of debt reasonably and sensitively 
and will only use this power after other reasonable alternatives for recovering the debt 
have been exhausted.  

 
 

Page 92



 

31 | P a g e  
 

14 Review of Financial Assessment 

 
14.1 You or someone acting on your behalf have the right to ask the Council for a review 

of a charge for which you have been assessed if you consider that you cannot pay it 
or believe that:  

 The charge is too high  

 Information given may have been misrepresented  

 Some information may have been missed  

 A change in circumstances has occured  

 A mistake may have been made in applying the charging guidance, or 

 The calculation is inaccurate  

 There are other exceptional circumstances that need to be considered  

 
14.2 Other than in response to a change of circumstances, the Council will consider 

reviews or appeals within 3 months of the date of charge notification and will only 
accept at its discretion those received outside this timescale  

 

14.3 There are two stages to the review process. 
 

Stage 1: Informal review 

14.4 You, or someone acting on your behalf should write to the department giving details 
of why you are requesting a review.  
 

14.5 When a request for a review is received an officer, independent of the disputed 
financial assessment, will reassess the information provided by the service user at 
the time of assessment. Any additional information that was omitted from the initial 
assessment will be considered upon submission of evidence. However, the Council 
is under no obligation to backdate the outcome to the date of the original 
assessment, but will consider the appropriate effective date for any change during 
the review process. An exception to this is where benefit income has stopped without 
your prior knowledge, and where you could not have been reasonably expected to 
know your benefit income had ceased,  which will always result in a backdated 
charging decision to coincide with the date the benefit income ceased to be payable 

 
 
14.6 The review will take place within 14 working days. You will be advised of the outcome 

of the review within 7 working days of a decision being taken. If the charge is found 
to be incorrect, this will be explained in writing, with reasons, also within 7 working 
days. Overall, this stage should take no longer than 28 working days. 
 
Stage 2: Contributions review panel 

 
14.7 If you or your representative remains unhappy after the charge has been reviewed 

under Stage 1, you or your representative should contact the Council in writing. You 
or your representative should provide clear information on why you remain 
dissatisfied with the outcome which must pertain to a material fact within the 
reviewed assessment and include evidence to support the same. 
 

14.8 A Charges Review Panel will be convened to review the assessment to date and 
initial review. The panel will consist of an Adult Social Care Manager and a Finance 
manager with advice from the legal department of the Council. All appropriate 

Page 93



 

32 | P a g e  
 

stakeholders will be invited to give their view to the panel. 
 

14.9 The panel will make recommendations and you will be informed of the outcome and 
any effect on your charges within 14 days.  

 
14.10 Where the Council still considers that the financial assessment is correct, and the 

service user does not agree with this decision, any resultant complaints about the 
level of charge are subject to the Care and Support Complaints Procedure, as set out 
in The Local Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009. The 
Council will make clear what its complaint’s procedure is and provide information and 
advice on how to lodge a complaint.  
 

 

14.11 Written requests for reviews should be directed to:  
 

Financial Assessment Team  

4th floor, Laurence House  

Catford  

SE6 4RU 
 

Email: financialassessment@lewisham.gov.uk 
 

 
 

15 Complaints 

 
15.1 The council welcomes feedback and has dedicated officers to manage complaints.   
 
15.2 If you are dissatisfied with the way that you have been treated during the financial 

assessment process, or with the service that you receive, you have the right to make 
a complaint to the complaints officer. The Council has a statutory complaints process 
to ensure that service user’ views and concerns are considered and dealt with 
appropriately and the Council holds itself accountable to the highest standards  

 
15.3 Complaints should be directed to :  

 
Community services customer relations team 
5th floor Laurence House 
Catford 
London  
SE6 4RU 

Email: community.services@lewisham.gov.uk 
 

16 Use of Financial Information and Privacy  

 
16.1 The information the Council collects and keeps about you is confidential and can only 

be seen by authorised staff. This information will only be shared with other relevant 
people and agencies in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 or with the 
written consent of you or your legally appointed representative. This Act also gives 
you the right to see information that the Council keeps about you at any stage. 

Page 94

mailto:financialassessment@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:community.services@lewisham.gov.uk


 

33 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

17 Equality Impact  

 
17.1 The Council has considered the impact this framework will have on the diverse 

communities of Lewisham. As this guidance merely applies the Care Act 2014, the 
Council has assessed that this guidance does not discriminate against groups of 
service users or present adverse impacts due to any characteristics protected under 
the Equality Act 2010. 

 
 

18 Reviewing the Contributions Guidance  

 
18.1 This policy document will be reviewed as and when there are amendments or 

additions to the Care Act 2014, statutory guidance, and/or Regulations.  
 
 

19 Phasing of changes 

 

19.1 Where a decision taken by the Council, including a change in this charging policy, 
results in an increased charge to a service user, the Council may decide not to 
implement this immediately with existing clients and may, instead, phase the 
increase. Decisions on this phasing will be taken by the Executive  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix [A]: Choice of Accommodation and Additional Payments  

Page 95



 

34 | P a g e  
 

 
Introduction  
 
1. This Appendix covers:  

 Choice of accommodation when arranging care and support in an accommodation 
setting;  

 Making additional payments for preferred accommodation.  
 
1.1. A person’s ability to make an informed choice is a key element of the care and 

support system. This extends to where the care and support planning process has 
determined that a person needs to live in a specific type of accommodation to meet 
their care and support needs.  
 

1.2. The care and support planning process will have determined what type of 
accommodation will best suit the person’s needs. This could be, for example, a care 
home, shared lives or extra care housing. Where the type of accommodation is one 
of those specified in regulations, the person will have a right to choose the particular 
provider or location, subject to certain conditions. Where this is the case, the 
following guidance should be applied and in doing so, the Council will have regard to 
the following principles:  

 

 good communication of clear information and advice to ensure well informed 
decisions;  

 a consistent approach to ensure genuine choice;  

 clear and transparent arrangements for choice and any ‘top-up’ arrangements; 

 clear understanding of potential consequences should ‘top-up’ arrangements fail 
with clear exit strategies; and  

 the choice is suitable to the person’s needs.  
 
1.3. The Council is aware that the regulations and guidance on choice of accommodation 

and additional costs apply equally to those entering care for the first time, those who 
have already been placed by the Council, and those who have been self-funders, but 
because of diminishing resources are on the verge of needing local authority support.  

 
Choice of Accommodation  
 
1.4. Where the Council is responsible for meeting a person’s care and support needs and 

their needs have been assessed as requiring a particular type of accommodation in 
order to ensure that they are met, the person will have the right to choose between 
different providers of the specified type of accommodation provided that:  

 the accommodation is suitable in relation to the person’s assessed needs; 

 to do so would not cost the Council more than the amount specified in the 
adult’s personal budget for accommodation of that type;  

 the accommodation is available; and  

 the provider of the accommodation is willing to enter into a contract with the 
Council to provide the care at the rate identified in the person’s personal 
budget on the Council’s terms and conditions.  

 
1.5. This choice is not to be limited to those settings or individual providers with which the 

Council already contracts or operates, or those that are within the Council’s 
geographical boundary. It will be a genuine choice across the appropriate provision. 

1.6. If a person chooses to be placed in a setting that is outside the Council’s area, the 
Council will still arrange for their preferred care. In doing so, the Council would have 
regard to the cost of care in that area when setting a person’s personal budget.  

Page 96



 

35 | P a g e  
 

 
Suitability of Accommodation  
 
1.7. In exercising a choice, the Council will ensure that the accommodation is suitable to 

meet a person’s assessed needs and identified outcomes established as part of the 
care and support planning process which will also include communication with care 
provider.  
 

1.8. People are able to express a preference about the setting in which their needs are 
met through the care and support planning process. This process considers both the 
person’s needs and preferences. Once this is agreed, the choice is between different 
settings, not different types. For example, a person cannot exercise the right to a 
choice of accommodation to choose a shared lives scheme when the care and 
support planning process, which involves the person, has assessed their needs as 
needing to be met in a care home.  

 
 Cost  
 
1.9. The care and support planning process will identify how best to meet a person’s 

needs. As part of that, the Council will provide the person with a personal budget. 
 

1.10. The personal budget is defined as the cost to the Council of meeting the person’s 
needs which the Council is required to meet. However, the Council will endeavour to 
take into consideration cases or circumstances where this ‘cost to the Council’ may 
need to be adjusted to ensure that needs are met. For example, a person may have 
specific dietary requirements that can only be met in specific settings. In all cases the 
Council will have regard to the actual cost of care in deciding the personal budget to 
ensure that the amount is one that reflects local market conditions. This should/will 
also reflect other factors such as the person’s circumstances and the availability of 
provision. In addition, the Council will not set arbitrary amounts or ceilings for 
particular types of accommodation that do not reflect a fair cost of care.  

 
1.11. A person must not be asked to pay a ‘top-up’ towards the cost of their 

accommodation because of market inadequacies or commissioning failures and must 
ensure there is a genuine choice. The Council will therefore ensure that at least one 
option is available that is affordable within a person’s personal budget and will 
endeavour that there is more than one. If no preference has been expressed and no 
suitable accommodation is available at the amount identified in a personal budget, 
the Council will arrange care in a more expensive setting and adjust the personal 
budget accordingly to ensure that needs are met. In such circumstances, the Council 
will not ask for the payment of a ‘top-up’ fee. Only when a person has chosen a more 
expensive accommodation can a ‘top-up’ payment be sought. Refer to point 8 of this 
policy which sets out further guidance on Additional Costs.  

 
Availability  
 
1.12. The Council has specific duties to shape and facilitate the market of care and support 

services locally, including ensuring sufficient supply where possible. As a result, a 
person should not have to wait for their assessed needs to be met. However, in some 
cases, a short wait may be unavoidable, particularly when a person has chosen a 
particular setting that is not immediately available. This may include putting in place 
temporary arrangements – taking in to account the person’s preferences and 
securing their agreement – and placing the person on the waiting list of their 
preferred choice of provider for example. The Council acknowledges that such 

Page 97



 

36 | P a g e  
 

arrangements can be unsettling for the person and reasonable attempts will be made 
for it to be avoided wherever possible.  
 

1.13. In such cases, the Council will endeavour that in the interim adequate alternative 
services are provided. In establishing any temporary arrangements, the Council will 
provide the person with clear information in writing on the detail of the arrangements 
as part of their care and support plan. This would include information on the 
operation of the waiting list for their preferred setting alongside any other information 
that may be relevant. If any interim arrangements exceed 12 weeks, the person may 
be reassessed to ensure that both the interim and the preferred option are still able to 
meet the person’s needs and that remains their choice.  

 
1.14. Where a person contributes to the cost of their care following a financial assessment 

they will not be asked to pay more than their assessment shows they can afford.  
 
1.15. In some cases a person may decide that they wish to remain in the interim setting, 

even if their preferred setting subsequently becomes available. If the setting where 
they are temporarily resident is able to accommodate the arrangement on a 
permanent basis this will be arranged and the person will be removed from the 
waiting list of their original preferred setting. Before doing so, the Council will make 
clear any consequences of that choice, including any financial implications.  

 
Choice that Cannot be Met and Refusal of Arrangements  
 
1.16. Whilst the Council will do everything it can to meet a person’s choice, inevitably there 

will be some instances where a choice cannot be met, for example if the provider 
does not have capacity to accommodate the person. In such cases, the Council will 
set out in writing where appropriate why it has not been able to meet that choice and 
will endeavour to offer suitable alternatives.  
 

1.17. The Council will attempt to do everything it can to take into account a person’s 
circumstances and preferences when arranging care. However, in all but a very small 
number of cases, such as where a person is being placed under guardianship under 
Section 7 of the Mental Health Act 1983, a person has a right to refuse to enter a 
setting whether that is on an interim or permanent basis. Where a person 
unreasonably refuses the arrangements, the Council is entitled to consider that it has 
fulfilled its statutory duty to meet needs and may then inform the person in writing 
that as a result they need to make their own arrangements. This is a step of last 
resort and the Council would consider the risks posed by such an approach, for both 
the Council itself and the person concerned. Should the person contact the Council 
again at a later date, the Council would consider reassessing the needs as 
necessary and re-open the care and support planning process.  

 
Contractual Terms and Conditions  
 
1.18. In supporting a person’s choice of setting, the Council may need to enter into a 

contract with a provider that they do not currently have an arrangement with. In doing 
so, they would ensure that the contractual conditions are the same.  

 
Additional Costs or ‘Top-up’ Payments  
 
1.19. In some cases, a person may actively choose a setting that is more expensive than 

the amount identified for the provision of the accommodation in the personal budget. 
Where they have chosen a setting that costs more than this, an arrangement will 
need to be made as to how the difference will be met. This is known as an additional 

Page 98



 

37 | P a g e  
 

cost or ‘top-up’ payment 15 and is the difference between the amount specified in the 
personal budget and the actual cost. In such cases, the Council will arrange for them 
to be placed there, provided a third party, or in certain circumstances the person in 
need of care and support, is willing and able to meet the additional cost.  
 

1.20. The following sections of the policy only apply where the person has chosen a more 
expensive setting. Where someone is placed in a more expensive setting solely 
because the Council is unable to make arrangements at the anticipated cost, the 
personal budget will reflect this amount. The person would then contribute towards 
this personal budget according to the financial assessment. The additional cost 
provisions will not apply in such circumstances.  

 
Agreeing a ‘Top-up’ Fee  
 
1.21. Having chosen a setting that is more expensive, based on good information and 

advice, the Council will endeavour that the person understands the full implications of 
this choice, bearing in mind that this is often a point of crisis. This will include for 
example that a third party, or in certain circumstances the person needing care and 
support, will need to meet the additional cost of that setting for the full duration of 
their stay and that should the additional cost not be met; the person may be moved to 
an alternative setting.  
 

1.22. The Council will ensure that the person paying the ‘top-up’ is willing and able to meet 
the additional cost for the likely duration of the arrangement, recognising that this 
may be for some time into the future. Therefore the Council will ensure that the 
person paying the ‘top-up’ enters into a written agreement with the Council, agreeing 
to meet that cost. The agreement will include the following:  

 

 the additional amount to be paid;  

 the amount specified for the accommodation in the person’s personal budget; 

 the frequency of the payments;  

 to whom the payments are to be made;  

 provisions for reviewing the agreement;  

 a statement on the consequences of ceasing to make payments;  

 a statement on the effect of any increases in charges that a provider may 
make; 

 a statement on the effect of any changes in the financial circumstances of the 
person paying the ‘top-up’.  

 
1.23. Before entering into the agreement, the Council will endeavour to provide the person 

paying the ‘top-up’ with sufficient information and advice to ensure that they 
understand the terms and conditions, including actively considering the provision of 
independent financial information and advice. 
  

1.24. Ultimately, if the arrangements for a ‘top-up’ were to fail for any reason, the Council 
will conduct a needs assessment and offer in the first instance suitable alternative 
arrangements. In cases where alternative arrangements are deemed not feasible, the 
Council will endeavour to meet the cost of the ‘top-up’ until a suitable alternative is 
established.  

 
 
 
 
The Amount to be Paid  

Page 99



 

38 | P a g e  
 

 
1.25. The amount of the ‘top-up’ should be the difference between the fees charges by the 

preferred provider and the amount that the Council would have set in a personal 
budget or local mental health after-care limit to meet the person’s eligible needs by 
arranging or providing accommodation of the same type. For the purposes of 
agreeing a ‘top-up’ fee the Council will consider what personal budget it would have 
set at the time care and support is needed. It will not automatically default to the 
cheapest rate or to any other arbitrary figure.  

 
Frequency of Payments  
 
1.26. In agreeing any ‘top-up’ arrangement, the Council will clearly set out how often such 

payments need to be made, e.g. on a weekly or monthly basis.  
 
Responsibility for Costs and to whom the Payments are Made  
 
1.27. When entering into a contract to provide care in a setting that is more expensive than 

the amount identified in the personal budget, the Council is responsible for the total 
cost of that placement. This means that if there is a break down in the arrangement 
of a ‘top-up’, for instance if the person making the ‘top-up’ ceases to make the 
agreed payments, then the Council would be liable for the fees until it has either 
recovered the additional costs it incurs or made alternative arrangements to meet the 
cared for person’s needs.  
 

1.28. In terms of securing the funds needed to meet the total cost of the care (including the 
‘top-up’ element) the Council has three options, except where the care and support is 
being funded via a Deferred Payment Agreement, in which case it is added to the 
amount owed. In choosing which option to take the Council will need to consider the 
individual circumstances of the case, and should be able to assure itself of the 
security of the arrangements and that there is no undue pressure on the person 
making the ‘top-up’ payment to increase the level of payment. The options are: 

  

 Treat the ‘top-up’ payment as part of the person’s income and therefore 
recover the costs from the person concerned through the financial 
assessment (where the ‘top-up’ payments are being made by a third party 
rather than the cared for person, this is on the assumption that the third party 
makes the payment to the person with care needs); or  
 

 Agree with the person, the third party paying the ‘top-up’ (if this is not the 
cared for person) and the provider that payment for the ‘top-up’ element can 
be made directly to the provider with the Council paying the remainder.  

 

 The person making the ‘top-up’ payments pays the ‘top-up’ amount to the 
Council. The Council then pays the full amount to the provider.  

 
1.29. In the case of people with eligible needs who pay in full for their own care and 

support who ask the Council to arrange their care, refer to point 19 of this policy.  
 
Provisions for Reviewing the Agreement  
 
1.30. As with any financial arrangement, an agreement to make a ‘top-up’ payment must 

be reviewed. The Council will set out in writing details of how the arrangements will 
be reviewed, what may trigger a review and circumstances when any party can 
request a review.  

Page 100



 

39 | P a g e  
 

 
Consequences of Ceasing to Make Payments  
 
1.31. The Council will advise in writing the consequences should there be a break down in 

the arrangement to meet the cost of the ‘top-up’. This should include that the person 
may be moved to an alternative accommodation where this would be suitable to meet 
their needs and affordable within the personal budget. As with any change of 
circumstance, the Council will undertake a new assessment before considering this 
course of action, including consideration of a requirement for an assessment of 
health needs, and have regard to the person’s wellbeing.  

 
Price Increases  
 
1.32. Arrangements will need to be reviewed from time to time, for example in response to 

any changes in circumstances of the cared for person, the person making the ‘top-up’ 
payments (if this is different from the cared for person), the Council’s commissioning 
arrangements or a change in provider costs. However, these changes may not occur 
together and the Council will set out in writing how these changes will be dealt with. 
 

1.33. The Council will set out in writing to the person It’s approach to how any increased 
costs may be shared/met. This would also include details of how agreement will be 
reached on the sharing of any price increases. This will also state that there is no 
guarantee that these increased costs will automatically be shared evenly should the 
provider’s costs rise more quickly than the amount the Council would have increased 
the personal budget and there is an alternative option that would be affordable within 
that budget.  

 
1.34. Where the person has a change in circumstances that requires a new financial 

assessment and this results in a change in the level of contribution the person them-
self makes, this may not reduce the need for a ‘top-up’ payment.  

 
Consequences of Changes in Circumstances of the Person Making the ‘Top-up’ 
Payment  
 
1.35. The person making the ‘top-up’ payment could see an unexpected change in their 

financial circumstances that will impact their ability to continue to pay the ‘top-up’ fee. 
Where a person is unable to continue making ‘top-up’ payments, the Council may 
seek to recover any outstanding debt and has the power to make alternative 
arrangements to meet a person’s needs, subject to a needs assessment. The 
Council will set out in writing how it will respond to such a change and what the 
responsibilities of the person making the ‘top-up’ payment are in terms of informing 
the Council of the change in circumstances.  

 
First Party ‘Top ups’  
 
1.36. The person whose needs are to be met by the accommodation may themselves 

choose to make a ‘top-up’ payment only in the following circumstances:  

 Where they are subject to a 12-week property disregard;  

 Where they have a deferred payment agreement in place with the Council. 
Where this is the case, the terms of the agreement will reflect this 
arrangement.  

 Where they are receiving accommodation provided under section 117 for 
mental health aftercare.  

 

Page 101



 

40 | P a g e  
 

 
People who are Unable to Make Their Own Choice  
 
1.37. There will be cases where a person lacks capacity to express a choice for 

themselves. The Council would therefore act on the choices expressed by the 
person’s advocate, carer or legal guardian in the same way they would on the 
person’s own wishes, unless in the Council’s opinion it would be against the best 
interests of the person.  

 
Self-funders who ask the Local Authority to Arrange Their Care  
 
1.38. In supporting self-funders to arrange care, the Council may choose to enter into a 

contract with the preferred provider, or may broker the contract on behalf of the 
person. Where the Council is arranging and managing the contract with the provider, 
it will ensure that there are clear arrangements in place as to how the costs will be 
met, including any ‘top-up’ element.  
 

1.39. Ultimately, the Council will assure that robust contractual arrangements are in place 
in such circumstances that clearly set out where responsibilities for costs lie and 
ensure that the person understands those arrangements. Self-funders will have to 
pay for the costs of their care and support including, in cases where they choose a 
setting that is more expensive, the top-up element of the costs of that setting.  

 
Choice of Accommodation and Mental Health After-Care  
 
1.40. Regulations made under section 117A of the Mental Health Act 1983 enable persons 

who qualify for after-care under section 117 to express a preference for particular 
accommodation if accommodation of the types specified in the regulations is to be 
provided as part of that after-care. The Council is required to arrange the provision of 
the preferred accommodation if the conditions in the regulations are met. 
  

1.41. The regulations give people who receive mental health after-care broadly the same 
rights to choice of accommodation as someone who receives care and support under 
the Care Act 2014. After-care is provided free of charge. The person will be fully 
involved in the care planning process.  

 
1.42.  An adult has the right to choose accommodation provided that:  
 

 The preferred accommodation is of the same type that the Council has 
decided to provide or arrange;  

 It is suitable for the person’s needs;  

 It is available for mental health after-care purposes; and  

 Where the accommodation is not provided by the Council, the provider of the 
accommodation agrees to provide the accommodation to the person on the 
Council’s terms.  

 
1.43. Where the cost of the person’s preferred accommodation is more than the Council 

would provide in a personal budget or local mental health after-care limit to meet the 
person’s needs, then the Council will arrange for them to be placed there, provided 
that either the person or a third party is willing and able to meet the additional cost. 
  

1.44. Where the person subject to section 117 has chosen more expensive 
accommodation, the person or a third party can meet the additional cost when the 

Page 102



 

41 | P a g e  
 

Council is providing, or arranging for the provision of accommodation in discharge of 
the after-care duty.  

 
1.45. In securing the funds needed to meet the additional cost, the Council may:  
 

 Agree with the person and the provider, and in cases where a third party is 
paying the ‘top-up’, agree with that third party, that payment for the additional 
cost can be made directly to the provider with the Council paying the 
remainder; or 

 The person or the third party pays the ‘top-up’ amount to the Council. The 
Council then pays the full amount to the provider.  

 
Information and Advice  
 
1.46. Where a ‘top-up’ arrangement is being entered in to, all parties should fully 

understand their responsibilities, liabilities and the consequences of the 
arrangements. The Council will provide the third party with sufficient information and 
advice to support them to understand the terms of the proposed written agreement 
before entering in to it.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix [B]: Treatment of Capital 

 

Page 103



 

42 | P a g e  
 

Introduction  
 
1.47. This Appendix covers:  

 The treatment of capital when conducting a financial assessment in all 
circumstances.  

 
1.48. The Council must assess the income and capital of the person when undertaking a 

financial assessment. This Appendix covers the treatment of capital and should be 
read in conjunction with Appendix [C] on the treatment of income. The details of the 
sources of capital which the Council will disregard are set out in the regulations.  
 

1.49. The financial assessment will look across all of a person’s assets – both capital and 
income – deciding which is capital and which income is, and assess those assets 
according to the regulations and guidance. The Council will refer to Appendix [C] on 
the treatment of income and Appendix [E] on deprivation of assets when conducting 
a financial assessment. The treatment of income will vary depending on the type of 
setting a person is receiving care in. The treatment of capital, as set out in this 
Appendix, is broadly the same for all settings. Where there is a distinction between 
care homes and all other settings, this is clearly set out.  
 

1.50. In assessing what a person can afford to contribute the Council must apply the upper 
and lower capital limits. The upper capital limit is currently set at £23,250 and the 
lower capital limit at £14,250.  
 

1.51. A person with assets above the upper capital limit will be deemed to be able to afford 
the full cost of their care. Those with capital between the lower and upper capital limit 
will be deemed as able to make a contribution, known as “tariff income”, from their 
capital. Any capital below the lower capital limit should be disregarded.  

 
Defining Capital  
 
1.52. Capital can mean many different things and the intention is not to give a definitive 

definition here as the Council will consult the regulations and consider the individual 
asset on its merits. In general it refers to financial resources available for use and 
tends to be from sources that are considered more durable than money in the sense 
that they can generate a return.  
 

1.53. The following list gives examples of capital. This list is intended as a guide and is not 
exhaustive.  

 
a. Buildings  
b. Land  
c. National Savings Certificates and Ulster Savings Certificates  
d. Premium Bonds  
e. Stocks and shares  
f. Capital held by the Court of Protection or a Deputy appointed by that Court 

Any savings held in:  
i. Building society accounts.  
ii. Bank current accounts, deposit accounts or special investment accounts. 
This includes savings held in the National Savings Bank, Girobank and 
Trustee Savings  
iii. Bank.  
iv. SAYE schemes.  

Page 104



 

43 | P a g e  
 

 
Example of tariff income:  

 
Nora has capital of £18,100. This is £3,850 above the lower capital limit of £14,250. 

the £3,850 by £250 produces a figure of £15.40. When calculating tariff income, 
the amount is always rounded up. This therefore gives a tariff income of £16 per 
week.  

 
v. Unit Trusts.  
vi. Co-operatives share accounts. 
vii. Cash. 
viii. Trust funds  

 
Capital limits  
 
2.8. The capital limits set out at what point a person is able to access the Councils 

support and how much support they receive. The Council apply both the upper and 
lower capital limit for people living in a care home but only the lower capital limit for 
people living outside of a care home setting. The capital limits for 2015/16 are:  

 
a. Upper capital limit: £23,250;  
b. Lower capital limit: £14,250.  

 
In a Care Home Setting  
 
2.9. In assessing what a person can afford to contribute towards care in a care home 

setting, the Council will apply the upper and lower capital limits.  
 
2.10. A person with assets above the upper capital limit will be deemed to be able to afford 

the full cost of their care. Those with capital between the lower and upper capital limit 
will be deemed as able to make a contribution, known as ‘tariff income’, from their 
capital. 

 
2.11. If a person clearly has capital in excess of the upper capital limit, there will be no 

need to make a wider assessment. If a person is near the upper capital limit, the 
Council will plan ahead for when assets have been spent down and a person may 
therefore fall below the upper capital limit.  

 
2.12. The capital which a person has below the lower capital limit will be disregarded in the 

calculation of tariff income.  
 
2.13. Where a person has assets between the lower and upper capital limits the Council 

will apply tariff income. This assumes that for every £250 of capital, or part thereof, a 
person is able to afford to contribute £1 per week towards the cost of their eligible 
care needs.  

 
Outside a Care Home Setting  
 
2.14. The Council has not currently set an upper capital limit for a person receiving care 

and support outside of a care home setting.  
 
2.15. The capital which a person has below the lower capital limit will be disregarded in the 

calculation of tariff income.  
 

Page 105



 

44 | P a g e  
 

2.16. Where a person has assets above the lower capital limit the Council will apply tariff 
income. This assumes that for every £250 of capital, or part thereof, a person is able 
to afford to contribute £1 per week towards the cost of their eligible care needs.  

 

Cases where it is Not Clear Whether a Payment is Capital or Income  

 
Example of capital dispute:  

 
2.17. Arlene has £14,000 in a building society account in her own name. She says that 

£3,000 is set aside for her granddaughter’s education. Unfortunately there is no deed 
of trust or other legal arrangement which would prevent Arlene using the whole 
amount herself. She is therefore treated as the beneficial owner of the whole amount.  

 
Example of capital dispute:  
Lisa has £10,000 in a bank account in her own name and shares valued at £6,500. 
She provides evidence to show that the shares were purchased on behalf of her son 
who is abroad and that they will be transferred to her son when he returns to the UK. 
Although Lisa is the legal owner, she is holding the shares in trust for her son who is 
the beneficial owner. Only the £10,000 is therefore treated as Lisa’s capital.  

 
2.18. Resources should only be treated as income or capital but not both. If a person has 

saved money from their income then those savings should normally be treated as 
capital. However they should not be assessed as both income and capital in the 
same period. Therefore in the period when they are received as income, the resource 
will be disregarded as capital.  

 
2.19. In assessing a person’s assets it may not be immediately clear where a resource is 

capital or income, particularly where a person is due to receive planned payments. In 
general, a planned payment of capital is one which is:  

   a. Not in respect of a specified period; and  
   b. Not intended to form part of a series of payments.  
 
2.20. The Council will also have regard to the guidance on capital treated as income.  
 
Who Owns the Capital?  
 
2.21. A capital asset is normally defined as belonging to the person in whose name it is 

held, the legal owner. However, in some cases this may be disputed and/or beneficial 
ownership argued. Beneficial ownership is where someone enjoys the benefits of 
ownership, even though the title of the asset is held by someone else or where they 
directly or indirectly have the power to vote or influence a transaction regarding a 
particular asset. In most cases the person will be both the legal and beneficial owner. 

 
2.22. Where ownership is disputed, the Council will request written evidence to prove 

where the ownership lies. If a person states they are holding capital for someone 
else, the Council will obtain evidence of the arrangement, the origin of the capital and 
intentions for its future use and return to its rightful owner.  

 
2.23. Where a person has joint beneficial ownership of capital, except where there is 

evidence that the person owns an unequal share, the total value will be divided 
equally between the joint owners and the person will be treated as owning an equal 
share. Once the person is in sole possession of their actual share, they can be 
treated as owning that actual amount.  

 

Page 106



 

45 | P a g e  
 

2.24. In some cases, a person may be the legal owner of a property but not the beneficial 
owner of a property. They have no rights to the proceeds of any sale. In such 
circumstances the property will not be taken into account.  

 
Calculating the Value of Capital  
 
2.25. The Council will work out what value a capital asset has in order to take account of it 

in the financial assessment. Other than National Savings Certificates, valuation must 
be the current market or surrender value of the capital asset, e.g. property, whichever 
is higher,  
 
minus:  

 
a. 10% of the value if there will be any actual expenses involved in selling the 

asset. This must be expenses connected with the actual sale and not simply 
the realisation of the asset. For example, the costs to withdraw funds from a 
bank account are not expenses of sale, but legal fees to sell a property would 
be; and 
 

b. any outstanding debts secured on the asset, for example a mortgage.  
 
2.26. A capital asset may have a current market value, for example stocks or shares, or a 

surrender value, for example premium bonds. The current market value will be the 
price a willing buyer would pay to a willing seller. The way the market value is 
obtained will depend on the type of asset held.  

 
2.27. Where a precise valuation is required, a professional valuer may be asked to provide 

a current market valuation. Once the asset is sold, the capital value to be taken into 
account is the actual amount realised from the sale, minus any actual expenses of 
the sale.  

 
2.28. Where the value of a property is disputed, the Council will aim to resolve this as 

quickly as possible. The Council may obtain an independent valuation of the person’s 
beneficial share of the property within the 12-week disregard period where a person 
is in a care home. This will enable the Council to work out what charges a person 
should pay and enable the person, or their representative, to consider whether to 
seek a deferred payment agreement.  

 
2.29. The value of National Savings Certificates (and Ulster Savings Certificates) 

(Premium Bonds) is assessed in the same way as other capital assets. To enable an 
accurate value for the savings certificates the person must provide details of the:  

 certificate issue number(s);  

 purchase price; 

 date of purchase.  
 
Assets Held Abroad  
 
2.3. Where capital is held abroad and all of it can be transferred to the UK, its value in the 

other country will be obtained and taken into account less any appropriate deductions 
under paragraph 14. Where capital is held jointly, it will be treated the same as if it 
were held jointly within the UK. The detail will depend on the conditions for transfer to 
the UK.  

 

Page 107



 

46 | P a g e  
 

2.31. Where the capital cannot be wholly transferred to the UK due to the rules of that 
country, for example currency restrictions, the Council will require evidence 
confirming this fact. Examples of acceptable evidence could include documentation 
from a bank, government official or solicitor in either this country or the country where 
the capital is held.  

 
2.32. Where some restriction is in place, the Council will seek evidence showing what the 

asset is, what its value is and to understand the nature and terms of the restriction so 
that should this change, the amount can be taken into account. The Council will also 
take into account the value that a willing buyer would pay in the UK for those assets, 
but be aware that it may be less than the market or surrender value in the foreign 
country.  

 
Capital Not Immediately Realisable  
 
2.4. Capital which is not immediately realisable due to notice periods, for example 

National Savings Bank investment accounts or Premium Bonds, will be taken into 
account in the normal way at its face value. This will be the value at the time of the 
financial assessment. It may need to be confirmed and adjusted when the capital is 
realised. If the person chooses not to release the capital, the value at the time of 
assessment will be used and it will be reassessed at intervals in the normal way.  

 
Example of diminishing notional capital:  
Hayley is receiving care and support in a care home. She is assessed as having 
notional capital of £20,000 plus actual capital of £6,000. This means her assets are 
above the upper capital limit and she needs to pay the full cost of her care and 
support at £400 per week.  
The notional capital may therefore be reduced by the difference between the sum 
Hayley is paying (£400) and would have paid without the notional capital (£100). If 
she did not have the notional capital it would not affect her ability to pay. This is as 
she has an income of £124.40 and a personal allowance of £24.40 per week and 
would therefore be assessed as being able to pay £100.  

 
Notional Capital  
 
2.5. In some circumstances a person may be treated as possessing a capital asset even 

where they do not actually possess it. This is called notional capital.  
 
2.51. Notional capital may be capital which:  

   a. would be available to the person if they applied for it;  
b. is paid to a third party in respect of the person;  
c. the person has deprived themselves of in order to reduce the amount of 
charge they have to pay for their care.  

 
2.52. A person’s capital will therefore be the total of both actual and notional capital. 

However, if a person has actual capital above the upper capital limit, it may not be 
necessary to consider notional capital in a care home setting.  

 
2.53. Where a person has been assessed as having notional capital, the value of this will 

be reduced over time. The value of notional capital will be reduced weekly by the 
difference between the weekly rate the person is paying for their care and the weekly 
rate they would have paid if notional capital did not apply.  

 
2.54. Where a person is benefiting from the 12-week property disregard and has chosen to 

pay a “top-up” fee from their capital resources between the upper and lower capital 

Page 108



 

47 | P a g e  
 

limits, the level of tariff income that applies during those 12 weeks is the same as it 
would be if the person were not using the capital to “top-up”.  

 
Capital Disregarded  
 
2.6. The following capital assets will be disregarded:  

a. Property in specified circumstances (see point 12 of this policy);  
b. The surrender value of any:  

 
i. Life insurance policy;  
ii. Annuity.  

 
c. Payments of training bonuses of up to £200;  
d. Payments in kind from a charity;  
e. Any personal possessions such as paintings or antiques, unless they were 

purchased with the intention of reducing capital in order to avoid care and 
support charges.  

f. Any capital which is to be treated as income or student loans;  
g. The value of funds held in trust or administered by a court which derive from a 

payment for personal injury to the person. For example, the vaccine damage 
and criminal injuries compensation funds;  

 The value of a right to receive:  

 Income under an annuity;  

 Outstanding instalments under an agreement to repay a capital sum; 

 Payment under a trust where the funds derive from a personal injury;  

 Income under a life interest or a life-rent;  

 Income (including earnings) payable in a country outside the UK which cannot 
be transferred to the UK;  

 An occupational pension;  

 Any rent. Please note however that this does not necessarily mean the 
income is disregarded. Please see Appendix C for treatment of income.  

 
j. Capital derived from an award of damages for personal injury which is 

administered by a court or which can only be disposed of by a court order or 
direction;  
 

k. The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity purchased 
pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments in consequence 
of personal injury or from funds derived from a payment in consequence of a 
personal injury and any surrender value of such an annuity;  

 
l. Periodic payments in consequence of personal injury pursuant to a court 

order or agreement to the extent that they are not a payment of income and 
area treated as income (and disregarded in the calculation of income);  

 
m. Any Social Fund payment;  

 
n. Refund of tax on interest on a loan which was obtained to acquire an interest 

in a home or for repairs or improvements to the home;  
 

o. Any capital resources which the person has no rights to as yet, but which will 
come into his possession at a later date, for example on reaching a certain 
age; 

 

Page 109



 

48 | P a g e  
 

p. Payments from the Department of Work and Pensions to compensate for the 
loss of entitlement to Housing Benefit or Housing Benefit Supplement;  

 
q. The amount of any bank charges or commission paid to convert capital from 

foreign currency to sterling;  
 

r. Payments to jurors or witnesses for court attendance (but not compensation 
for loss or earnings or benefit);  

 
s. Community charge rebate/council tax rebate;  

 
t. Money deposited with a Housing Association as a condition of occupying a 

dwelling;  
 

u. Any Child Support Maintenance Payment; 
 

v. The value of any ex-gratia payments made on or after 1st February 2001 by 
the Secretary of State in consequence of a person’s, or person’s spouse or 
civil partner’s imprisonment or internment by the Japanese during the Second 
World War;  

 
w. Any payment made by a local authority under the Adoption and Children Act 

2002 (under section 2(b)(b) or 3 of this act);  
 

x. The value of any ex-gratia payments from the Skipton Fund made by the 
Secretary of State for Health to people infected with Hepatitis C as a result of 
NHS treatment with blood or blood products; 

 
y. Payments made under a trust established out of funds provided by the 

Secretary of State for Health in respect of persons suffering from variant 
Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease to the victim or their partner (at the time of death of 
the victim);  

 
z. Any payments under Section 2, 3 or 7 of the Age-Related Payments Act 2004 

or Age Related Payments Regulations 2005 (SI No 1983);  
 

Example of disregarded capital:  
 

Mr T is a former Far East prisoner of war and receives a £10,000 ex-gratia payment as 
a result of his imprisonment. He now requires care and support and has a total of 
£25,000 in capital. When calculating how much capital should be taken into account, 
the Council will disregard the first £10,000 – the value of the ex-gratia payment.  
The normal capital rules are then applied to the remaining £15,000. In this case, the 
first £14,250 would be completely disregarded in addition to the £10,000. Tariff income 
would therefore only be applied to the remaining £750.00.  
 

(aa)  Any payments made under section 63(6)(b) of the Health Services and Public 
Health Act 1968 to a person to meet childcare costs where he or she is 
undertaking instruction connected with the health service by virtue of 
arrangements made under that section;  

 
(ab) Any payment made in accordance with regulations under Section 14F of the 

Children Act 1989 to a resident who is a prospective special guardian or 
special guardian, whether income or capital.  

Page 110



 

49 | P a g e  
 

 
Property Disregards  
 
2.7. In the following circumstances the value of the person’s main or only home will be 

disregarded:  
a. Where the person is receiving care in a setting that is not a care home;  
b. If the person’s stay in a care home is temporary and they:  

i. intend to return to that property and that property is still available to 
them; or  
ii. are taking reasonable steps to dispose of the property in order to 
acquire another more suitable property to return to.  

 
c. Where the person no longer occupies the property but it is occupied in 

part or whole as their main or only home by any of the people listed below, 
the mandatory disregard only applies where the property has been 
continuously occupied since before the person went into a care home (for 
discretionary disregards see below):  

i. the persons partner, former partner or civil partner, except where they 
are estranged;  
ii. a lone parent who is the person’s estranged or divorced partner;  
iii. a relative as defined in paragraph 35 of the person or member of the 
person’s family who is:  

 

 Aged 60 or over, or  

 Is a child of the resident aged under 18, or  

 Is incapacitated.  
 
2.8. For the purposes of the disregard a relative is defined as including any of the 

following:  
 

a. Parent (including an adoptive parent)  
b. Parent-in-law  
c. Son (including an adoptive son)  
d. Son-in-law  
e. Daughter (including an adoptive daughter)  
f. Daughter-in-law  
g. Step-parent  
h. Step-son  
i. Step-daughter  
j. Brother  
k. Sister  
l. Grandparent  
m. Grandchild  
n. Uncle  

 
Example of emotional attachment to a property:  
Bea is 62 years’ old and lives with her family in Kent. Her father Patrick is a widower 
who has been living in the family home in Teddington that she and her sister grew up 
in and where she occasionally stays to help her father. Patrick has been assessed as 
having eligible care and support needs that are best met by moving into a care home.  

 
Although Bea is over the age of 60, the family home is not her main or only home 
and the property is therefore not disregarded.  

 

Page 111



 

50 | P a g e  
 

Example of occupying a property when not physically present:  
 

Matt is 60 years old and has been living overseas for the past 10 years due to his job 
in the diplomatic service. When he is in England, he lives at the family home he grew 
up in. His father Ken has been assessed as having eligible care and support needs 
that are best met by moving into a care home.  
In Ken’s financial assessment, the value of his property is disregarded as his son 
Matt is a qualifying relative that occupies the property as his main or only home. 
Although Matt is not physically present at the property at the point Ken moves into 
the care home, his alternative accommodation is only as a result of his employment 
and the family home is his main home.  
o. Aunt  
p. Nephew  
q. Niece  
r. The spouse, civil partner or unmarried partner of a to k inclusive.  

 
2.9. A member of the person’s family is defined as someone who is living with the 

qualifying relative as part of an unmarried couple, married to or in a civil partnership.  
 
2.10. For the purposes of the disregard the meaning of ‘incapacitated is not closely 

defined. However, it will be reasonable to conclude that a relative is incapacitated if 
either of the following conditions applies:  

a. the relative is receiving one (or more) of the following benefits: incapacity 
benefit, severe disablement allowance, disability living allowance, personal 
independence payments, armed forces independence payments, attendance 
allowance, constant attendance allowance, or a similar benefit; or  
 
b. the relative does not receive any disability related benefit but their degree 
of incapacity is equivalent to that required to qualify for such a benefit. 
Medical or other evidence may be needed before a decision is reached.  

 
2.11. For the purpose of the property disregard, the meaning of ‘occupy’ is not closely 

defined. In most cases it will be obvious whether or not the property is occupied by 
a qualifying relative as their main or only home. However, there will be some cases 
where this may not be clear and the Council will undertake a factual inquiry 
weighing up all relevant factors in order to reach a decision. An emotional 
attachment to the property alone is not sufficient for the disregard to apply.  

 
2.12.  Circumstances where it may be unclear might include where a qualifying relative 

has to live elsewhere for the purposes of their employment, for example a member 
of the armed services or the diplomatic service. Whilst they live elsewhere in order 
to undertake their employment, the property remains their main or only home. 
Another example may be someone serving a prison sentence. It would not be 
reasonable to regard the prison as the person’s main or only home and they may 
well intend to return to the property in question at the end of their sentence. In such 
circumstances the Council will consider the qualifying relative’s length of sentence 
and the likelihood of them returning to the property. Essentially the qualifying 
relative is occupying the property but is not physically present.  

 
Example of local authority discretion to apply a property disregard:  
Jayne has the early signs of dementia but wishes to continue living in her own home. 
She is not assessed as having eligible needs, but would benefit from some 
occasional support. Her best friend Penny gives up her own home to move in with 
Jayne. At this point, there is no suggestion that Jayne may need care in a care home.  

Page 112



 

51 | P a g e  
 

After 5 years Jayne’s dementia has reached the point where she needs a far greater 
level of care and support and following an assessment it is agreed her needs would 
best be met in a care home. On moving into the care home, the Council uses its 
discretion to apply the property disregard as this has now become Penny’s main or 
only home.  

 
2.13. The Council will take account of the individual circumstances of each case and will 

consider the following factors in making a decision:  
 

 Does the relative currently occupy another property?  

 If the relative has somewhere else to live do they own or rent the property (i.e. 
how secure/permanent is it?)  

 If the relative is not physically present is there evidence of a firm intention to 
return to or live in the property  

 Where does the relative pay council tax?  

 Where is the relative registered to vote?  

 Where is the relative registered with a doctor?  

 Are the relatives belongings located in the property?  

 Is there evidence that the relative has a physical connection with the 
property?  

 
2.14.  A property will be disregarded where the relative meets the qualifying conditions 

(e.g is aged 60 or over) and has occupied the property as their main or only home 
since before the resident entered the care home.  

 
Discretionary Disregard  
2.15.  The Council has a duty to ensure that expenditure incurred in relation to the cost of 

care is properly and fully recovered from qualifying assets. This means that, for any 
person receiving care, the  cost of that care is properly met from income and capital 
assets, in accordance with legislative provision and guidance. 

Such guidance also provides that the Council may wish to apply their discretion in 
disregarding property other than in those cases where it is mandatory to do so. The 
Council will consider such applications as may be made, however, Guidance also 
states that decisions must also be balanced against the need to ensure that a 
person’s assets are not preserved at public expense. 

In making a decision on whether to agree a discretionary disregard of your property 
we will consider our financial resources, and the following factors:  

 What is the nature and closeness of the relationship between you and the 
person remaining in the property?   

 Has the person cared for you and for how long? If so, what is the level 
and nature of the care provided by the person? Has any care been 
provided by others? If so what is the relationship to you and what is the 
level and nature of that care? 

 How long has the person lived in the property?  

 Where did the person reside (live as their main or usual place of 
residence) before moving in to the property and what has happened to 
their former accommodation and any proceeds of sale? 

 What was the main reason for the person to move into your home? Were 
there any other factors affecting the decision to move into your home?  

Page 113



 

52 | P a g e  
 

 What is the age, employment status and financial circumstances of the 
person? 

 When did you first have identified care needs? 

 When was care home accommodation first considered as an option for 
you? 

The Council will consider such applications on a case by case basis. 
 
12-week Property Disregard  
 
2.16.  A key aim of the charging policy is to prevent people being forced to sell their home 

at a time of crisis. The regulations under the Care Act 2014 therefore create space 
for people to make decisions as to how to meet their contribution to the cost of their 
eligible care needs.  

 
2.17.  The Council will disregard the value of a person’s main or only home when the 

value of their non-housing assets is below the upper capital limit for 12 weeks in the 
following circumstances:  
a. When they first enter a care home as a permanent resident; or  
b. When a property disregard other than the 12-week property disregard 

unexpectedly ends because the qualifying relative has died or moved into a 
care home.  

 
2.18. In addition, the Council has discretion to choose to apply the disregard when there is a 

sudden and unexpected change in the person’s financial circumstances. In deciding 
whether to do so, the Council will consider the individual circumstances of the case. 
Such circumstances might include a fall in share prices or an unanticipated debt. An 
example is given below.  

 
Example of an unexpected change in financial circumstances:  
 

Harry is a widower who owns his own home. 10 months ago he moved into a care 
home as a self-funder. He has been meeting the bulk of his costs from shares he 
received as part of his redundancy package. Due to an unexpected event, the value 
of his shared is suddenly reduced by half, meaning he is unable to meet the cost of 
his care.  
 
Although already in a care home and likely to remain responsible for paying for this 
care, Harry approaches the Council for assistance and to seek a Deferred Payment 
Agreement. During the financial assessment the Council agrees that the 
circumstances could not have been foreseen and uses its discretion to disregard the 
value of his property for the first 12 weeks. This provides Harry with the space he 
needs to make arrangements for the Deferred Payment Agreement to be put in place 
and enable him to continue to meet the cost of his care.  

 
Business Asset partial disregard 26-Week Disregard  
 
2.19.  The following capital assets must be disregarded for at least 26 weeks in a financial 

assessment. However, the Council may choose to apply the disregard for longer 
where it considers this appropriate. For example, where a person is taking legal 
steps to occupy premises as their home, but the legal processes take more than 26 
weeks to complete.  

 

Page 114



 

53 | P a g e  
 

i. Assets of any business owned or part-owned by the person in which they 
were a self-employed worker and has stopped work due to some disease or 
disablement but intends to take up work again when they are fit to do so. 
Where the person is in a care home, this should apply from the date they first 
took up residence. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 9 of the Care and Support 
(Charging and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  
 

ii. Money acquired specifically for repairs to or replacement of the person’s 
home or personal possessions provided it is used for that purpose. This 
should apply from the date the funds were received. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 
12 of the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) 
regulations]  

 
iii. Premises which the person intends to occupy as their home where they have 

started legal proceedings to obtain possession. This should be from the date 
legal advice was first sought or proceedings first commenced. [Schedule 2 
Paragraph 22 of the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) 
regulations]  

 
iv. Premises which the person intends to occupy as their home where essential 

repairs or alterations are required. This should apply from the date the person 
takes action to effect the repairs. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 21 of the Care and 
Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  

 
v. Capital received from the sale of a former home where the capital is to be used 

by the person to buy another home. This should apply from the date of 
completion of the sale. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 6 of the Care and Support 
(Charging and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  

 
vi. Money deposited with a Housing Association which is to be used by the person to 

purchase another home. This should apply from the date on which the money 
was deposited. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 11 of the Care and Support (Charging 
and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  

 
vii. Grant made under a Housing Act which is to be used by the person to purchase a 

home or pay for repairs to make the home habitable. This should apply from the 
date the grant is received. [Schedule 4 Paragraph 22 of the Care and Support 
(Charging and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  

 
52-week Disregard   
 
2.20.  The following payments of capital will be disregarded for a maximum of 52 weeks 

from the date they are received.  
a. The balance of any arrears of or any compensation due to non-payment of:  

i. Mobility supplement  
ii. Attendance Allowance 
iii. Constant Attendance Allowance  
iv. Disability Living Allowance / Personal Independence Payment  
v. Exceptionally Severe Disablement Allowance  
vi. Severe Disablement Occupational Allowance  
vii. Armed forces service pension based on need for attendance  
viii. Pension under the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983, based on 
the need for attendance  
ix. Income Support/Pension Credit  

Page 115



 

54 | P a g e  
 

x. Minimum Income Guarantee  
xi. Working Tax Credit  
xii. Child Tax Credit  
xiii. Housing Benefit  
xiv. Universal Credit  
xv. Special payments to pre-1973 war widows.  

 
As the above payments will be paid for specific periods, they will be treated as income 

over the period for which they are payable. Any money left over after the period for 
which they are treated as income has elapsed will be treated as capital. [Schedule 
2 Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of 
Resources) regulations]  

 
b. Payments or refunds for:  

i. NHS glasses, dental treatment or patient’s travelling expenses;  
ii. Cash equivalent of free milk and vitamins;  
iii. Expenses in connection with prison visits. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 22]  

 
d. Personal Injury Payments.  

 
2 Year Disregard  
 
2.21. The Council will disregard payments made under a trust established out of funds by 
the Secretary of State for Health in respect of vCJD to:  

 
a.  A member of the victim’s family for 2 years from the date of death of the victim (or 
from the date of payment from the trust if later); or  
 
b. A dependent child or young person until they turn 18. [Schedule 2 Paragraph 27]  

 
Other Disregards  
 
2.22. In some cases a person’s assets may be tied up in a business that they own or part 
own. Where a person is taking steps to realise their share of the assets, these will be 
disregarded during the process. However, the person will be required to show that it is their 
clear intention to realise the asset as soon as practicable. In order to show their intent, the 
Council will request the following information:  

 
i. A description of the nature of the business asset;  
ii. The person’s estimate of the length of time necessary to realise the asset or their 
share of it;  
iii. A statement of what, if any, steps have been taken to realise the asset, what these 
were and what is intended in the near future; and  
iv. Any other relevant evidence, for example the person’s health, receivership, 
liquidation, estate agent’s confirmation of placing any property on the market.  

 
2.23. Where the person has provided this information to show that steps are being taken to 
realise the value of the asset, the Council will disregard the value for a period that it 
considers to be reasonable. In deciding what is reasonable the Council will take into account 
the length of time of any legal processes that may be needed.  
 
2.2.4. Where the person has no immediate intention of attempting to realise the business 
asset, its capital value will be taken into account in the financial assessment. Where a 
business is jointly owned, this will apply only to the person’s share.  
 

Page 116



 

55 | P a g e  
 

Treatment of Investment Bonds  
 
2.25. The treatment of investment bonds is currently complex. This is in part because of the 
differing products that are on offer. As such, the Council will seek advice from Legal 
Services.  
 
2.26. Where an investment bond includes one or more element of life insurance policies that 
contain cashing-in rights by way of options for total or partial surrender, then the value of 
those rights will be disregarded as a capital asset in the financial assessment.  
 
Capital Treated as Income  
 
2.27. The following capital payments will be treated as income. The Council therefore will 
have regard to Appendix C before conducting their assessments.  

a. Any payment under an annuity.  
b. Capital paid by instalment where the total of:  

i. the instalments outstanding at the time the person first becomes liable to 
pay for their care, or in the case of a person in temporary care whom the 
Council had previously decided not to charge, the first day on which the local 
authority decided to charge; and  
ii. the amount of other capital held by the resident is over £16,000. If it is 
£16,000 or less, each instalment should be treated as capital. [Regulation 16 
of the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) 
regulations]  

 
Earnings  
 
2.28. Any income of the person derived from employment will be treated as earnings and not 
taken into account in the financial assessment.  
 
Income Treated as Capital  
 
2.29. The following types of income will be treated as capital:  
 

a. Any refund of income tax charged on profits of a business or earnings of an 
employed earner; Any holiday pay payable by an employer more than 4 weeks after 
the termination or interruption of employment; 
  

b.  Income derived from a capital asset, for example, building society interest or 
dividends from shares. This should be treated as capital from the date it is normally 
due to be paid to the person. This does not apply to income from certain disregarded 
capital;  

 
c. Any advance of earnings or loan made to an employed earner by the employer if the 

person is still in work. This is as the payment does not form part of the employee’s 
regular income and would have to be repaid;  

 
d. Any bounty payment paid at intervals of at least one year from employment as:  

i. A part time fireman;  
ii. An auxiliary coastguard;  
iii. A part time lifeboat man;  
iv. A member of the territorial or reserve forces.  

 
e. Charitable and voluntary payments which are neither made regularly nor due to be 

made regularly, apart from certain exemptions such as payments from AIDS trusts. 

Page 117



 

56 | P a g e  
 

Payments will include those made by a third party to the person to support the 
clearing of charges for accommodation.  
 

f. Any payments of arrears of contributions by a local authority to a custodian towards 
the cost of accommodation and maintenance of a child. [Regulation 18 of the Care 
and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  

 
 Capital Available on Application  
 
2.30. In some instances a person may need to apply for access to capital assets but has not 
yet done so. In such circumstances this capital will be treated as already belonging to the 
person except in the following instances:  

a. Capital held in a discretionary trust;  
b. Capital held in a trust derived from a payment in consequence of a personal injury; 
c. Capital derived from an award of damages for personal injury which is 
administered by a court;  
d. Any loan which could be raised against a capital asset which is disregarded, for 
example the home. [Regulation 21(2) of the Care and Support (Charging and 
Assessment of Resources) regulations] 
 

2.31. The Council will distinguish between:  
a. Capital already owned by the person but which in order to access they must make 
an application for. For example:  

i. Money held by the person’s solicitor;  
ii. Premium Bonds;  
iii. National Savings Certificates;  
iv. Money held by the Registrar of a County Court which will be released on 
application; and  
 

b. Capital not owned by the person that will become theirs on application, for 
example an unclaimed Premium Bond win. This will be treated as notional 
capital. [Regulation 21(2) of the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of 
Resources) regulations]  

 
2.32. Where the Council treats capital available on application as notional capital the Council 
will do so only from the date at which it could be acquired by the person. [Regulation 21(2) of 
the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) regulations]  
 
2.33. When applying notional income to a defined contribution pension this will be calculated 
as the maximum income that would be available if the person had taken out an annuity. 
Further guidance is provided in Appendix C.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 118



 

57 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix [C]: Treatment of Income  

 
3.1 The treatment of income when conducting a financial assessment in all circumstances. 

This is divided into:  

 Care homes;  

 All other settings;  
 
3.12. The Council will assess the income of the person when undertaking a financial 
assessment.  
 
3.13. There are differences in how income is treated in a care home and in all other settings. 
Charging a person in a care home is provided for in a consistent national framework. When 
charging a person in all other settings, the Council has more discretion to enable it to take 
account of local practices and innovations. This policy sets out the common issues and then 
those particular to each setting.  
 
3.14. This Appendix covers the treatment of income and should be read in conjunction with 
Appendix B on the treatment of capital. The detail of the sources of income which the 
Council will disregard is set out in this policy.  
 
Common issues  
 
3.2. The following section sets out the issues common to charging for all settings.  
 
3.21. Only the income of the cared-for person can be taken into account in the financial 
assessment of what they can afford to pay for their care and support. Where this person 
receives income as one of a couple, the starting presumption is that the cared-for person 

Page 119



 

58 | P a g e  
 

has an equal share of the income. The Council will also consider the implications for the 
cared-for person’s partner.  
 
3.22. Income is net of any tax or National Insurance contributions.  
 
3.23. Income will always be taken into account unless it is disregarded under the regulations.  
 
3.24. Income that is disregarded will either be:  

a. Partially disregarded; or  
b. Fully disregarded.  

 
3.25. all cases, irrespective of setting, employed and self-employed earnings are fully 
disregarded. Any income earned by the service user’s spouse, partner, or family member 
residing in the same address will also be fully disregarded  
 
3.26. Earnings in relation to an employed earner are any remuneration or profit from 
employment. This will include:  
 

a. Any bonus or commission;  
 
b. Any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to the person 
on account of the termination of their employment by reason of redundancy;  
 
c. Any payments in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as 
compensation for the loss of employment but only in so far as it represents loss of 
income;  
d. Any holiday pay except any payable more than four weeks after the termination or 
interruption of employment;  
 
e. Any payment by way of a retainer;  
 
f. Any payment made by the person’s employer in respect of any expenses not 
wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of 
employment, including any payment made by the person’s employer in respect of 
travelling expenses incurred by the person between their home and the place of 
employment and expenses incurred by the person under arrangements made for the 
care of a member of the person’s family owing to the person’s absence from home;  
 
g. Any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the 
Employment Rights Act 1996 (remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal);  
 
h. Any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the Social Security Contributions 
and Benefits Act 1992 (certain sums to be earnings for social security purposes);  
 
i. Any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland;  
 
j. Any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the person who for the 
time being is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave or is absent from 
work because of illness;  
 
k. The amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken 
into account in the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of 
Schedule 3 to the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001.  

Page 120



 

59 | P a g e  
 

 
3.27. Earnings in relation to an employed earner do not include:  
 

a. Any payment in kind, with the exception of any non-cash voucher which has been 
taken into account in the computation of the person’s earnings – as referred to 
above;  
 
b. Any payment made by an employer for expenses wholly, exclusively and 
necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment;  
 
c. Any occupational/personal pension.  

 
3.28. Earnings in the case of employment as a self-employed earner mean the gross 
receipts of the employment. This includes any allowance paid under section 2 of the 
Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) 
Act 1990 to the person for the purpose of assisting the person in carrying on his business.  
 
3.29. Earnings in the case of employment as a self-employed earner do not include:  
 

a. Any payment to the person by way of a charge for board and lodging 
accommodation provided by the person;  
b. Any sports award.  

 
3.30. Earnings also include any payment provided to prisoners to encourage and reward 
their constructive participation in the regime of the establishment, this may include payment 
for working, education or participation in other related activities.  
 
Benefits  
 
3.31. The Council will take most of the benefits people receive into account. Those the 
Council will disregard are listed below. However, the Council will ensure that in addition to 
the minimum guaranteed income or personal expenses allowance – details of which are set 
out below – people retain enough of their benefits to pay for things to meet those needs not 
being met by the Council.  
 
3.32. Any income from the following sources will be fully disregarded:  
 

a. Direct Payments; 
 

b. Guaranteed Income Payments made to Veterans under the Armed Forces 
Compensation Scheme;  
 

c. The mobility component of Disability Living Allowance;  
 

d. The mobility component of Personal Independence Payments.  
 
3.33. Please refer to Table 1 below which details benefits that will be included in the 
assessment and benefits which will be disregarded in part or in full for people living in a 
‘Care Home Setting’ and ‘Any Other Setting’.  
 
 
 
Table 1 Name of Benefit  

Care Home Setting  Any Other Setting  

Page 121



 

60 | P a g e  
 

Attendance Allowance, 
including Constant 
Attendance Allowance  

Included I thought they 
stopped receiving AA when 
in a perm care home?  
If a person goes in for a 
temporary period this 
benefit will be disregarded 
in full.  

Included  
The Night Care element 
when the benefit is paid at 
the higher rate, will be 
disregarded if the care and 
support package does not 
include care during the 
night.  
Night services are defined 
as the period from when the 
household closes down for 
the night. Dressing in the 
morning and undressing 
before going to bed are 
daytime activities.  

Disability Living Allowance 
(Care component)  

Included As above  
If a person goes in for a 
temporary period this 
benefit will be disregarded 
in full.  

Included  
The Night Care element 
when the benefit is paid at 
the higher rate, will be 
disregarded if the care and 
support package does not 
include care during the 
night.  
Night services are defined 
as the period from when the 
household closes down for 
the night. Dressing in the 
morning and undressing 
before going to bed are 
daytime activities.  

Personal Independence 
Payment (Daily Living 
component)  

Included As above  
If a person goes in for a 
temporary period this 
benefit will be disregarded 
in full.  

Included with a disregarded 
element  
The Night Care element 
when the benefit is paid at 
the higher rate, will be 
disregarded if the care and 
support package does not 
include care during the 
night.  

 

  

Page 122



 

61 | P a g e  
 

Appendix [D]: Household Related Expenditure (HRE)  

 
What is HRE?  

 

4.1. Household related expenditure is the cost incurred by the service user in maintaining 

their home. For this purpose the “home” is the service user’s main place of residence. 

Allowable housing costs (e.g. rent/mortgage/council tax) will only be allowed in the financial 

assessment where the service user is liable to pay these costs. Where the service user is 

not liable for these costs, but contributes towards these through a private board agreement 

or similar, then the service user will be expected to meet this expenditure from their 

guaranteed income  
 
What expenditure can be taken into account?  

 

4.12. The following items of HRE are fully taken into account in the financial assessment:  

 

 Council Tax (net of Council Tax support)  

 Rent (if payments are classed as rent for housing benefit purposes, amount taken 

into account is net of housing benefit if in payment)  

 Mortgage Payments (unless paid through Income Support/Pension Credit)  

 Ground Rent Hire purchase agreement to buy the home (e.g. caravan)  

 Any other items of reasonable household expenditure that the service user wishes to 

claim for will need to be evidenced and included in the financial assessment form that 

is completed.  

 

Page 123



 

62 | P a g e  
 

 

Appendix [E]: Disability Related Expenditure (DRE)  

 

5.1. Disability related expenditure is the additional cost or costs incurred by the service user, 

as a direct result of their disability or medical condition.  

Service users who are in receipt of care, with the exception of permanent care in a care home, 

and are in receipt of disability benefits (Attendance Allowance/Disability Living Allowance and 

Personal Independence Payment) will have a standard rate of DRE automatically applied to 

their financial assessment in recognition of their disability. The service user will also be invited 

to request a review of the DRE award within the assessment notification letter, if they feel the 

standard rate does not meet their current needs   

 

5.2. Only costs incurred and evidenced by the service user will be considered as part of the 

assessment as allowable expenditure. The Council presently uses guide weekly disregard 

allowance rates for certain types of disability related expenditure, and usually these are treated 

as maximum amounts that can be disregarded in the financial assessment calculation.  

 

5.3. However, individual circumstances are taken into account, and reasonableness is applied 

during the financial assessment determination process based on the information and evidence 

provided.  

 

5.4. The Council has the right not to allow costs that should be met by other agencies, such 

as the NHS. This applies to therapies such as physiotherapy, chiropody and incontinence 

pads.  
 

5.5. The Council will consider the following DRE within the financial assessment calculation:  

 payment for any community alarm system;  

 excessive laundry costs, bedding etc. due to incontinence. However, the Council will 

not make allowances at a higher rate where a reasonable alternative is available at 

a lower cost;  

 heating or metered water costs, above average levels for the area and housing type, 

occasioned by age, medical condition or disability; special clothing and footwear; 

special medically advised dietary needs;  

 reasonable costs of basic garden maintenance, cleaning or domestic help, if such is 

necessitated by the service user’s disability and is not already met; reasonable costs 

paid to a personal assistant (not a household member) who carries out necessary 

tasks, for example, around the house;  

 purchase, maintenance and repair of disability related equipment, including 

equipment or transport needed to enter or remain in work; this may include, for 

example, IT costs, where necessitated by the disability;  

 specialist internet access, for example, for blind and partially sighted people;  

transport costs necessitated by illness or disability, including costs of transport to 

day centres, over and above the mobility component of DLA or PIP, if in payment. 

Where the Council provides transport and the service user wishes to use alternative 

transport at a higher cost, the cost of Council provision will be used to determine any 

allowance 

Page 124



 

63 | P a g e  
 

 All other expenditure will usually be assessed as either an everyday living cost, or 

will be reviewed as a specific need against the service users’ care and support plan, 

taking individual circumstances into account.  

 

5.6. Expenditure which is the responsibility of another organisation (such as the NHS/PCT) 

will not be considered as DRE by the Local Authority. Examples of this includes but is not 

limited to:  
a. Physiotherapy  
b. Travel to and from Hospital  

 
5.7. In assessing disability-related expenditure, the authority should include the following 

(which costs may need to be evidenced):  
a. Payment for any community alarm system (net of Housing Benefit or Supporting 
People Grant)  
 
b. Costs of any privately arranged care services provided it is agreed necessary to 
meet eligible social care needs, including respite care  
 
c. Costs of any speciality items occasioned by disability, e.g.:  

i. Specialist washing powders or laundry  
ii. Additional costs of special dietary needs due to illness or disability (the user 
may be asked for permission for us to approach their GP in cases of doubt)  
iii. Special clothing or footwear, for example, where this needs to be specially 
made, or additional wear and tear to clothing and footwear caused by 
disability  
iiii. Additional costs of bedding, for example, because of incontinence  
iv. Any heating costs or metered costs of water, above the average levels for 
the area and housing type, occasioned by age, medical condition, or disability  
vi. Reasonable costs of basic garden maintenance, cleaning, or domestic 
help, if necessitated by the individuals disability and not met by social 
services  
vii. Purchase, maintenance, and repair of disability-related equipment, 
including equipment or transport needed to enter or remain in work, this may 
include IT costs, where necessitated by the disability; reasonable hire costs of 
equipment may be included, if due to waiting for supply of equipment from the 
local council  
viii. Personal assistance costs, including any household or other necessary 
costs arising for the user  
ix. Other transport costs necessitated by illness or disability, including costs of 
transport to day centres, over and above the mobility component of DLA, if in 
payment and available for these costs. In some cases, it may be reasonable 
for council not to take account of transport e.g. council-provided transport to 
day centres is available but has not been used  
x. In other cases, it may be reasonable for Council not to allow for items 
where a reasonable alternative is available at lesser costs. For example, 
private purchases of incontinence pads, as these are available from the NHS.

Page 125



 

64 | P a g e  
 

Appendix [F]: Deferred payments 

 

If you need to pay for your care but can't access all your money (for example, because it is 

tied up in a property you own) then a deferred payment agreement might be the right option 

for you.  

Deferred payments have been introduced nationally as part of the Care Act and mean that 

people should not have to sell their homes to pay for their care, as they have sometimes had 

to do in the past.  

With a deferred payment agreement we pay an agreed part of your weekly care and support 

bill for as long as necessary. You also pay a weekly contribution towards your care – that 

you have been assessed as being able to pay – from your income and other savings.    

You can delay repaying us until you choose to sell your home, or until after your death. 

How to find out if you are eligible for a deferred payment agreement 

Deferred payment agreements will suit some people’s circumstances better than others and 

not everyone will be eligible. You should be eligible for a deferred payment agreement if you: 

 are receiving care in a care home (or you are going to move into one soon) 

 own your own home (unless your partner or certain others live there) 

 have savings and investments of less than £23,250 (not including the value of your 

home or your pension pot). 

Use the online  calculator on our website (link below) to give you an indication to whether 

you would be eligible to apply for a deferred payment and the amount you may receive. 

The calculator does not replace our financial assessment. 

https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/adult/money/Pages/Deferred-payments-

scheme.aspx 

When to repay a deferred payment agreement 

You have the option to sell your home and pay us back at any point. Or you can have a 

deferred payment agreement for the full length of your stay in a care home and pay it back 

out of your estate, following your death. 

 

The amount you can defer by having a deferred payment agreement 

The amount you can defer will depend on the value of your home, which determines your 

equity limit. As a guide, most people can use 80% to 90% of the equity available in their 

home.  

The limit on equity is to protect you from not having enough money to pay for the costs of 

selling the property (like solicitor fees) and to protect us against a drop in housing prices and 

the risk that it may not get all the money back.  

 

Applying for a deferred payment agreement if your spouse or civil partner lives in 

your house 

Page 126

https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/adult/money/Pages/Deferred-payments-scheme.aspx
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/adult/money/Pages/Deferred-payments-scheme.aspx


 

65 | P a g e  
 

If you need to move into a care home but your partner lives in your home then we will 

consider your partner’s circumstances as well as your own.  

Provided your partner lives in your home as their main or only home, and you are not 

estranged or divorced, then we will exclude the value of your home when it assesses your 

finances to work out how much you will have to pay for care and will not need a deferred 

payment agreement. 

If you and another person part-own your property (and is disregarded) and you would 

otherwise be eligible for a deferred payment, we can consider a deferred payment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 127



 

66 | P a g e  
 

Appendix [G]: Ways to Pay 

 

Page 128



1  
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
Adult Social Care Consultation  
Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework 
 
 
 
 

Information and 
questionnaire 
 

Page 129



2  
 

 

What is this consultation about? 
 
Social care and support services are not generally free of charge. People 

have always had to pay a contribution towards the cost of their care if 

they can afford to do so. 

 

The Care Act 2014 allows the Council to decide how they will charge for 

care and support services that are arranged and funded by them. 

Income received from care charges helps to protect, develop and extend 

care and support services and ensure that high quality services are 

available in the right form to meet the needs of adults within the local 

area. 

 

Our new Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment 

Framework complies with the Care Act 2014 and relevant statutory 

guidance. It pulls together our existing charging and contribution policies 

into a single document for ease of reference. It does not introduce any 

new changes. 

 

The purpose of this consultation is to seek your views on this new 

Framework document, including its ease of use. Your feedback is very 

important and we encourage you to share any comments that you might 

have. 

 

The closing date for this consultation is Tuesday 1st January 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 130



3  
 

How can I take part in the consultation? 
 

You can complete this consultation either online or by contacting us to 

request a paper copy be sent to you. If you need this consultation in a 

different format (e.g. large print or Easy Read) or require support in a 

language other than English, then you can also contact us. 

 

Contact details are as follows: 

 
Email - adultcare@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
Telephone - 020 8314 7656 

 
If you need help in completing this consultation, family and friends are 
likely to be the best and easiest source of support. Independent 
advocacy is also available through Healthwatch Lewisham and Bromley. 
Healthwatch’s Involvement Officer, Peter Todd, can be contacted on 
petert@healthwatchbromley.co.uk or by calling 020 8315 1916. This 
service is available Monday to Friday between 9am and 5pm. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 131

mailto:adultcare@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:petert@healthwatchbromley.co.uk


4  
 

 

Background 
 
Our new Framework has not changed our approach to charging or 
contributions for Adult Social Care, which continues as detailed below: 
 
How we currently charge you for the services you receive 
 
Adult Social Care is not a free service like the NHS. Whilst some types of 
care and support are free, many services are subject to a charge. All local 
councils follow the Department of Health’s guidance on how we charge 
you for the services you receive.  
 
We must have a reasonable and fair charging policy for the services we 
provide. We are also required by law to carry out a financial assessment 
to work out what you can reasonably afford to pay towards the services 
that you receive. This takes account of your personal circumstances so 
that you retain at least a basic living allowance and are not put in a 
position of financial hardship. 
 
Our approach aims to be clear and consistent, so that you know in 
advance what you will be charged for and that these charges will be 
applied fairly. The Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment 
Framework sets out this information for you in a single document.  
 
How we currently work out your charges 
 
A social care assessment is completed to decide what your needs are, 
and a means test (also called a financial assessment) is carried out to 
determine how much, if anything, you should pay towards the services 
identified to meet your needs. This financial assessment looks at your 
income, savings and expenses, and the cost of the services you receive. 
 
If your income is lower than the basic rate of income support levels plus 
25% (the ‘Income Support Buffer’) you are exempt from charging for 
non-residential services, unless you have savings over a certain limit.  
 
When working out whether or not to charge for a non-residential 
service, we also take into account any expenses you have because of a 
disability or frailty. This is known as Disability Related Expenditure (DRE). 

Page 132



5  
 

 
If you have more than £23,250 in savings or if you choose not to declare 
your finances to us then you will be charged the full cost of your 
services. 
 
Which services are provided FREE of charge? 
 
Assessments of need and care planning are always provided free of 
charge, and we are not permitted to charge for any service or part of a 
service which the NHS is under a duty to provide, such as Continuing 
Healthcare. 
 
By law, we must also provide the following care and support services 
free of charge: 
 

 Intermediate care – including enablement – which provides up to six 
weeks of intensive therapies and support from health and social care 
professionals to help people promote or regain their independence. 

 Community equipment and minor adaptations (up to a cost of 
£1,000) – small items of equipment or gadgets or small modifications 
designed to help people stay active and carry out everyday tasks 
without the help of others. 

 Care and support provided to people with Creutzfeldt-Jacob Disease. 

 After-care services/support provided under section 117 of the Mental 
Health Act 1983. 

 
Additionally, we have chosen to provide the following services free of 
charge: 
 

 Carer services provided directly to meet carers identified needs 

 Council-provided transport 
 
 
 

Page 133



6  
 

 

The questionnaire 
 

What follows is a series of questions about the new Adult Social Care 
Charging and Financial Assessment Framework. You will need to take a 
look at this document before answering these questions. 
 
You do not have to answer all of these questions, only those that you 
feel are relevant or of interest to you. 
 
All responses will remain anonymous and you will not be identified in 
any way. 
 
Are you:  

□   An Adult Social Care service user 

□  A friend or family member of an Adult Social Care service user 

□  An advocate for an Adult Social Care service user 

□  A representative of a voluntary or community group 

 (please specify)……………………………………………………………………… 

□  Other 

       (please specify)…………………………………………………………………….... 
 
 
How easy or difficult did you find it to read the Adult Social Care 
Charging and Financial Assessment Framework? 

□   Very easy 

□  Easy 

□  Neither easy nor difficult 

□  Difficult 

□  Very difficult 

 
 

Page 134



7  
 

Were you able to find the information that you were looking for in the 
Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment Framework? 

□ Yes 

□  No 

 
 
If no, please describe what information that you were unable to find? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
How clear is the Council’s policy towards charging and financial 
assessment for Adult Social Care? 

□   Very clear 

□  Clear 

□  Neither clear nor unclear 

□  Unclear 

□  Very unclear 

 

Page 135



8  
 

 
If you feel that any aspect of the Council’s policy towards charging and 
financial assessment for Adult Social Care is unclear, then please 
explain below: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Do you have any other comments that you would like to add about the 
Adult Social Care Charging and Financial Assessment Framework? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 136



9  
 

 

About you 
 
The following monitoring questions help us to be fair and inclusive in the 
work that we do. All questions on the form are voluntary and you do not 
have to answer them. 
 
The information that you do provide helps us to understand who is 
sharing their views and influencing our decision-making. It also helps us 
to ensure that nobody is discriminated against unlawfully.  
 
Any information that you do choose to provide on this form will be 
treated confidentially in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. 
 
Age 
Please select your age group 
(please select one answer) 

0-64…………………………………………………………………………  

65-84………………………………………………………………………  

85+………………………………………………………………………….  
 
Gender 
Are you: 
(please select one answer) 

Male………………………………………………………………………..  

Female…………………………………………………………………….  
 
Ethnicity 
What is your ethnic group? 
(please select one answer) 

White……………………………………………………………………….  

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British………………...  

Asian / Asian British………………………………………………….  

Mixed / Multiple ethnic groups………………………………...  

Any other ethnic group……………………………………………..  
 
 
 

Page 137



10  
 

Disability 
Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? 
(please select one answer) 

Yes………………………………………………………………………..   

No………………………………………………………………………….  
 
 
 
  

Thank you 

 
Thank you for taking the time to share your views with us, it is greatly 
appreciated. The results of this consultation are going to Mayor and 
Cabinet in February 2018.  A summary report will be made available on 
our website. You may also request a copy by emailing 
adultcare@lewisham.gov.uk. 
 
 
 

Page 138

mailto:adultcare@lewisham.gov.uk


How to pay
There are lots of different ways to pay. Just choose the method that suits you best. 

PayPoint 

Take your invoice and payment 
(cash only) to anywhere that 
displays the PayPoint sign. At 
the PayPoint they will scan the 
barcode on the front of your 
invoice and ask you the amount you want  
to pay. Please give the amount stated on  
your invoice.  
To find your nearest PayPoint visit:  
www.paypoint.co.uk/locator 

Please allow three working days  
for the payment to reach us. 

Post Office 

Take your invoice and payment 
to any Post Office.  
You can pay by cash, debit 
card and cheque only. You 
cannot pay by credit card. Cheques should be 
made payable to Post Office Ltd. At the Post 
Office they will scan the barcode on the front 
of your invoice and ask you the amount you 
want to pay.  
To find your nearest Post Office visit:  
www.postoffice.co.uk 

Please allow three working days  
for the payment to reach us. 

Debit or credit card

You can pay with most debit or credit cards 
except Diners Club and American Express. 
There is a 1.9% surcharge for credit card 
payments. Debit card payments are free. 

You can make a payment at www.lewisham.
gov.uk. Select ‘pay it’ and choose the 
service you wish to pay for. You will need 
to log in to the payment system or first 
time users will need to register. Enter your 
invoice number when prompted for the 
reference number. When paying for more 
than one invoice you will need to pay for 
each invoice separately. 

By phone

You can make a credit or debit card payment 
through our touchtone service by phoning  
020 8690 8707 (option 6). Please ensure you 
have your invoice number(s) when you phone. 

There is a surcharge of 1.9% for credit card 
payments. Debit card payments are free.

Bank transfer 

You can pay your invoice with an  
electronic transfer (BACS) from your  
bank or building society. 

In your instruction to your bank, please include:

  Barclays Bank Plc  
1 Churchill Place, Canary Wharf,  
London E14 5HP

  sort code 20 00 00 

  account number 93380513

  your invoice number only as the 
reference 

When paying electronically please send 
a remittance advice quoting the invoice 
number(s):

Lewisham Council  
Financial Transactions Team  
3rd Floor Laurence House  
Catford, London SE6 4RU 

Or email:  
cashcontrolteam@lewisham.gov.uk

Please allow five working days  
for the payment to reach us. 

Direct Debit

Direct Debit is a quick, simple and safe way 
to pay and means you can spread the cost of 
your invoices over the year. The payment will 
be automatically collected from your account 
on a specified date. If you wish to pay by 
direct debit please call the Debtors Collection 
team on 020 8314 3633 Monday–Friday 
9am–4.30pm to request a mandate. 

Overdue invoices – commercial customers

We reserve the right to claim statutory interest at 8% above the Bank of England reference rate in force 
on the date the debt becomes overdue and at any subsequent rate where the reference rate changes and 
the debt remains unpaid in accordance with the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 
as amended and supplemented by the Late Payment of Commercial Debts Regulations 2002. 

If you have difficulty 
understanding this document 
in English please call the 
number below.

© Published 2017 
Communications Unit. 
Ref: 262-1d/Debt

Produced on recycled paper 
using environmentally friendly 
print methods.

For more information visit 
www.lewisham.gov.uk

Please call the  
Debtors Collection Team
if translation services  
are required

020 8314 3633 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title Charging for adult social care: Feedback from Lewisham People’s Parliament 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 9 

Class Part 1 (open) 1 November 2017 

 
1. Purpose 
 

Attached is a summary of feedback from people with learning disability on charging 
for adult social care – collected from workshops at the Lewisham People’s 
Parliament. Marsh Stitchman, People’s Parliament project lead, will be present at 
the meeting to answer any questions in relation to this feedback. 

 
3. Recommendations 
 

The Committee is asked to consider and note the report. 
 
For further information, please contact John Bardens, Scrutiny Manager, on 
02083149976. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 141



Feedback from Lewisham People’s Parliament on ‘My Home’ 

October 2017 

Workshop 3: Charging for adult social care 

What we say 

 We do not always trust the financial assessments that say what 

we have to pay. 

 Charges do not always seem fair between different people. 

 It is not always clear why we are charged. 

 Charging means we have less quality of life. 

 Staff members do not seem to want to talk about charging when 

I ask them. 

What we want 

 People with learning disability should not have to pay towards 

their care. 

 The people who do the financial assessments should have better 

training. 

 We should not get charged when we go away on holiday or if 

staff members are off sick or are very late. 

 We want to be treated like people and not like a business. 
 

For any further information please contact Marsh Stitchman, Lewisham People’s Parliament project lead, 

Lewisham Speaking Up.  

Email: martin.stitchman@lsup.org.uk 

Tel: 020 8692 1862 

 
 
 

Page 142

mailto:martin.stitchman@lsup.org.uk


 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1 This report informs members of the Healthier Communities Select 

Committee on the intention to consult on proposed changes to the Linkline 
Telecare Alarm Service and asks for comment on the consultation. 

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 Members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee are recommended 

to: 

 Note the planned consultation on proposed changes to the Linkline 
Community Alarm Service  

 Note the intention to work with Lewisham CCG to review the service 
offer for people with dementia  

 Comment on the proposed consultation questionnaire.  
 
Consultation will be sought on: 

 For new Linkline customers, to no longer offer the ‘Telephone on’ 
service and instead to provide a ‘Full Visiting Service’. 

 Revising Linkline service charges and annual uplifts in line with costs 
and inflation, where Linkline is provided to people living in their own 
home in the community. 

 Plans to consult and review the service offer and charging 
arrangements with housing providers where Linkline is provided in the 
homes of social housing tenants. 

 Proposal for annual increases in Linkline charges in line with inflation 
across all sectors. 

 
3. Policy Context 
 

3.1 Preventative interventions are critical in managing the increasing demand for 
health and social care services, reducing the overall burden of disease in the 
population and have the potential to underpin the financial sustainability of 
health and care services.  

 
3.2 Preventative technology enabled care services like Linkline have a key place 

in future service delivery,  by providing care, early detection and helping 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 
 

Report Title 
 

Linkline Community Alarm Service 

Contributors 
 

Head of Adult Social Care  Item No. 10 

Class 
 

Part 1   Date:  1st November 2017 

Page 143

Agenda Item 10



older people and those with chronic health problems to maintain their 
independence and continue to live in their own homes. 

 
3.3 Key national policy drivers in health and social care have placed prevention 

and early intervention centre stage, this sets the ambition for a strategic shift 
in how services are delivered. The Care Act 2014 placed greater emphasis 
on promoting prevention, wellbeing and independence.  In particular the Act 
places a duty on local authorities to promote individuals wellbeing by 
preventing or reducing the need for care and support.  Evidence shows that 
alarm services can play a role in supporting a more personalised approach 
to care and support. 

 
3.4 The NHS England Five Year Forward View, asserts that the sustainability of 

the NHS, and the economic prosperity of Britain all now depend on a radical 
upgrade in prevention and public health.  How we adapt and innovate to take 
advantage of technology will be a key element of this upgrade.  

 
3.5 Assistive technology services, like Linkline support Lewisham’s Sustainable 

Community Strategy priority of:  Healthy, active and enjoyable, where people 
can actively participate in maintaining and improving their health and well-
being and Safer; where people feel safe and live free from crime, antisocial 
behaviour and abuse. 

 
3.6 The services in this report also support the Council’s corporate priorities of 

Caring for adults and older people, working with health services to support 
older people and adults in need of care; and Inspiring efficiency, 
effectiveness and equity: ensuring efficiency and equity in the delivery of 
excellent services to meet the needs of the community. 

 
3.7 The White Paper Putting People First:  Commissioning for Connected Care, 

Homes and Communities published in October 2016 represents a significant step 
forward in raising the profile of technology enabled care services (TECS) 
and its benefits.   

 
“Care technology, whether you define it as telecare, telehealth telemonitoring, 

telecoaching, ehealth, mhealth, digital health or indeed all of the above, 
when intelligently deployed, has a growing track record of delivering high 
quality care whilst reducing the cost of provision”1 

  
3.8 In Sept 2016 Adult Social Care savings were proposed to Mayor and 

Cabinet, this included a recommendation for “increasing the charge for 
Linkline”. At the time the changes relating to the Linkline proposal were not 
fully outlined and were agreed subject to consultation.  This report provides 
further detail on the proposed consultation. 

  

                                                           
1 Commissioning for Connected Care, Homes and Communities, TSA October 2016 

Page 144



 
4. Background 
 
4.1  A review of telecare and telemedicine was conducted in late 2016. The aim 

of the review was to identify the range of enabling technology e.g. telehealth, 
telecare and other patient monitoring devices that were being used across 
Lewisham, establishing the evidence base and exploring new opportunities 
for the role of technology in the delivery of health and care services.  

4.2 A key aspect of the review was how the Linkline service provided by 
Lewisham Adult Social Care could be sustained in the current economic 
climate, providing for an increasing level of demand with reducing resources.   

 
4.3 The review highlighted the potential for Linkline in the context of the 

development of a whole system model of care to take a more strategic 
approach to the future.  Moving to a population health approach and patient 
access to patient health records will influence new models of care and there 
are opportunities for telehealth and telecare in the new environment.  For 
example, linking technology and data sets, risk assessment and predictive 
analysis.  

 
4.4  The Linkline service has introduced new and efficient ways of working over 

the years to contribute towards the Adult Social Care budget savings as well 
as creating a more efficient service for the Linkline customer.  New 
technologies have assisted with reducing the number of times an ambulance 
service is called out and the incidence of A&E admissions. With a grant from 
Lewisham CCG, people with dementia have been supported to remain at 
home for as long as possible with the help of a GPS tracker. 

 
4.5  The Linkline Team has been reorganised in the last two years to streamline 

management support for staff working on shifts as well as ensuring that the 
back office function is covered during office hours.  A further change of the 
rota is due to be implemented in January 2018 to provide a more flexible 
resource at peak times e.g. Monday and Friday. 

 
4.6 In 2005 a report to Mayor and Cabinet on “Charging policy and future 

developments of the Linkline service” sought a 5% increase for Registered 
Social Landlords and non-housing users and to support developing Linkline 
into an open access and self-financing preventative service. 

 
4.7 Later in 2005 Mayor and Cabinet agreed to implement the new unit cost 

charging framework, and phasing in over three years under Fair Access to 
Care Services, the financial assessment framework. Since 2005 there have 
been periodic increases in the Linkline charge, although not on an annual 
basis.  Most recently, In February 2017 the Budget Report set out an 
inflationary increase of 2.5%    

 
5. Lewisham Telecare Service – Linkline 
 
5.1 Lewisham Adult Social Care operate an in-house telecare  and assistive 

technology service, 18 staff are employed to provide an emergency 

Page 145



response service 24 hours a day, 365 days a year to people who may be 
vulnerable or at risk.  Many older people living alone and younger people 
with disabilities rely on the service to live independently in the community. In 
September 2017 there were 4,843 Linkline connections. There are more 
connections than people because a single dwelling may have several 
connections.  

 
5.2 The Linkline service includes a home telephone unit and an emergency 

button, this can be fixed or worn as a pendant.  When the button is pressed 
by the customer or activated by a telecare sensor an alert is raised at the 
control centre. Appropriate action is then taken by staff at the control centre, 
this may be to contact relatives, friends, to call the emergency services or for 
the Linkline staff to respond by visiting the customer at home.  

 
5.3 A connection may be linked to a door entry system, for example in a 

sheltered housing scheme, hard wired in the home or be a pendant alarm 
that can be worn by the customer.   2,181 connections are in homes in the 
community, this might be in private rented accommodation or in the homes of 
owner occupiers. There are fourteen Social Housing Providers who have a 
contract with Linkline to deliver telecare in their accommodation, this 
accounts for 2,662 connections. 

 
5.4 Linkline provide two levels of service. The Full Visiting service, where the 

Linkline Service hold keys for the customer, if the alarm is activated Linkline 
staff will visit the person’s home to assist. The Telephone on response is 
where the Linkline Service hold the telephone numbers of family and friends.  
If an alarm is activated staff will contact a relative/friend who will assist.  
There are 2,634 people who have a full visiting service and 748 who have a 
Telephone On service. 

 
5.5 Most Linkline Customers have been assessed by Adult Social Care and then 

are referred to Linkline.  However, some people access Linkline directly, for 
themselves or on behalf of a relative. On the 1st August 2017 there were 598 
private Linkline customers, the majority of private customers receive a Full 
Visiting Service.   

 
5.6 Linkline customers range in age from under 60 to 100 and there are 17 

people over the age of 100 living independently in the community.  The age 
profile of people receiving support in the dispersed units is older which 
reflects the growing number of people presenting for social care services 
later in life as well as the number of people who are living longer often with 
complex health conditions.  

 
6. Additional services provided by Linkline  
 
6.1 For people with dementia a variety of additional equipment, in the form of 

sensors can also be added to the basic alarm package. These sensors 
protect against environmental hazards, for example fire, flooding and the 
threat of intruders.  If someone has a diagnosis of dementia the Linkline 
service is provided free of charge.    

Page 146



 
6.2 For someone with a cognitive impairment the equipment can assist in 

managing risks which may threaten their ability to live independently.  This 
might include dangers associated with unlit gas appliances, carbon 
monoxide or where someone may be prone to walking away from home.  
The sensors are available to people who have had a social work or 
occupational therapy assessment.   

 
6.3 For people with a diagnosis of dementia an additional service Just Checking 

is also available, this is a simple on-line activity monitoring system that 
provides a chart of daily living activity via the web. Small wireless sensors 
are placed in the home and generate activity information based on the 
person’s movements etc.  The information can then be used as an 
assessment tool in planning individual care and support as it gives a clearer 
picture of a person’s capabilities and actions when they are alone. 

 
6.4 Linkline responders are increasingly called out to help people up from off the 

floor after a fall, which is known as assisted lifting.  Between April and 
September 2017 they were called out to provide assisted lifting 96 times.   
This service can help prevent the ambulance service being called out 
unnecessarily and prevent visits to A&E, which is a considerable saving for 
the health economy.  

 
7. Linkline Key Partners 
 
7.1 The delivery of Linkline relies on partners working together to ensure that the 

service runs smoothly 24 hours a day seven days a week.  Adult Social Care 
manage the service, install equipment, provide telephone monitoring and 
respond to calls.  They also provide the lift monitoring contract for Lewisham 
Homes.  

 
7.2 Tunstall have a contract with Lewisham Homes to provide the technology in 

schemes and in homes in the community.   Lewisham Homes hold the 
contract with Tunstall and Linkline is installed in their dispersed properties 
and in sheltered housing schemes.  

 
7.3 Lewisham Homes has contributed financially to the Linkline service over 

several years. The control room is based in a Lewisham Homes Sheltered 
Housing scheme.  Equipment is hard wired into sheltered and extra care 
schemes which means Linkline appears as a charge on the rent account.  
Additional one off improvements to the Tunstall system and communication 
room are funded by Lewisham Homes through the Housing Revenue 
Account. 

 
7.4 London Borough of Merton act as the disaster recovery partner and they 

handle calls between 10pm and 6am to provide cover when Linkline staff are 
on visits and during team meetings.  Linkline also work closely with the Fire 
Brigade and receive a grant of £19,500 to support fire prevention in the 
community by carrying our fire checks and the installation of smoke alarms.  

 

Page 147



 
 
 
8. Linkline Activity 
 
8.1 In September 2017 there were 2,181 alarms connected in privately rented 

and owner occupier homes in the community and 2,662 alarms connected in 
dwellings where social housing providers are the landlord. In 2016/17 there 
were 694 referrals to the service, this resulted in 469 installations.  The first 
six months of 2017/18 show a similar pattern of referrals.  

 
8.2 Linkline receive approximately 15,000 calls (alerts) every month, 75% of 

those calls are between 7am and 7pm.  However, there are peaks in activity 
at 9am, 5pm and between 10 and 11 at night.  Linkline has been working 
with the Community Falls Team to identify people who fall frequently and 
have put in place interventions to prevent future falls.  Other information 
about frequent callers is now being shared with Adult Social Care to ensure 
that people are supported and appropriate preventative action is taken. 

 
8.3 In September 2017 Linkline received an average of 376 calls (alerts) per day 

and 124 at night, these calls result in six to seven responses (visits) per day 
and six visits at night.  The average duration of a visit is thirty minutes.  
However, some calls will be much longer if assisted lifting is required or other 
emergency services are involved. In this period emergency services were 
called out in 98 of cases.  In 18 of those incidents people needed to be taken 
to A&E following the ambulance callout.   

 
8.4 People contact Linkline for a variety of reasons, some people require 

reassurance, whilst others may require help after they have fallen or need 
help for another emergency, this type of call accounts for 56% of all calls. 
Linkline also respond to calls when visitors or carers need access to a 
sheltered housing scheme, this type of call makes up 10% of calls.  Linkline 

Page 148



also make regular calls to customers to test the lines and provide checks, 
this makes up 34% of calls.   

 

 
September 2017 

Emergency Visits to 
customers’ homes 

Daytime (7am- 7pm) 186 

Night (7pm -7am)  185 

Average duration  34 minutes 

 
9. The Proposed Service Change for consultation 
 
9.1 Proposal One - to have one service offer – Full Visiting Service for new 

customers 
 
9.1.1 There are two levels of service provided by Linkline. Full Visiting service, 

this is where the Linkline Service holds keys for the service user, if the alarm 
is activated Linkline staff will visit the person’s home to assist. The full 
visiting service charge is £5.64 per week. 

 
9.1.2 Telephone On response, this is where the Linkline Service retains the 

telephone numbers of the customer’s family and friends.  If an alarm is 
activated staff will contact the designated person who will then respond.  The 
charge for the Telephone On service is £3.55 per week. 

 
9.1.3 The proposal is to stop offering the ‘Telephone On’ service for all new 

service users and instead to provide a ‘Full Visiting Service’.  Current service 
users will not be affected.  However, during the consultation period an 
exercise will be carried out to review the level of service and assess if some 
customers would benefit from or prefer the Full Response service. 

 
9.1.4 The different levels of service were established to provide choice. For those 

who have relatives and friends living locally the Telephone On service is a 
good option.  However, the number of people who have that support has 
reduced during recent years, this is evidenced in cases where the nominated 
individual is not available to respond. When this happens the only option is 
for Linkline to call the appropriate emergency service. 

 
9.1.5 For more frail customers there is an advantage in having a responsive 

service that can provide help in an emergency, for example help lifting after 
a fall. This fits with the aim of having a more preventative and holistic 
service. 

 
9.1.6 The majority of customers, 78% receive a Full Visiting Service and 21% of 

customers receive the Telephone On service.  The number of Telephone On 
customers reducing by 16% in the last year. 31 people receive a 
combination of the two services and this is based on a longstanding 
arrangement with a housing provider. This service is not available for new 
customers.  

 

Page 149



9.1.7 The proposal to change the service offer has an implication for the capacity 
of the service to deliver and for future staffing arrangements, although the 
impact is likely to be gradual in line with new referrals.  Based on the current 
activity figures there will be an increase in activity in alerts that come through 
to Linkline. However, the main change will be the need for Linkline to provide 
a visiting response to additional customers.   

 
9.1.8 Telephone On customers make up approximately 20% of all Linkline 

customers.  A 20% increase in activity for the service (modelled on 100% 
Full Vising Customers) results in 37 extra calls per month.  This would result 
in 2-3 extra response calls per day. Initially the increase in activity can be 
contained with the current staffing structure and the new staff rota will 
support this.  However, with this service change and the plan to promote and 
market the service more widely this would require review after twelve 
months. 

 
9.2 Proposal Two - Revise Linkline service charges and uplifts in line with costs 

and inflation in the private sector  
 
9.2.1 The weekly charges for Linkline are £5.64 for the Full Visiting Service and 

£3.55 for the Telephone On service.  In the last twelve years the charge for 
the Full Visiting Service has increased by £1.75 and £1.87 for the Telephone 
On service.  This is approximately 14 pence and 15 pence on average per 
year respectively over the last 12 years. 

 

Charges for people living in private rented and home owners 

 Full Visiting Service Telephone On 

Charges from 1/04/05 £3.89 £1.68 

Charges from 01/10/05 £4.19 £2.12 

Charges from 01/04/06 £4.69 £2.77 

Charges from 01/04/07  £4.90 £3.08 

Charges from 01/04/12 £4.91 n/a 

Charges from 01/04/14 £5.52 n/a 

Charges from April 2017 £5.64 £3.55 

Total increase £1.75 £1.87 

 
9.2.2 A benchmarking exercise has been carried out to see how Lewisham 

charges compare to those of other boroughs. Direct comparisons can be 
problematic because services vary and the number of connections have an 
impact on charges. However, taking this into account the information shows 
that Lewisham Linkline charges are lower than many other boroughs, the 
gap being greater for the Telephone On service 

 
  

Page 150



 
Benchmarking  

Borough In House Cost for 

response 

service per 

week  

Cost for 

telephone 

only service 

per week 

Installation 

cost 

comments 

Camden Careline n/a 5.54 4.54 n/a 13/14 charges 

Wandsworth Watch 

Line 

no Different 

rates, 

average 5.16 

n/a Yes Do not pay if in 

receipt of homecare 

Sheffield yes Average 5.28 n/a n/an/a Charges depend on 

the link 

Bromley Carelink partial 8.82 5.88 n/a n/a 

Islington yes 8.23 4.16 n/a n/a 

Greenwich yes  5.61 n/a yes Free to users 

receiving Housing 

Benefit 

Lambeth yes 3.60 n/a £60 Includes a range of 

connection fees 

Merton yes 7.59  4.38 No  Reduction in cost if 

there is an 

assessment of need 

or pension credit 

Lewisham yes 5.64 3.55 yes  

 

9.2.3 The current charges for Linkline fall short of the actual unit cost.  A revised 
unit cost needs to take into account salaries, premises, transport, 
maintenance, supplies and specialist technical equipment.  The Council 
receives income for the delivery of Linkline.  Although, income is less than 
expenditure, this is for a number of reasons. 

 
9.2.4 Firstly, some customers will have been assessed through the Charging and 

Financial Assessment Framework and pay towards the cost of services they 
receive, this includes Linkline.  Other Customers will have been assessed 
and do not make any financial contribution to the cost of their service. 

 
9.2.5 Secondly, Housing providers are charged different rates, this is partly 

because there are different service offers, in other cases this is because 
charges do not reflect current costs which are based on legacy 
arrangements. Finally, people with a diagnosis of dementia currently receive 
a free service. 

 
9.2.6 For customers in private rented housing and home owners, consultation will 

be sought on increasing the weekly charge for the Full Visiting Response 
Service, Telephone On and where it is provided as a combined service.  
Consultation will be sought on increasing the charges by presenting a range, 
from 0.75 pence to £2 for the Full visiting service and 0.50 pence to £1.50 for 
Telephone On.  

 
9.3 Proposal Three - Linkline charges in schemes provided by social housing 

landlords – to consult and review charges with landlords 
 
9.3.1 Linkline provide a telecare service to fourteen social housing landlords with 

schemes in Lewisham and in other boroughs. The service has been 

Page 151



provided by Linkline for many years and contractual arrangements vary 
depending upon the type of scheme, location and service offer - visiting or 
response.   In total there are 2,662 connections, there are more connections 
than people because a scheme will have several connections in communal 
areas that will require monitoring. 

 
9.3.2 Linkline provide a service to the following housing providers 
 

Housing Provider Customers 

Abbeyfield 6 

Hexagon Housing Association 28 

Christopher Boones Almshouses 41 

Scotscare/ Royal Scottish Corp 45 

Lewisham Parochial Charities 49 

Affinity Sutton 61 

Phoenix Community Housing 78 

Hyde Housing 83 

Corporation of London 90 

Chislehurst & Sidcup 96 

St Clement Danes Charity 110 

London & Quadrant 132 

Optivo (Amicus Horizon Housing Group 
Limited) 

229 

Lewisham Homes  1190 

Total  2238* 
*The number of connections varies from the number of people because there may be 

several connections in a single dwelling 
 

9.3.3 As a result of legacy arrangements which resulted in inequitable charging 
arrangement between tenures, Mayor and Cabinet agreed in 2005 to the 
recommendation to introduce a phased increase to align the differential 
charges across social housing providers, in sheltered housing schemes and 
in other tenures.   

 
9.3.4 Linkline charges have increased since 2005.  However, there remain 

differential charging arrangements with housing providers which result in 
different charges to tenants.  Many Landlords add a maintenance charge on 
top of the Linkline charge.  The contract with housing providers gives a 
reliable and consistent income stream, this is because the Linkline charge is 
collected by the landlord along with the rent, with the exception of one 
scheme where 19 tenants pay Linkline directly.   

 
9.3.5 The proposal is for consultation with each of the Housing Providers, to 

review the Linkline service and charging arrangements and to identify any 
additional maintenance charges that tenants make.  The results of this 
consultation will be reported at the Healthier Communities Select Committee 
meeting in January 2018.  If there are subsequent changes to charges in 
housing schemes, the landlord will be required to consult with tenants.  

Page 152



9.3.6 Once the consultation has concluded and new charges have been agreed 
the proposal is that in future annual uplifts will be in line with inflation where 
Linkline is installed in social housing schemes.  

 
9.4 Proposal Four - Review the Service Offer for people with Dementia 
 
9.4.1 Lewisham CCG fund Linkline £95,000 per annum to provide telecare for 

people with a diagnosis of Dementia. The funding is used for the installation 
of standard and specialist equipment and provides a free monitoring service 
for people with dementia. The number of customers with dementia has 
steadily increased since the funding began in 2012.   On the 1st October 
2017 there were 456 people who received the service, this is an increase of 
135%. 

 
9.4.2 The increase in numbers of customers with dementia who receive a free 

service has a significant financial impact on the service.  At the end of 2016-
17 the total cost of the monitoring charges were £125,792.  Other significant 
costs for the dementia service are the purchase and installation of standard 
and specialist equipment.  In 2016-17 an additional £54,164 was spent on 
the purchase, installation and maintenance of equipment.   In 2016-17 this 
resulted in an overspend on the grant of £84,956 which has been covered by 
the Linkline budget.  

 
9.4.3 With the current rate of increase it is predicted that by the end of 2017-18 

there will be over 540 customers.  There is an urgent need to review the way 
the service offer for people with dementia is delivered and to ensure that 
there is equity between people with different long term conditions.  However, 
some customers with dementia may still receive a free service in response to 
their assessed eligible need. 

 
9.4.4 The recommendation is to work with Lewisham CCG to review the service 

offer by December 2017. Consideration will be given to how the grant is best 
utilised by the service.  One option is to introduce a monitoring charge and 
use the grant for the purchase, installation and maintenance of equipment.  
This would provide the opportunity to invest in new innovations available on 
the market, for example, GPS devices. 

 
9.5 Proposal Five - Annual charges to be increased in line with inflation across 

all tenures. 
 
9.5.1 Since 2005 there have been periodic increases in Linkline charges, although 

not on an annual basis.  Most recently, in 2017 the budget report set out an 
increase in the charge of 2.5%. The proposal is that in future uplifts will be 
annual and in line with inflation.  The intention to increase Linkline charges 
will be set out as part of the annual budget setting process  

 
  

Page 153



 
10. Financial Implications 
 
10.1 This report describes proposed consultation with users of the Linkline 

service. In addition to proposing that charges be increased annually in future 
it proposes two changes to existing charges.  

 
10.2 First, it proposes that no future clients be offered the Telephone On service. 

If this change were to be actioned, and if the current client base remained 
constant, the move to a single offer of the Full Visiting service would 
generate an estimated additional £28k p.a. The rate at which this were 
achieved would depend on the rate at which existing service users migrated 
to the Full Visiting service. 

 
10.3 Second it consults on increases to existing charges. Initial financial 

modelling suggests that an average increase of £1 per week for service 
users in privately rented and owner occupied homes would generate an 
additional £51k in billed income. More detailed financial modelling will be 
undertaken for the final report next year once the results of consultation are 
known 

 
11. Proposed Consultation Plan  
 
11.1 The consultation will begin on the 6th November and close on Monday 1st 

January 2018.  The consultation questionnaire (appendix 1) will be available 
on the council website.   We will report back to the Healthier Communities 
Select Committee with the finding from the consultation in January 2018.  

 
11.2 The consultation will be in two parts: 

 Customers who live in private rented housing and home owners. The 
consultation survey (appendix 1) will be sent to by post.  Customers, 
relatives, carers and other stakeholders will also be invited to attend 
open access sessions with the Linkline Team. 

 Social Housing Landlords. A series of meetings will take place with 
each of the fourteen housing providers to review the current service 
offer and pricing model. 

 

12. Legal Implications 
 
12.1 Previously, the provision of Linkline services to members of the community 

requiring or requesting the service, was made available through diverse 
statutory routes, not all of which required Social Care assessment.  As the 
service has developed, and with the introduction of the Care Act 2014, and 
the preventative support requirements it brings to the provision of services, 
the framework for the provision of the service outwith a housing support 
service and also as part of the service of supported housing, has made it 
necessary to streamline and clarify the charging structure. 

 

Page 154



12.2 Local Authorities have duties and powers to charge for both Social Care and 
Housing services and should apply charging policies in a transparent and 
equitable manner.  Any changes to such policies should be subject to 
adequate consultation, with information being provided so as to facilitate 
informed and timely response.  In making any decision, the Mayor and 
Cabinet should take into account the results of such consultation, having 
regard to all relevant matters, before coming to any final decision. 

 
13. Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
13.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 
14. Equalities Implications 
 
14.1 The Linkline service supports people who may be vulnerable due to age or 

disability to live independently in the community, we would therefore expect 
the profile of customers to be older than in the general population.   

 
14.2 The majority of customers are over the age of 60, 35% of Linkline customers 

are between the ages of 60 and 80, 38% are aged 80 – 100 and 17 people 
are aged over 100.  55% of customers are women. 

 
14.3 Fewer than 30% of customers reported having black and ethnic minority 

heritage compared with 46 % of Lewisham residents in the 2015 census.  
The proportion of customers who identify as white is 40% compared to 54% 
of people who identify as white in the 2015 census.  This might be expected 
given the demographics of the borough and the aging older population.  

 
14.4 The survey that will be used in the consultation exercise will seek to capture 

more detailed equalities information and this will allow us to assess if the 
proposed changes will have a disproportionate impact on specific groups. 

 
14.5 A key aspect of the consultation is to improve equity between customers 

who live in the private sector and customers living in housing provided by 
Social Housing Landlords. 

 
15. Environmental Implications 
 
15.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report. 
 
16. Conclusion  
 
16.1 This report informs members of the Healthier Communities Select 

Committee of the intention to consult on the proposed changes to the 
Lewisham Linkline telecare Service. A report on the findings of the 
consultation will be presented to the Healthier Communities Select 
Committee in January 2018. 

 
 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1  
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
Linkline Telecare Service 
Consultation 
 
 
 
 

Information and 
questionnaire 
 

Page 157



 

2  
 

 

What is this consultation about? 
 
The amount of money that Lewisham Council is being given by the 

Government is going down. At the same time, the number of people 

needing our support is increasing. This puts a big pressure on services 

such as Adult Social Care at a time where there is less money to spend. 

 

Mayor and Cabinet is therefore considering a range of savings proposals 

about Adult Social Care, including the Linkline Telecare Service. 

 

The Linkline service is also looking to become more efficient, with better 

support, through investment in new technology and equipment. 

 

This consultation gives you the chance to share your views about the 

proposal to offer just one type of Linkline service to new users and also 

the proposal to revise Linkline charges on a yearly basis for all service 

users. It is very important that we hear from you and we welcome any 

comments you would like to make.   

 

Please note that this particular questionnaire is only for Linkline 

customers who are home owners or live in private rented housing. 

Those service users that live in residential housing schemes or who are 

social housing tenants will be consulted separately by their respective 

landlords regarding any proposed changes.  

 

The closing date for this consultation is Monday 1st January 2018. 

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

Page 158



 

3  
 

How can I take part in the consultation? 
 

Please complete this paper copy of the questionnaire and return it to us 

in the envelope provided. Postage has already been paid, so you do not 

need to attach a stamp. 

 

If you would prefer to complete this questionnaire online then you can 

do so at the following link: 

 

https://lewisham-consult.objective.co.uk/public/community_services/aac/linkline 

 

If you need this consultation in a different format (e.g. large print or Easy 

Read) or require support in a language other than English, then you can 

also contact us. 

 

Contact details are as follows: 

Email - Michele.oliver@lewisham.gov.uk 

Telephone - 020 8314 7404 

 

If you need help in completing this consultation, family and friends are 

likely to be the best and easiest source of support. independent 

advocacy is also available through Healthwatch Lewisham and Bromley. 

Healthwatch's Involvement Officer, Peter Todd, can be contacted on 

petert@healthwatch.co.uk or by calling 020 8315 1916. This service is 

available from Monday to Friday between 9am and 5pm. 

 

We will also be holding a series of drop-in sessions which you are invited 

to attend. These provide you with the opportunity to speak directly with 

Linkline staff about these proposed changes. Details of these drop-in 

sessions are as follows: 

 

Dates/times/venues to be added 

 

 

Page 159

https://lewisham-consult.objective.co.uk/public/community_services/aac/linkline
mailto:Michele.oliver@lewisham.gov.uk


 

4  
 

What is Linkline? 
 
The Linkline Telecare Service provides an emergency response service 24 
hours a day, 365 days a year to anyone who feels vulnerable or at risk. 
 
The Linkline service includes a home telephone unit and an emergency 
button, which can be fixed or worn as a pendant. When the button is 
pressed or activated by a telecare sensor an alert is raised at the control 
centre. Appropriate action is then taken by staff at the control centre. 
This may be to contact relatives or friends, to call the emergency 
services or for the Linkline staff to respond by visiting the customer at 
home. 
 
Many older people living alone and younger people with disabilities rely 
on this service to live independently within the community. Additional 
sensors can be added to the basic alarm package to protect against 
environmental hazards, for example fire, flooding and the threat of 
intruders. These sensors are available to people who have had a social 
work or occupational therapy assessment. 
 
Linkline responders are also increasingly being called out to help people 
up from the floor after a fall, which is known as assisted lifting. This 
service avoids the need for a hospital visit in most instances. 
 

Page 160



 

5  
 

 

What are the proposed changes? 
 

Please note that this particular questionnaire is only for Linkline 
customers who are home owners or live in private rented housing. 
Those service users that live in residential housing schemes or who are 
social housing tenants will be consulted separately by their respective 
landlords regarding any proposed changes.  
 
The following two proposed changes to the Linkline service are currently 
being consulted upon: 
 
PROPOSED CHANGE ONE: To offer one type of Linkline service to all 
new customers   
 
What do we do now? 
 
Currently there are two types of service offered by Linkline: 
 
The Full Visiting Service is where the Linkline Service holds a spare set of 
keys to your home. In the event that your alarm is activated, Linkline 
staff will visit your home to provide you with assistance. 
 
The Telephone On Service is where the Linkline Service has a list of 
telephone numbers for your family and friends. In the event that your 
alarm is activated, Linkline staff will contact your designated relative or 
friend who will then respond. 
 
More than three-quarters (78%) of existing service users receive a Full 
Visiting Service, with less than a quarter receiving the Telephone On 
Service. 
 
What are we proposing to do in the future? 
 
The Telephone On Service was established to provide choice for those 
who have family and friends living locally that could be depended upon 
in an emergency. However, the number of people who have reliable 
local support has reduced and demand for the Telephone On Service has 
fallen by 16 per cent over the last year. 
 

Page 161



 

6  
 

For some people with increasing frailty there is an advantage in having a 
responsive Full Visiting Service that can provide help in an emergency, 
such as a fall. This may also allow the individual to remain at home 
rather than visit the hospital unnecessarily, supporting our aim of 
providing a more preventative and wrap-around service. 
 
Therefore, the proposal is to stop offering the Telephone On Service for 
all new service users going forward and only provide a Full Visiting 
Service. 
 
If you are already using the Telephone On Service then you WILL NOT be 
affected by this proposed change. Your service will continue as normal, 
though you are welcome to change to the Full Visiting Service if this 
better meets your needs. 
 
 
PROPOSED CHANGE TWO: To revise the Linkline charges on a yearly 
basis in line with inflation and other service costs 
 
What do we do now? 
 
For those customers who are home owners or live in private rented 
housing, the charges are £5.64 per week for the Full Visiting Service and 
£3.55 per week for the Telephone On Service. These current charges fall 
short of the actual costs of providing the service. 
 
Since 2005 there have been increases to the charge for the Linkline 
services but these changes have not occurred on an annual basis. In the 
last 12 years, the charge for the Full Visiting Service has increased by 
£1.75 and the charge for the Telephone On Service has increased by 
£1.87.  
 
Please note that for those service users with a diagnosis of dementia, 
Linkline should be provided free of charge. However, we are currently 
working with Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group to review the 
service offer for people with dementia. 
 
 
 
 

Page 162



 

7  
 

What are we proposing to do in the future? 
 
Going forward the proposal is that charges for Linkline services will be 
revised on a yearly basis in line with inflation and other service costs. 
This is to ensure that the service is not operating at a deficit and that 
investment in new technology and equipment offers a better level of 
support in the future. 
 
Any increases to Linkline charges will be identified as part of the 
Council’s annual budget setting process. 
 
For 2018-19, the proposed increases to the weekly charge for Linkline 
services will fall between the following ranges: 
 

 Full Visiting Service – increase of between £0.75p and £2.00p per 
week. 

 Telephone On Service – increase of between £0.50p and £1.50p per 
week. 

 
These proposed changes will impact ALL existing and new service users 
that own their own homes or who live in private rented housing. 
 
Service users that live in residential housing schemes or who are social 
housing tenants will be consulted separately through their landlord 
regarding any proposed changes to their charges. 
 
 

Page 163



 

8  
 

 

The questionnaire 
 
What follows is a series of questions about the proposed changes that 
have been described on the previous page of this consultation. You do 
not have to answer all of these questions, only those that you feel are 
relevant or of interest to you. 
 
 
Are you:  
(please select all that apply) 

□   A Linkline service user 

□  A friend or family member of a Linkline service user 

□  An advocate for a Linkline service user 

□  Other 

       (please specify)…………………………………………………………………….... 
 
 
Do you currently receive a package of care organised by the Council? 
(please select one answer) 

□   Yes 

□  No 

 
 
Which of the following best describes you? 
(please select one answer) 

□   I am a home owner 

□  I am a tenant in private rented housing 

□  I am a tenant in social housing 

□  I live in a residential housing scheme (e.g. extra care or sheltered 

housing) 

□  Other (please specify)……………………………………………………………… 

Page 164



 

9  
 

Do you use either of the following Linkline services? 
(please select all that apply) 

Yes   No 

Full Visiting Service    □     □  

Telephone On Service    □     □  

 
 
Over the last 12 months, how frequently have you used the Linkline 
service? 
(please select one answer) 

□   Daily 

□  Weekly 

□  Monthly 

□  Less frequently than monthly 

□  I have not used the service in the last 12 months 

 
 
In the last 12 months have Linkline staff visited you in your home in 
response to an alarm? 
(please select one answer) 

□   Yes 

□  No 

 
 
Do you currently pay for your Linkline service? 
(please select one answer) 

□   Yes 

□  No 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 165



 

10  
 

Note: Only answer the next question if you currently use Linkline’s  
Telephone On Service: 
 
Do you feel confident that you have local support available from 
family, friends or neighbours to respond to any call for help?  
(please select one answer) 

□   Yes 

□  No 

□  Don’t know 

 
 
To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposal to offer 
only one type of Linkline service (i.e. Full Visiting Service) to new 
customers? 
(please select one answer) 

□   Strongly agree 

□  Agree 

□  Neither agree nor disagree 

□  Disagree 

□  Strongly disagree 

        
 
To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposal to revise 
Linkline charges on a yearly basis to bring them in line with inflation 
and other service costs? 
(please select one answer) 

□   Strongly agree 

□  Agree 

□  Neither agree nor disagree 

□  Disagree 

□  Strongly disagree 

Page 166



 

11  
 

For 2018-19, the proposed increases to the weekly charge for Linkline 
services will fall between the following ranges: 
 

 Full Visiting Service – increase of between £0.75p and £2.00p per 
week. 

 Telephone On Service – increase of between £0.50p and £1.50p per 
week. 

 
Do you have any comments about the proposed changes to Linkline 
charges for 2018-19? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 167



 

12  
 

Would the proposed changes described in this consultation stop you 
from using the Linkline Service in the future? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 168



 

13  
 

If you will be affected by these proposed changes, is there anything 
that the Council could do to reduce any concerns that you might have? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 169



 

14  
 

 

About you 
 
The following monitoring questions help us to be fair and inclusive in the 
work that we do. All questions on the form are voluntary and you do not 
have to answer them. 
 
The information that you do provide helps us to understand who is 
sharing their views and influencing our decision-making. It also helps us 
to ensure that nobody is discriminated against unlawfully.  
 
Any information that you do choose to provide on this form will be 
treated confidentially in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. 
 

Age 
Please select your age group 

 Under 18  55-59 

 18-24  60-64 

 25-29  65-69 

 30-34  70-74 

 35-39  75-79 

 40-44  80-84 

 45-49  85+ 

 50-54  Prefer not to say 

 
Disability 
Under the Equality Act 2010 a person is considered to have a disability if they have a physical or 
mental impairment which has a sustained and long-term adverse effect on their ability to carry 
out normal day to day activities.   
Do you consider yourself to be a disabled 
person? 
 

 Yes 
 No 
 Prefer not to say 

Please state the type of impairment that applies to you.   
People may experience more than one type of impairment, in which case you may indicate more 
than one.   
 Physical impairment, such as difficulty using your arms or mobility issues which means using 

a wheelchair or crutches 
 Sensory impairment, such as being blind/ having a serious visual impairment or being deaf/ 

having a serious hearing impairment 
 Mental health condition, such as depression or schizophrenia 
 Learning disability/difficulty, such as Down’s Syndrome or dyslexia or cognitive impairment, 

such as autistic spectrum disorder 
 Long-standing illness or health condition such as cancer, HIV, diabetes, chronic heart disease 

or epilepsy 
 Other (please specify) 

 

Page 170



 

15  
 

 

Ethnicity 
What is your ethnic 
group? 

White  English / Welsh / Scottish / Northern Irish / 
British 

 Irish 

 Gypsy or Irish Traveller 

 Any other White background (write in) 
……………………………………………………………………. 

Mixed / 
multiple ethnic 
groups 

 White and Black Caribbean 

 White and Black African 

 White and Asian 

 Any other mixed / multiple ethnic background 
(write in) 

……………………………………………………………………. 

Asian /  
Asian British 

 Indian 

 Pakistani 

 Bangladeshi 

 Chinese 

 Any other Asian background (write in) 
……………………………………………………………………… 

Black / African / 
Caribbean / 
Black British 

 African 

 Caribbean 

 Any other Black / African / Caribbean 
background (write in) 

……………………………………………………………………….. 

Other ethnic 
group 

 Arab 

 Any other ethnic group (write in) 
………………………………………………………………………… 

  Prefer not to say 

 
  

Gender 
Are you: 

 Male 

 Female 

 Prefer not to say 

 Gay / lesbian 

 Bisexual 

 Other (write in) 

 Prefer not to say 

  

Page 171



 

16  
 

 

Thank you 

 
Thank you for taking the time to share your views with us, it is greatly 
appreciated. The results of this consultation will be reported back to 
Healthier Communities Select Committee in January 2018 and Mayor 
and Cabinet in February 2018.  A summary report will be made available 
on our website. You may also request a copy by emailing 
michele.oliver@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 172

mailto:michele.oliver@lewisham.gov.uk


 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Healthier 

Communities Select Committee with the proposed content of the Annual 
Public Health Report (APHR) for 2017. The theme of the APHR this year is 
‘Mental Health and Wellbeing’ and the report focuses primarily on 
communicating with members of the Lewisham community about mental 
health and wellbeing in the borough.  

 
1.2 The 2017 APHR will adopt a new online format to enhance accessibility of 

the report for members of the public. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

Members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee are recommended 
to: 

2.1 Note the content of the report and direct as required any further analysis or 
commentary. 

 
3. Policy Context  
 
3.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 stated that the production of an APHR 

is a statutory duty of the Director of Public Health, which the local authority is 
responsible for publishing.  

 
3.2 The APHR topic selected for this year is Mental Health and Wellbeing 

following on from the publication of the Lewisham Public Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy in November 2016. The strategy was produced in 
response to the relatively high level of mental health need in Lewisham (for 
example 1.31% of people on GP registers in Lewisham are recorded as 
having a serious mental illness in comparison to 0.9% in England overall), 
and the subsequent impacts of mental ill health for the population. The 
strategy has four overarching aims: 

 

 To improve mental health and wellbeing for all in Lewisham across the 
life course  

HEALTHIER COMMUNITIES SELECT COMMITTEE 
  

Title 
  

Lewisham Annual Public Health Report 2017 

Key Decision 
  

No  Item No.  11 

Ward 
  

Borough Wide 

Contributors 
  

Danny Ruta – Director of Public Health 
Catherine Mbema – Consultant in Public Health  
 

Class 
  

Part 1 Date: 1st November 2017 

Page 173

Agenda Item 11



 To attempt to bring together all initiatives in Lewisham that impact 
positively upon mental health and wellbeing under one strategic 
ambition 

 To increase and optimise the use of community assets for mental 
health and wellbeing initiatives 

 To reduce stigma and increase awareness amongst the public and 
professionals of factors which build resilience, protect and improve 
mental health and wellbeing 

 
3.3 An action plan for this strategy will be finalised at the end of November 2017 

and will facilitate the achievement of a concrete set of strategic actions over 
the next year.  

 
3.4 In line with the aims of this strategy, the APHR will take a public health 

approach focusing on promotion of mental wellbeing and prevention of 
mental ill health. The APHR will also focus on communicating with members 
of the public about mental health and wellbeing in Lewisham in order to 
contribute to the aims of the strategy, particularly in relation to increasing 
public awareness and reducing stigma.  

 
3.5 The proposed APHR content will also be presented to the Health and 

Wellbeing Board at its meeting on 2nd November 2017. 

 
4. Background 
 
4.1 The APHR has been produced with input from some of the key stakeholders 

that were involved in the development of the Public Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.   

 
4.2 The APHR this year will adopt an online microsite format with webpages 

featuring a combination of written text, user-friendly data presentation, 
images and short videos. This communication medium was chosen in line 
with the target audience for the report i.e. members of the public, and in 
recognition of the increasing use of online communication channels to 
disseminate health information. Between 2007 and 2016, there was a 33% 
increase in the proportion of adults using the internet to look for health-
related information, with 51% of adults now using the internet to do this 
(Source: Office for National Statistics, 2017). 

 
5. Summary of the APHR 2017 
 
5.1 The focus of the APHR this year is on communicating with members of the 

public about mental health and wellbeing in Lewisham taking a public mental 
health approach. The APHR therefore aims to: 

 

 Provide user-friendly information about the levels of mental health and 
wellbeing in Lewisham, including information about risk and protective 
factors  

Page 174



 Provide real-life stories from Lewisham residents across the course of 
life about living with and through mental ill health  

 Provide information on the strategies, initiatives and interventions being 
delivered in Lewisham that aim to promote mental wellbeing and 
prevent mental ill health 

 Provide information about where residents can seek help if concerned 
about their mental ill health to ensure that mental ill health is identified 
and treated at the earliest possible opportunity. 

 
5.2 The following sections will therefore be included in the online microsite: 
 

 Section 1: Introduction 
 

This section will include video introductions to the report from Dr Danny 
Ruta, Director of Public Health, Cllr Muldoon, Chair of the Healthier 
Communities Select Committee, and Cllr Jonathan Slater, Mental 
Health Champion for Lewisham.  

 

 Section 2: Why is this topic important for Lewisham? 
 

This section will include key mental health data summarised in three 
infographic sheets (factors related to mental ill health, mental health 
profile of Lewisham and impacts of mental ill health). 

 

 Section 3: What is it like to live with mental ill health? 
 

This section will include a series of five real-life stories from Lewisham 
residents about their experience of mental ill health. 

 

 Section 4: What can we do to keep mentally well? 
 

This section will include a summary of the Five Ways to Wellbeing (Be 
Active, Keep Learning, Give, Take Notice and Connect), which are the 
evidence-based ways that people can use to improve their mental 
wellbeing. This section also provides local examples of how residents 
can take part in any of the Five Ways to Wellbeing. 

 

 Section 5: What can we do to help others keep mentally well? 
 

This section will focus on mental health literacy and provides a profile 
of mental health first aid training, including what it is, how this training 
can be accessed locally and the experience of local councilors that 
have recently received the training. 

 

 Section 6: What is happening to help improve mental health and 
wellbeing in Lewisham? 

 
This section will provide a brief overview of initiatives taking place 
nationally (Heads Together and Time to Change campaigns); in 
London (THRIVELDN); and in Lewisham (Bromley Lewisham Mind 

Page 175



Mindful Mums programme, Youth MHFA, Public Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, and Dementia Friendly Communities work) to help 
improve the mental health and wellbeing of residents. 

 

 Section 7: Where can you go if you need help with your mental health? 
 

This section will highlight key resources available for residents with 
concerns about their mental health or the mental health of others. 

 
5.3  The online microsite is currently being developed within the public health 

team in liaison with the communications team at LBL. The microsite is 
planned to go live at the end of November 2017.  

 
6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1  There are no specific financial implications arising from this report. 
 
7. Legal Implications 
 
7.1  The requirement to produce an APHR is set out above.  
 
8. Crime and Disorder Implications  
 
8.1  There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 
9. Equalities Implications 
 
9.1 There are no specific equalities implications arising from this report. 
 
10. Environmental Implications 
 
10.1  There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report. 
 
11. Conclusion  
 
11.1 The report focuses on the topic of Mental Health and Wellbeing and aims to 

communicate with members of the Lewisham community primarily around 
promoting mental wellbeing and preventing mental ill health. The report will 
do this using a new online microsite format to enhance accessibility and 
engagement with the report.  

 

Page 176



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title Select Committee work programme 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 12 

Class Part 1 (open) 1 November 2017 

 
1. Purpose 
 

To advise Members of the proposed work programme for the municipal year 2017-
18, and to decide on the agenda items for the next meeting. 

 
2. Summary 
 
2.1 At the beginning of the municipal year, each select committee drew up a draft work 

programme for submission to the Business Panel for consideration. 
 
2.2 The Business Panel considered the proposed work programmes of each of the 

select committees on 22 May 2017 and agreed a co-ordinated overview and 
scrutiny work programme. However, the work programme can be reviewed at each 
Select Committee meeting so that Members are able to include urgent, high priority 
items and remove items that are no longer a priority. 

 
3. Recommendations 
 
3.1 The Committee is asked to: 
 

 note the work plan attached at Appendix B and discuss any issues arising from 
the programme;  

 specify the information and analysis required in the report for each item on the 
agenda for the next meeting, based on desired outcomes, so that officers are 
clear about what they need to provide; 

 review all forthcoming key decisions, attached at Appendix C, and consider any 
items for further scrutiny; 

 
4. The work programme 
 
4.1 The work programme for 2017/18 was agreed at the Committee’s meeting on 25 

April 2017. 
 
4.2 The Committee is asked to consider if any urgent issues have arisen that require 

scrutiny and if any existing items are no longer a priority and can be removed from 
the work programme. Before adding additional items, each item should be 
considered against agreed criteria. The flow chart attached at Appendix A may 
help Members decide if proposed additional items should be added to the work 
programme. The Committee’s work programme needs to be achievable in terms of 
the amount of meeting time available. If the Committee agrees to add additional 
item(s) because they are urgent and high priority, Members will need to consider 

Page 177

Agenda Item 12



which medium/low priority item(s) should be removed in order to create sufficient 
capacity for the new item(s). 

 
5. The next meeting 
 
5.1 The following reports are scheduled for the meeting on 30 November 2017: 
 

Agenda item Review type Link to Corporate Priority Priority 
 

Social prescribing in-
depth review evidence 
session 

In-depth review Active, healthy citizens Medium 

Integration review update Standard item Active, healthy citizens Medium 

CQC update on care 
homes 

Standard item Active, healthy citizens High 

CQC inspections of SLaM Standard item Active, healthy citizens Medium 

Leisure centre contract Standard item Active, healthy citizens High 

Transition from children's 
to adult social care 

Standard item Active, healthy citizens High 

 
5.2 The Committee is asked to specify the information and analysis it would like to see 

in the reports for these items, based on the outcomes the Committee would like to 
achieve, so that officers are clear about what they need to provide for the next 
meeting. 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 

There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 

7. Legal Implications 
 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year. 

 
8. Equalities Implications 
 
8.1 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 

Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing 
the separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came 
into force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 

Page 178



disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

8.2 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
8.3 There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme and 

all activities undertaken by the Select Committee will need to give due consideration 
to this. 
 

9. Date of next meeting 
 
The date of the next meeting is Thursday 30 November 2017. 
 
Background Documents 

 
Lewisham Council’s Constitution 

 
Centre for Public Scrutiny: the Good Scrutiny Guide 

 

Page 179



Appendix A 
 

 

 

Page 180



Work item Type of item Priority
Strategic 

priority

Delivery 

deadline
25-Apr 13-Jun 20-Jul 07-Sep 01-Nov 30-Nov 24-Jan 06-Mar

Lewisham future programme Standard item High CP9 Ongoing

Sustainability and transformation plan Standard item Medium CP9 Apr

Confirmation of Chair and Vice Chair Constitutional req High CP9 Apr

Select Committee work programme 2017/18 Constitutional req High CP9 Apr

CCG update on primary care changes Standard item Medium CP10 Apr

In-depth review In-depth review Performance monitoringCP9 Jan Scope Evidence session Evidence session Report

SLaM quality account Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Jun

Neighbourhood care networks update Standard item Medium CP9 Jun

Adult Safeguarding Board introduction Performance monitoring High CP9 Jul

Grove Park Health Centre Standard item High CP10 Jul

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust Quality Account Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Jul

CCG review of access to urgent care Standard item High CP10 Jul

Information item: notes of meeting with GST Standard item Medium CP9 Jul

Information item: Developing Lewisham's Adult Social Care 

On-line Activity
Standard item Medium CP9 Jul

Healthwatch annual report Standard item Medium CP9 Sep

Healthwatch hospital discharge report Standard item Medium CP9 Sep

CQC inspection of Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust Performance monitoring Performance monitoringCP9 Nov

Lewisham hospital update (systems resilience) Standard item High CP9 Nov

Waldron walk-in centre – consultation update Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Nov

Consultation on daycare meals Standard item High CP9 Nov

Adult social care charging framework Standard item High CP9 Nov

Changes to the Linkline Community Alarm Service Standard item High CP9 Nov

Public health annual report Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Nov

Integration review update Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Nov

CQC update on care homes Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Nov

CQC inspections of SLaM Performance monitoring High CP9 Nov

Leisure centre contract Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Nov

Transition from children's to adult social care Standard item Medium CP9 Nov

Adult safeguarding Performance monitoring High CP9 Jan

Adult learning Lewisham annual report Performance monitoring Medium CP9 Jan

Delivery of the Lewisham Health & Wellbeing priorities Performance monitoring High CP9 Mar

Item completed

Item on-going 1) Tuesday 25 April 5) Wednesday

Item outstanding 2) Tuesday 13 June 6) Thursday

Proposed timeframe 3) Thursday 20 July 7) Wednesday

Item added 4) Tuesday 12 September 8) Tuesday

24 January

6 March

Healthier Communities Select Committee work programme 2017/18 Programme of work

Meetings

01 November

30 November

P
age 181



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
  

 
 

 

  
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

 

   
 

Forward Plan November 2017 - February 2018 
 
 
This Forward Plan sets out the key decisions the Council expects to take during the next four months.  
 
Anyone wishing to make representations on a decision should submit them in writing as soon as possible to the relevant contact officer (shown as number (7) in 
the key overleaf). Any representations made less than 3 days before the meeting should be sent to Kevin Flaherty, the Local Democracy Officer, at the Council 
Offices or kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk. However the deadline will be 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

September 2017 
 

Business Rates - London 
pooling 
 

25/10/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

August 2017 
 

Discretionary Business Rates 
Scheme 2017/2018 Revaluation 
Support 
 

25/10/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 

 
  

 

A “key decision”* means an executive decision which is likely to: 
 
(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 

decision relates; 
 

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards. 

 
 

P
age 183



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

August 2017 
 

Lewisham Homes Business 
Plan 
 

25/10/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

August 2017 
 

Introduction of a new Public 
Space Protection Order 
 

25/10/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Janet Daby, 
Cabinet Member 
Community Safety 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Addition to Lewisham's Local 
List - No.7&8 Bell Green 
Gasholders 
 

25/10/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Extension of Existing contract 
plus contract variation for the 
delivery of day services at the 
Calabash Centre 
 

25/10/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Single Tender Action for Warm 
Homes Fund 
 

07/11/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 

 
  

 

P
age 184



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

March 2017 
 

Achilles Street Regeneration 
Proposals 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

May 2017 
 

Transfer of the Applications 
Support Function to the LB 
Brent Shared Service 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

June 2017 
 

Joint Strategic Depot Review 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Adoption of Lewisham Cycling 
Strategy 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

June 2017 
 

New Precision Manufactured 
Homes: Edward Street 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 Precision Manufactured Homes 15/11/17 Kevin Sheehan,   

P
age 185



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 and GLA Innovation Fund 
Update 
 

Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

  

 
 

Update on Fire Safety in 
Lewisham 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

August 2017 
 

Fostering Strategy 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

June 2017 
 

Gypsy and Traveller Local Plan 
Update 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

June 2017 
 

Ladywell Playtower: selecting a 
restoration partner 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Lewisham Poverty 
Commission 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 

 
  

 

P
age 186



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Councillor Joe Dromey, 
Cabinet Member Policy & 
Performance 
 

 
 

New Homes Programme 
Update Parts 1&2 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Consultation on removal of 
subsidies for Day Care meals 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

August 2017 
 

Response to Consultation 
regarding changes to Targeted 
Short Breaks Provision 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Cutting Energy Costs through 
new local energy supply 
models 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Wide Horizons refinancing 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 

 
  

 P
age 187



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
 

Disposal of the former Saville 
Centre 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Main Grants Programme 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Contract Award and Approval 
to Proceed with 1 FE 
expansion at Ashmead School 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

 
 

School Kitchen Facilities 
Maintenance 
 

15/11/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 Business Rates - London 22/11/17 Janet Senior, Executive   

P
age 188



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Pooling 
 

Council 
 

Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

  

September 2017 
 

Financial Regulations and 
Directorate Schemes of 
Delegation 
 

22/11/17 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

May 2017 
 

Report of the Barriers to 
Participation Working Party 
 

22/11/17 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Suzannah 
Clarke, Chair Planning 
Committee C 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

LGO finding against the 
Council 
 

22/11/17 
Council 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Lewisham Poverty 
Commission 
 

22/11/17 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Joe Dromey, 
Cabinet Member Policy & 
Performance 
 

 
  

 

 Appointment Process for a 22/11/17 Adam Bowles, Head of   

P
age 189



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Chief Executive 
 

Council 
 

OD & HR and Councillor 
Alan Hall, Chair of 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

  

 
 

Northgate Contract Extension 
 

28/11/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Review of Implementation of 
the Armed Forces Community 
Covenant 
 

06/12/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Financial Monitoring 2017/18 
 

06/12/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

May 2017 
 

Lewisham Future Programme 
2018/19 Revenue Budget 
Savings 
 

06/12/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

School Deficits 
 

06/12/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 

 
  

 

P
age 190



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

September 2017 
 

Brownfield Land Register 
 

06/12/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Planning Service Annual 
Monitoring Report 2016-17 
 

06/12/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Contract Awards for Support 
Services for Young People with 
Housing and Support Needs 
 

06/12/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Contract Extension for Shared 
Care Adult Substance Misuse 
Services 
 

06/12/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Janet Daby, 
Cabinet Member 
Community Safety 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Contract Extension Provision 
of Homecare Services (Lead 
Provider) 
 

06/12/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 

 
  

 

P
age 191



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

August 2017 
 

School Improvement 
Partnership 
 

10/01/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Council Tax Base 
 

10/01/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Schools Minor Works 
Programme 
 

10/01/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

April 2017 
 

Proposed revision to the 
contract structure of the 
Downham Health & Leisure 
Centre PFI 
 

10/01/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Council Tax Base 
 

17/01/18 
Council 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 

 
  

 P
age 192



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

June 2017 
 

Deptford Lounge & Tidemill 
Academy Facilities 
Management and Centre 
Management Contract Award 
 

07/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Update on Fire Safety in 
Lewisham 
 

28/02/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

September 2017 
 

Agreed Syllabus Review and 
Syllabus Launch 
 

21/03/18 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

P
age 193



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

      

      

P
age 194


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2017
	2 Declarations of interest
	5 CQC inspection of Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust
	05 LGT CQC Report - 011117

	8 Consultation on daycare meals
	9 Adult social care charging framework
	09 Appendix A, draft charging framework - 011117
	09 Appendix B, ASC charges consultation pack - 011117
	09 Appendix, Ways to Pay - 011117
	09 Feedback from Lewisham People's Parliament - 011117

	10 Changes to the Linkline Community Alarm Service
	10 Appendix 1, Linkline Consultation - 011117

	11 Public health annual report
	12 Select Committee work programme
	12 Appendix B - work programme - 011117
	12 Key Decision Plan - 011117


